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IN THE PRIVY COUNCIL No. 40 of 1959 

10 

ON APPEAL 
FROM THE COURT OP APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 

AT NAIROBI 

B E T V/ E E N : 

ROSETTA COOPER (Plaintiff) 
- and -

1. GERALD NEVILL 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL 

ASSOCIATION (Defendants) 

Appellant 

Respondents 

RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

No. 1 
PARTICULARS OF CLAIM 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OF KENYA AT NAIROBI 
CIVIL CASE NO. 808 OF 1957. 

L.Q.T. COOPER 
MRS. R. COOPER 

versus 
G. NEVILLE 

20 KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL 
ASSOCIATION 

FIRST PLAINTIFF 
SECOND PLAINTIFF 

FIRST DEFENDANT 
SECOND DEFENDANT 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 

of 
No .1 

Particulars 
Claim, 
29th June 195 7 

P L A I N T . 
1. The First Plaintiff resides at Limuru and his 
address for service for the purposes of this suit 
is care of Sirley & Kean, Advocates, Princes' House, 
Government Road, Nairobi. 
2. The Second Plaintiff is the wife of the First 
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In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No.l 

Particulars of 
Claim, 
29th June 1957 
- continued. 

Plaintiff and her address for service for the pur-
poses of this suit is care of Sirley & Kean, Ad-
vocates, Princes' House, Government Road, Nairobi. 
3. The Pirst Defendant is a Surgeon having his 
office at Sirona House, Nairobi, and his address 
for service for the purposes of this suit is care 
of Daly & Piggis, Advocates, Northey Street, Nairobi. 
4. The Second Defendants inter alia manage and 
maintain the Nairobi European Hospital and their 
address for service for the purposes of this suit 
is care of Messrs. Archer & Wilcock, Advocates, 
Mutual Building, Hardinge Street, Nairobi. 
5. On or about the 1st Pebruary 1956 the Pirst 
and Second Plaintiffs retained and employed the 
Pirst Defendant as surgeon for reward to operate 
on the Second Plaintiff for a rupture of an ectopic 
tubal pregnancy. 
6. The said operation was performed at the said 
Nairobi European Hospital. The Pirst Defendant 
was assisted by a Nurse or Nurses the servant or 
servants or agent or agents of the Second Defen-
dant . 

10 

20 

7. By reason of the negligence of the Pirst De-
fendant and by reason of the negligence of the 
said servant or servants or agent or agents of the 
Second Defendant or alternatively by the negligence 
of one or other or others of them a abdominal swab 
was left in the body of the Second Plaintiff. 

PARTICULARS OP NEGLIGENCE OP PIRST DEPENDANT 
Railing to count the number of swabs used in the 30 
operation and to check that the correct number of 
swabs was removed from the body of the Second Plain-
tiff; failing to instruct the said Nurse or Nurses 
to keep a check on the number of swabs used and/or 
failure to personally counter-check the number of 
swabs, failure to observe that one swab remained in 
the body of the Second Plaintiff. 

PARTICULARS OP THE NEGLIGENCE OP THE AGENT OR 
AGENTS OR SERVANT OR SERVANTS OP SECONDD DEPENDANT 

Pailure to count the number of swabs used in the 40 
said operation; failing to detect that one swab had 
not been removed in accordance with instructions 
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given by 'the First Defendant or in accordance with 
usual practice. 
8. By reason of the negligence aforesaid the 
Second Plaintiff has suffered great pain and per-
manent injury and the First and Second Plaintiffs 
have incurred great loss and expense for medical 
and surgical attendance and otherwise. 

PARTICULARS OF PAIN M P SUFFERING OF 
SECOND PLAINTIFF 

10 Pain and suffering for nine months after the date of 
the said operation; and pain and suffering in the 
course of and as a result of an operation on 29th 
October 1956 to remove the said swab, including 
forty six days spent in hospital in connection with 
removal of the said swab; further pain and suffer-
ing up to the date of filing this action and pos-
sibility of future pain and suffering. 

PARTICULARS OF INJURIES OF SECOND PLAINTIFF 
Removal of six feet of intestine; abscess as a re-

20 suit of the said swab; sinus from the wound; gene-
rally undesirable effect from the point of view of 
the future life of the Second Plaintiff of having 
had one third of the small intestine removed. 

By reason of the premises the First Plaintiff 
lost the society and service of the Second Plain-
tiff for the period hereinbefore mentioned and was 
put to the expense hereinafter mentioned. 
PARTICULARS OF EXPENSE M P LOSS OF BOTH PLAINTIFFS 
Contained in the statement marked "A" annexed hereto. 

30 10. The cause of action is within the jurisdiction 
of this Honourable Court. 

WHEREFORE the FIRST PLAINTIFF claims against 
the Defendants or one or other of them: 
Damages for loss of consortium. 
WHEREFORE the SECOND PLAINTIFF claims against 
the Defendants or one or other of them: 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No. 1 

Particulars of 
Claim, 
29th June 1957 
- continued. 

Damages for pain and suffering and injuries. 
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In. the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No .1 

Particulars of 
Claim, 
29th June 1957 
- continued. 

YfflEREFORE BOTH PLAINTIFFS claim against the 
Defendants or one or other of them: 

1. Shs.10,858/05 special damages. 
2. Interest at Court rates. 
3. Costs of this suit and in the event of one 

Defendant being found not liable costs of 
the Defendant so found not liable to be paid 
by the Defendant found liable. 

DATED at NAIROBI this 29th day of June 1957, 
(Sgd) L. Kean 
SIRLEY & KEAN 

Advocates for the Plaintiffs. 
10 

PARTICULARS OF EXPENSE 

11 
IT 

I! 
II 
II 
II 

lst February 1956 Paid to 11 11 it 11 
21st February 1956 
26th February 1956 
31st March 1956 
24th April 1956 
27th April 1956 
8th May 1956 
10th May 1956 
26th June 1956 

July 1956 
9th October 1956 
15th August 1956• 
13th September-1956 
3rd December 1956 
13th December 1956 
3rd December 1956 
6th November 1956 
22nd January 1957 
29th January 1957 
31st January 1957 
15th February 1957 
25th February 1957 
11th March 1957 

Joseph Shs. 
Gillespie 
European Hospital 
Lowes 
Spiers 
Hopkirk 
Preston 
Maia Carberry 
Nursing Home 
Dr. Nevill 
Dr. Nevill 
Laylord 
Dr. Nevill 
Lewison 
Thompson 
European Hospital 
European Hospital 
Thompson 
European Hospital 
Dr. Carman 

Hopkirk 
Thompson 
Barber 
Thompson 
•atory of 

Dr. 
Dr. 
Dr. 
Dr. 
Lab 01 
Clinical Medicine 310.00 

Shs. 9458.05 40 

80.00 
100.00 
873.75 
200.00 
105.00 
80.00 
210.00 
80.05 
510.00 
600.00 
694.50 
900.00 
105.00 
195.00 
1226.75 
405.00 
550.00 
15.00 

300.00 
180.00 
30.00 

1663.00 
45.00 

20 

30 

PARTICULARS OF LOSS . . 
Loss of profit from poultry farm Shs. 1400.00 
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No. 2 
PARTICULARS OF DEFENCE OP THE FIRST DEFENDANT 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OP KENYA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL CASE NO. 808 OP 1957 
L.Q.T. COOPER 
MRS. R. COOPER 

versus 
G. NEVILL 

10 KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL 
ASSOCIATION 

PIRST PLAINTIFF 
SECOND PLAINTIFF 

FIRST DEPENDANT 
SECOND DEFENDANT 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

at Nairobi 
Eastern Africa 

No. 2 
Particulars of 
Defence of the 
First 
Defendant, . 
27th July 1957 

DEFENCE OF THE FIRST DEFENDANT 
1. Paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 5 and 6 of the Plaint are 
admitted. 
2. The First Defendant denies that he was negli-
gent as alleged or at all. 
3. The First Defendant does not admit that any 
swab was left in the body of the Second Plaintiff 
as alleged or at all. 

20 4. The alleged injuries, loss and damage are not 
admitted. 
5. Save as is expressly admitted herein, the 
First Defendant denies each and every allegation 
contained in the Plaint as though the same were set 
out herein and traversed seriatim. 

WHEREFORE the First Defendant prays that this 
suit be dismissed with costs. 
DATED at NAIROBI this 27th day of July 1957. 

(Sgd) A.E. HUNTER 
30 for DALY & FIGGIS 

Advocates for the First Defendant. 
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In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 

at Nairobi 
Eastern Africa 

No. 3 
Particulars of 
Defence of the 
Second 
•Defendant, 
29th July 1957 

No. 3 
PARTICULARS OP DEFENCE OP THE SECOND DEPENDANT 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OF KENYA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL CASE NO. 808 OF 1957 
L.Q.T. COOPER 
MRS. R. COOPER * • « • 

versus 
G. NEVILL 
KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL 
ASSOCIATION 

FIRST PLAINTIFF 
SECOND PLAINTIFF 

FIRST DEFENDANT 
SECOND DEFENDANT 

10 

DEFENCE OF THE SECOND DEFENDANT 
1. Paragraphs 1, 2, 4-, 5 and 6 of the Plaint are 
admitted. 
2. The Second Defendant denies that the Associ-
ation was negligent as alleged in the Plaint or at 
all. 
3. The Second Defendant denies that any mopping-
Swab was left in the body of the Second•Plaintiff 
as alleged in paragraph 7.of the Plaint, or at all. 20 
4. The alleged injuries, loss and damages are not 
admitted. 
5. Save as is expressly admitted herein the Second 
Defendant denies each and every allegation contained 
in the Plaint as though the same were set out herein 
and traversed seriatim. 
WHEREFORE the Second Defendant prays that this suit 
be dismissed with costs, . 
DATED AT NAIROBI THIS 29TH DAY OF JULY, 1957. 

ARCHER & WILCOCK 30 
Advocates for the Second Defendant. 

Copy to: 
MESSRS. SIRLEY & KEAN, 
Advocates for the Plaintiffs, 
Princes House, 
Government Road, Nairobi. 
MESSRS. DALY & FIGGIS, 
Advocates for the First Defendant, 
Northey Street, Nairobi. 
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No. 4 
NOTICE OF AMEND,IENT TO PARTICULARS 

OF CLAIM 

SIRIEY & KEAN. 
ADVOCATES 

Ref: BS/2424. 
Messrs. Archer & Wilcock, 
Advocates, 
NAIROBI. 

10 Messrs. Daly & Figgis, 
Advocates, 
NAIROBI. 

Princes House, 
Government Road, 

NAIROBI, 
16th January 1958. 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No. 4 

Notice of 
Amendment to 
Particulars of 
Claim, 
16th January 
1958 

20 

Dear Sirs, 
Re S.C.C.C. No. 808 of 1957 
L.Q.T. Cooper & Mrs. R. Cooper 
vs. G. Neville & Kenya European 

Hospital Association. 
We write to advise you that at the hearing of 

this case, we shall apply to delete the word "mop-
ping" before the word "swab" in Paragraph 7 of the 
Plaint. 

In order to clarify the matter, we would add 
that from our instructions, it appears that a swab 
used either for packing or mopping was left in the 
body of the second Plaintiff. 

Yours faithfully, 
for SIBLEY & KEAN 
(Sgd) L. Kean. 

30 
No. 5 

NOTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
15th July 1957 
2nd Defendant, Kenya European Hospital Association, 
appears by Messrs. Archer & Wilcock, Advocates, 
Nairobi. 

J. Chambers Dy. Registrar. 

No. 5 
Notes of 
Proceedings, 
15th July 1957 

to 
27th January 
1958 



•In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No.5 

Notes of 
Proceedings, 
15th July 1957 

to 
27th January 
1958 -
continued. 

i 

8. 

16th July 1957 
Defendant No. 1 G. Neville, appears by Messrs.Daly 
& Piggis, Advocates, Nairobi. 

J. Chambers 
Dy. Registrar. 

29th July 1957 
Defence of 2nd Defendants filed by Messrs. Archer 
& Wilcock, Advocates, Nairobi. 

J. Chambers 
Dy. Registrar. 10 

30th July 1957 
Defence of 1st Defendant filed by Messrs. Daly & 
Piggis, Advocates, Nairobi. 

J. Chambers 
Dy. Registrar. 

16th August 1957 
Bhan Singh for Messrs. Sirley &.Kean - Plaintiffs. 
H.P. Dave for Archer & Wilcock - 2nd Defendant. 
Bhan Singh: Daly & Piggis represent 1st Defendant 
- duly warned but not present. Order 9 rule 9(l). 20 
By Consent of Sirley & Kean and Archer and Wilcock 
hearing fixed for 27, 28 and 29 January, 1958, 
10.30. Notice to be served on Daly & Piggis on 
payment of fees. 

J. Chambers 
By. Registrar. 

13th December 1957 
Call over. 
Kean. Kalsi. Three days. Case to stay in the list. 30 

J. Chambers 
Dy. Registrar. 

20th January 1958 
Call over. 
Mrs. Kean. 
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Hunt or also representing Archer & Wilcock. Case 
fixed for 17.1.58 - hut will he heard if a Judge 
is available to hear it. 

B.R. Miles, Judge. 
27th January 1958 
Coram Miles J. 
Mrs. Kean for Plaintiffs. 
C.W. Salter Q.C. and Hunter for 1st defendant. 
Pl.D. Wilcook for 2nd defendant. 

10 Mrs. ICean opens: 
At an operation a swab left inside body of 2nd 

plaintiff. Plaintiffs alleged this due to negli-
gence of 1st defendant or similarly of 2nd defen-
dants or partly of both. 
Law. No law. Each oase on own facts. Urry v. 
Bierer and others. Times 16.3.55-
Duty of nurse. Maitland p.86. Surgeon should have 
detected that one swab not accounted for. Small 
number. He should have counted in this case. I ask 

20 leave to amend plaint by deletion of "mopping" in 
para. 7. 
Salter. Defendants should know number of swabs left. 
Two kinds of swab, (l) gauze, (2) packing swab. It 
would be of assistance if plaintiff told us what 
kind of swab left in body. 
KGan. Each hospital has own system. Two kinds 
of swab, (l) abdominal, normally used for packing. 
Tjrpes vary. May be used for mopping if unusual 
amount of mopping; (2) mopping swab - much smaller. 

30 Particular swab was an abdominal swab. I ask for 
"abdominal" to be obliterated. 
Salter. If it is clear that this is a type•of swab 
which might be used for mopping or swabbing, I have 
no objection to amendment. 
Order. Plaint amended by substitution of "abdomi-
nal" for mopping in paragraph 7. 
Kean. 2nd plaintiff discharged from hospital. Un-
well for considerable period. Defence is - Surgeon 
- acute attack - sent to Maia Carberry Nursing Home 

40 from 5th to 7th May 1956. Cause not diagnosed. On 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No. 5 

Notes of 
Proceedings, 
15th July 1957 

to 
27th January 
1958 -
continued. 
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In the Supreme 
Oourt of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No. 5 

Notes of 
Proceedings, 
15th July 1957 

to 
27th January 
1958 -
c ontinue d. 

28,10.56 plaintiff became seriously ill. Admitted 
to New European Hospital. Great pain 3 or 4 days. 
Cause not diagnosed. Operation by Mr. Barber. 
6 - 8 feet of small intestine removed. Pound ob-
struction was a swab. Major operation. Mortal 
danger to plaintiff - 46 days in hospital. Pro-
pose to call medical evidence first. Mr. Barber 
has to operate to-morrow. Also other doctors are 
busy, l'his will assist development of plaintiff's 
case. 10 
No objection by Salter or-Wileock. 
Issues. I frame issues as follows: 

(1) Whether a swab was left in the body of 
the 2nd plaintiff in the course of the 
operation performed by the 1st defendant. 

(2) If so, was that fact due to negligence 
on the part of the 1st defendant. 

(3) If a swab was left in the body of the 
2nd plaintiff, was this due to negli-
gence on the part of the 2nd defendant. 20 

(4) Was there negligence on the part of both 
defendants. 

(5) To what damages (if any) are the plain-
tiffs or either of them entitled. 

JPlaintiffs' 
Evidence. 

No.6 
W.C. Barber 
Examination, 

No. 6 
EVIDENCE OP WILFRED CARLISLE BARBER 

P.W.I - WILFRED CARLISLE BARBER, Christian sworn: 
Examined Mrs. Kean. I practise as a consulting 
surgeon. " I am a Bachelor of Medicine and Surgery 
of Cambridge University and a Fellow of the Royal 
College of Surgeons of England. 1 have had my 
fellowship for-23 years. I performed an operation 
on Mrs. Cooper, the 2nd plaintiff, on the 1st Nov-
ember 1956. Mrs. Cooper was suffering from intes-
tinal obstruction. On opening the abdomen I found 
an abscess cavity centrally situated surrounded by 
ahderent coils of small intestines. There was a 
localised peritonitis. This means inflammation of 

30 
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the lining of the abdominal cavity. I tried to 
determine which portion of the adherent intestine 
might he causing the obstruction, and I endeavoured 
to separate one or more of the adherent coils, but 
I found in doing this that it resulted in leakage 
of the bowel content and as there were so many 
adherent areas, I decided that the safest plan 
would bo to remove the whole of the affected por-
tion of the bowel. Afterwards I measured it; it 

10 was approximately 7 feet. I felt something in 
the piece of bowel I removed. I handed it to 
others who took it outside the theatre and who sub-
sequently informed me what they found. I handed 
the piece of bowel tc Dr. Thompson and the theatre 
sister, Sister Banks. It was an abdominal pack 
or swab. I looked at it, saw it was stained with 
bowel contents. I couldn't say if it had a tape 
or not. I didn't measure it, but think it would 
be about 9 inches by 7 inches. They are not stan-

20 dard sizes. They vary 2 or 3 inches each way. 
That is roughly the average size used generally. 
The general size is used in the European hospital 
here, for abdominal packing or mopping. The pack 
was made of something that looked like Turkish 
towelling. That is the usual material used for 
packs of that type at the European hospital. I 
saw it in Dr. Thompson's hand as a soft lump of 
material, not spread out. I think it was the 
definite final cause of the obstruction and of the 

30 abscess. localised peritonitis is the same as an 
abscess in the peritoneal cavity. The adhesions 
were caused by inflammation of the.loops of the 
intestines. That•inflammation, it would be rea-
sonable to suppose, was set up by the presence of 
a foreign body. Mrs. Cooper was suffering from an 
intestinal obstruction-which had become acute and 
which, unless relieved, would inevitably cause 
death. It would be a question of days. The oper-
ation I performed was definitely a major operation. 

40 There were risks to Mrs. Cooper's life and health 
attaching to the operation. There was the risk of 
general peritonitis. It made the outlook much 
more serious, though not necessarily fatal. There 
was the risk of leakage from the intestine where 
it had been joined together. It might lead in it-
self either to peritonitis or the formation of a 
track discharging somewhere on the surface of the 
body, a fistula or sinus. The fistula would pro-
long the convalescence. There is a mortality rate 

50 in all major operations. Various complications can 
follow a major abdominal operation, e.g. chest 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
Plaintiffs' 
Evidence. 

No. 6 
V/.C. Barber 
Examination 
continued. 
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In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
Plaintiffs' 
Evidence. 

No.6 
W.C. Barber -
•Examination -
continued. 

complications and formation of clots in blood ves-
sels. This was not a "clean" operation because 
there was peritonitis. I can't remember the 
exact number of days Mrs. Cooper spent in hospital 
as a result of this operation. It was 5 or 6 . 
weeks. I was attending her continuously until 
she left hospital. She certainly had a great deal 
of pain in the few days immediately following the 
operation. She developed a fistula which required 
additional treatment. She developed an abscess in 10 
the pelvis which resolved without surgical inter-
vention. The fistula was treated by a "sucker" 
and creams to protect the surrounding skin. It 
eventually closed itself before she left hospital 
but she had a discharging sinus from where a drain-
age tube had been left in. It closed and broke 
down again I believe but did not see it except 
just after Mrs. Cooper left hospital. I don't know 
that she has any adhesions now at all. Adhesions 
are a common cause of intestinal obstruction. I 20 
can't rule out adhesions developing. The vast 
majority of abdominal operations do not result in 
the development of adhesions but there is always 
the possibility in any abdominal operation. There 
are approximately 22 feet of small intestine. I 
would say that she has probably got sufficient for 
normal digestive purposes but the amount lost is 
about the borderline amount which might lead to 
ill-effeots. If further trouble developed I think 
that if she lost more than a third it would have 30 
some effect on her digestive ability. I think a 
patient might manage with half the length of small 
intestine with little or no digestive disturbances 
but they would probably have more frequent bowel 
action than normally. I know the patient's pre-
vious history of operations and I thought it very 
likely that the husband would ask me what the cause 
of the condition had been. I rang up Mr. Nevill 
and explained what I had found to him, and said 
that if I were asked what the cause of the trouble 4-0 
had been I would have to inform the relative, the 
husband. Mr. Nevill agreed that this was the 
correct method of procedure. I knew she had had 
an operation performed on her by Mr. Nevill for 
the rupture of an ectopic tubal pregnancy. I was 
aware that a previous operation had been performed 
on Mrs. Cooper by Mr. Preston. I was informed of 
its nature. I understood it to be the re-implan-
tation of the ends of the Eallopian tubes and 
uterus and the insertion of polythene tubing. I 50 
contacted Mr. Nevill because the last operation 
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tho plaintiff had had was about 10 months previous-
ly and during that time I had received some infor-
mation. I thought it likely that this swab was 
left in at the previous operation. If a swab of 
this type was left in a-patient, in the few cases 
I have seen in 20 years, symptoms have usually 
developed in a few months or even weeks. 
Q. Assuming Mr. Preston's operation was carried 
out in February 1955 and further that from the 

10 period February 1955 until Mr. Nevill's operation 
on 1st February 1956 Mrs. Cooper had no symptoms 
of any foreign body having been left inside her, 
does that or does it not for all practicable pur-
poses, rule out the possibility of the swab'having 
been loft in in the operation of February 1955? 
A. I cannot say with absolute certainty that that 
would indicate that the swab was left in at the 
second operation, but I think it very likely that 
it was. 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
Plaintiffs' 
Evidence. 

No.6 
W.C. Barber 
Examination 
continued. 

20 In the European Hospital provided the theatre 
is not in use, I have operated there on many oc-
casions on half an hour's notice. The instruments 
have to be sterilized, the trolleys set out, the 
materials for sewing and tying, the swabs and packs 
set out. In my experience half an hour is suffic-
ient for that. The instruments are kept partly on 
a wheeled trolley and partly in an oven - tapes on 
the patient's legs in an abdominal case or on the 
patient's lower abdomen or other surface in the 

30 course of the operation. The bed is a great deal . 
wider than the operating table. . There is a greater 
area to be covered with towels and it would make it 
a good deal more difficult for everybody concerned 
because (1) one is stooping, which is tiring, (2) 
the patient is further away from you. Those are 
the main disadvantages. The instruments and swabs 
would be on the tables and trolleys as usual. Ab-
dominal packs are inserted into the abdominal cavity 
for the purpose of exposing the particular place 

40 upon which the surgeon wishes to operate by keeping 
other obstructions out of the operating field. They 
are also used when there is a great deal of blood 
or other fluid which has to be removed from the ab-
dominal cavity. Those are the two main uses. If 
used for the second purpose they would be used for 
the function of mopping or swabbing. One would re-
tain it in one's hand. In packing proper for the 
first purpose depending on the size, I myself if 
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wanting to expose the uterus, would use anything 
between one and three. These packing swabs would 
be placed by the surgeon himself in the body of 
the patient. In the European Hospital by my own 
observation and knowledge', when the theatre is 
being prepared for an operation case a qualified 
member of the theatre staff, but not as a rule one 
who is going to take the case, prepares the trol-
leys and places on them bundles of swabs and packs 
from sterile drums. Before the operation, commen- 10 
ces the sister who is taking the case breaks the 
stitches in the bundles of swabs and counts them. 
The large abdominal packs are usually put in bun-
dles of three. The small gauze swabs in bundles 
of 10 or 12. It varies with different theatre 
sisters. I can't say from memory what size they 
use in the European Hospital. If further packs or 
swabs are required during the course of the opera-
tion the contents of the bundle are again checked 
by the sister before she starts giving them to the 20 
surgeon. All swabs and packs as they are dis-
carded are laid out individually in rows on the 
floor of the theatre where the sister can see them 
and count them. At the end of the operation•and 
before the closure of the wound is commenced, the 
sister will either inform the surgeon that the 
count is correct, or the surgeon, if she has not. 
done so, will ask her if the numbers are correct. 
This check applies to every swab taken into the 
original count whether it has been used or not. It 30 
is known to surgeons that in the case of an abdomi-. 
nal operation there is a risk of a swab being over-
looked by being unaccounted for by being left in 
the body. If I leave a pack in the abdominal 
cavity I fasten an artery forceps to the tape which 
is at the corner of the pack or if there is no 

. tape I fasten an artery forcep to the corner of the 
pack itself. At the European Hospital the packs 
are used with tapes. It is my routine when I use 
abdominal paoks. It maybe that the sister hands 40 
it to me with a forcep attached hut usually I clip 
it to the forcep myself. Alternatively I may hold 
up the tape and the sister clips it on for me. 
This is the same as a "Spencer Wells Artery forcep". 
The smaller ones are about 5" long; they look like 
scissors with ring handles and jaws. The looking 
catch is a ratchet with two or three teeth. The 
tapes with the artery forcep on the end hangs out-
side the wound on the patient's body surface. If 
there were no tape one would leave a corner of the 50 
pack sticking out of the wound. If I were using 
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a swab for mopping I would not attach a forceps. 
I would keep it in my hand and hand it to the 
sister or throw it on the floor after use. I have 
never come across the practice that the sister 
herself is responsible for fastening a forceps on 
the swab. If I were using the swab for mopping 
the forceps would get in the way. A mopping swab 
would not leave my hand until I decided to use it 
as a packing swab, in which case I would attach an 
artery forcep. You get hold of the nearest piece 
that presents itself to extract the swab and gently 
ease the whole thing out. I usually grasp the 
pack itself and not the tape. If I have put in 
packs in an abdomen I do a mental count of the 
packs when I insert them. I keep the mental count 
in my mind and I expect to find the same number 
when I remove them at the end of the operation. I 
think if one Icnows in a big operation that one has 
used a number of packs I do sub-consciously feel 
round the area in which I have been working but I 
can't say that this is a conscious search. I do 
this because I might be afraid I might leave one 
behind. This feeling takes a second or two. I 
do not make a general search of the whole abdomen 
for packs. It might take half a minute to do that. 
Packs always move in the course of an operation 
further from the original manipulations and partly 
as the result of movements of the intestine brought 
about by the patient's breathing. This happens in 
every case. The count carried out by the sister 
is fallible. This is well known to surgeons. A 
Spencer Vfells has disappeared inside the abdominal 
cavity too. I think that every surgeon knows that 
there have been cases on record of an instrument 
being left in the abdominal cavity. I can't recall 
a clip being-detached from the tape. The packs are 
made I think, by the members of the theatre staff 
or supervised by them. The checking of the instru-
ments is done by the qualified nursing staff in 
the theatre. When the swab was discovered Sister 
Banks was most upset. My operation was done at 
the Nairobi European Hospital. I don't know how 
much blood there was in Mr. Nevill's operation so 
I could not estimate how many swabs would be needed 
for mopping. Some hospitals use racks with little 
hooks and put swabs on that. A surgeon always 
takes out the swabs which he has placed in the 
wound except that if he is working with an assis-
tant, other than a sister, the assistant might pull 
one out. The assistant might be qualified or a 
theatre sister or a medical student. Sometimes 
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By Court. 

Cross-
Exam ination, 

one has to finish an operation as rapidly as pos-
sible because of the patient's condition. If the 
patient's condition was not critical and one to 
three swabs were being used, I would withdraw the 
number of swabs I thought I had put in the ab-
dominal cavity. 
To Court. If there is a lot of fluid or blood 
flowing in the abdominal cavity the large swabs or 
packs are used for mopping. I could not say whether 
the pack which was found was used for mopping or 
packing. 
Adjourned to 2.15 p.m. 
2.15 p.m. 
P.W.I further examined. 

BY COURT. 
To Court. In a very small operation the smaller 
swabs might be used for packing but not in the ab-
dominal cavity. The swab I found was as thick as 
an ordinary bath towel. 

CROSS-EXAMINED. 
Cross-examined Salter. There is a check by the 
person who makes the packs up, secondly by the 
person who puts them in the drum and thirdly by 
the sister who takes the case. They may be placed 
on the trolley by somebody else for her but she 
checks'them. In the European hospital so far as 
I know, the packs have always been put up in bun-
dles of three. All those packs that I have used 
in the European Hospital have a tape attached to 
them. They are laid out on a mackintosh on the 
floor of the theatre when they have been used. 
They are laid out by somebody who has not scrubbed 
up so that the theatre sister can check them. The 
large ones if made up in bundles of three would be 
laid out in threes. The theatre sister sees a bun-
dle come in and counts them. I would agree that 
the system in use at the European Hospital is a 
good one so far as these packs are concerned, I 
have operated when that system was in use on many 
occasions. I place reliance on that system, I 
know Sister Banks. She has been theatre sister 
at the European Hospital for about 3i~ years I think. 
She has carried out those duties when I have been 
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operating myself. I think I can say I haven't 3een 
a more conscientious theatre sister in the time I 
have been doing surgery. I agree entirely that Mr. 
Nevill is a very highly qualified surgeon and of 
considerable ability. I don't think that if the 
surgeon and staff followed the system I have des-
cribed that they could do any more. It is an ac-
cepted accounting system in surgical circles. With 
a surgeon and sister of that experience it is second 
nature to follow that system. I was informed that 
Mrs. Cooper had an operation in February 1955. I 
have been told it was carried out in the Princess 
Elizabeth Hospital. I had done an occasional case 
there in 1955. I cannot recall whether packs there 
always had tabs on. I only operated there perhaps 
once or twice a year. I can't remember whether 
packs are laid out on the floor or on racks there. 
The system of counting in every operation is the 
same. If I were told that on 1st February 1956 Mrs. 
Cooper was pulseless and had to be given pints 
of blood in an hour, I. should say she was as near 
death as anyone could be. One would only operate 
on a patient in a bed if her condition was very 
serious. One would think that the movement would 
be a factor in making her more collapsed than she 
already was. If Mr. Nevill said that there was no 
bleeding or pressure when he made his incision I 
would conclude that the patient was in a very severe 
state of shock or collapse. Four pints of blood 
sucked out from the body into bottles would indicate 
a severe degree of haemorrhage. Two pints of blood 
drawn out by packs is a very large amount indeed. 
I would describe an operation on a patient in this 
condition and in bed as an extremely, difficult and 
hazardous operation. It would reflect a great deal 
of credit on the surgeon and nursing staff if it 
were successful. I think Mrs. Cooper might con-
sider herself fortunate to be alive to-day. It 
would be necessary to use a large number of large 
packs to scoop out this amount of blood. It could 
be as many as 20. The surgeon would be anxious to 
find the source of the bleeding as rapidly as pos-
sible. It is possible that he would have to hold 
the source of the haemorrhage with his left hand 
while using his right to scoop. There would be no 
need to let go the pack with which he was scooping. 
Packs would be used to give the surgeon a clear 
field in which to tackLe the source of the haemorr-
hage. It would be normal for sewing up the uterus 
to use up the three packs. It would be my pro-
cedure to have a tape and a Spencer Wells on these 
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packs. I would expect Mr. Nevill would probably 
memorise the three packs he had placed in, not the 
ones he used for mopping. It does happen that 
the theatre sister informs the surgeon that the 
count is correct before the surgeon asks. Sister 
Banks has done that when I have been operating. 
Invariably the surgeon would ask if the sister did 
not tell him first. There were a series of loops 
of intestine all stuck to each other forming the . 
walls of a cavity. I came to the conclusion that 10 
it would be better to remove that part and join up 
the healthy part. The bowel was distended but as 
I felt it after deciding excision would be safer, 
I felt a thicker mass inside one of the loops of 
the bowel. I handed the specimen out and continued 
with the operation. The part I excised was not 
actually out of the abdomen. Later I felt the ob-
ject. It was after I decided to excise the af-
fected portion. I handed it to somebody standing 
at the side. I can't remember whether it was Br. 20 
Thompson or Sister Banks. I think it was one of 
those two but I am not 100$ certain. Br. Thompson 
was not taking part in the operation but was in 
the theatre. There were the anaesthetist, the 
theatre sister and another sister. I can only 
remember two sisters by number. I don't remember 
the name of the sister taking the case. It might 
have been Sister King. Br. Thompson came back into 
the theatre ana showed me what he had found in the 
specimen. As far as I recollect he brought the 30 
swab into the door of the theatre. I examined it 
afterwards. I have no doubt that it was in the 
bowel. I had no doubt as I passed it out that there 
was a foreign body in the intestine. It was heavily 
stained with bowel content. It was causing intes-
tinal obstruction. It would not have been pos-
sible for it to have passed along the intestine 
from the bowel in which it was lying. I saw it as 
a floppy piece of material in Br. Thompson's hands. 
I saw it flattened out in a dish afterwards. Sister 40 
Banks was in the sluice where the specimen had been 
placed. I looked at the material. I did not pay 
particular attention to it. I came to a conclusion 
about it and gave it no further thought. Eventually 
it was thrown away, not on the day of the operation. 
Sister Banks asked me if I wanted it kept. I said 
"No". I have had experience of metallic foreign 
bodies remaining in the body for an indefinite 
period of time without causing any harm. One often 
uses material such as silk and leaves it inside the 50. 
abdominal cavity for the rest of the patient's life. 
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10 

20 

30 

It depends on the material how long it would take 
to ulccrate. I have never met a case when material 
such as Turkish towelling had remained quiescent 
for a long period. I have no experience of such a 
thing happening. I think it might be possible. I 
think it might be possible for it to remain quies-
cent in the abdominal cavity. It might start caus-
ing irritation if disturbed when it had not caused 
irritation previously. I balanced the situation 
end thought it was the best thing to excise 7 feet 
of intestine. I do attach importance to the loss 
of 1/3 of an organ but I think she can compensate 
with the remaining 2/3 satisfactorily. As far as 
her nutrition is concerned, I think it has been 
satisfactory. That is a reason why she should not 

There is a possibility that her 
thickened. It may be blocked as 
operation that has occurred with-
cavity or any catastrophe. It is 
that as a result of the effects 

become pregnant, 
remaining tube is 
the result of any 
in the peritoneal 
not utter nonsense 
of the 
If a s 
swab the 
nant. I 
before, 
it tempt 

swab 
a re 

being left she cannot become pregnant, 
ult of the peritonitis caused by the 

tube is blocked she cannot become preg-
do not know whether the tube was blocked 
As to whether she should or should not 

to become pregnant, it depends on the psy-
chological of feet on Mrs. Cooper. There was an 
abscess cavity with loops of bowel. Any one of 
those loops could cause obstruction or could be the 
site of obstruction. The portion of the bowel I 
removed was very firmly filled by a mass which I 
think was the pack. 7/hen closing up the wound I 
don't do a general search. It would be harmful in 
certain cases to do this. It is not considered 
necessary in view of the routine practice. It is 
not desirable to handle the organs more than neces-
sary. It is correct that in Mrs. Cooper's condi-
tion at the operation by Mr. Nevill, the sooner the 
wound was closed the better. 
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40 To Court. I don't think Mr. Nevill would have seen 
the pack if it had been left there at the time of 
the operation by Mr. Preston because the abdominal 
cavity contained six pints of blood. It is almost 
certain that it would have been hidden somewhat by 
coils of intestine. I did not see it because it 
was inside the intestine. 
Wilcock stokes that generally he will adopt the 
cross-examination of Salter. 
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in the theatre but not taking part in the opera-
tion. She was not scrubbed up. There was a. 
theatre sister taking the ease. She would be 
scrubbed. I can't remember the reactions of the 
sister in charge when this swab was found. Every-
body was upset. 

RE-EXAMINED. 
Re-Examination. Re-examined. This pack could not have been eva-

cuated through the rectum. The patient may have 
been better but only relatively better. No patient 
who has lost six pints of blood will be "better" 
for two or three days. The sooner an operation 
on a patient in that condition is finished the 
better. The "subconscious feel" would not harm 
the patient. If you felt a pack there you would 
certainly take it out. If you were certain that 
you-had put three packs in and only two had come 
out, you would go on looking till you found the 
other in any circumstances. The loss of seven 
feet in some people might affect their nutrition. : In other cases they might notice no ill-effects 

: whatsoever. I formed the opinion that there was 
an abscess cavity localised centrally in the abdo-
men caused by the pack which was removed from the 
bowel, that loops of bowel had become adherent 
round the abscess cavity and that the pack had ul-
timately ulcerated through into the lumen of the 
intestine. The "conclusion" was that this was a 
pack left in at an operation and that it had been 
the cause of the obstruction for which I operated 
on Mrs. Cooper. 

No.7 No. 7 
G-.C . ̂  Do eke ray - EVIDENCE OP GERALD CECIL DOCKERAY Examinat ion. — —-—; 

P.W.2 GERALD CECIL DOCKERAY, Christian, sworn: 
Examined Mrs. Kean. I am M.D. (Dublin), M.S.So. 
Pellow of Royal College of Physicians, Ireland. I 
am now engaged in pathology. I was Kenya Government 
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Pathologist for five years. I was requested "by 
Mrs. Cooper's legal adviser to have a consultation 
with Dr. Thompson ana Ml'. Barber relating to Mrs. 
Cooper's condition. I had a consultation on 28th 
March 1957. As a result I was acquainted with Mr. 
Preston's, Novill'o end Barber's operations as told 
to me by Dr. Thompson. If a piece of Turkish 
towelling of the size described was left in the 
abdomen of a patient, I have had no personal exper-

10 ience of this, but from my knowledge of the litera-
ture on the subject, I would expect a piece of tow-
elling of that nature to give trouble within a few 
weeks or a few months. In one case I read of it 
was something like nine months. I think it is a 
theoretical possibility that the material could 
have been left in at the time of Mr. Preston's 
operation and not shown any symptoms until the time 
of the operation by Mr. Nevill, but I think it is 
very improbable. It would make the patient feel 

20 depressed possibly or hypochondriacal. People with 
abdominal symptoms tend to be gloomy. As a result 
of the swab operation we don't know what adhesions 
were present or if there were we don't know whether 
they were the result of the ectopic or the 
operation of Mr. Sarber. My personal opinion is 
that her chance of pregnancy even after Mr. Prestonfe 
operation wore very poor indeed. Her tubes must 
have been defective by chronic inflammation. I have 
known the threading of such tubes where the person 

30 got an "ectopic" in one of the tubes and that is 
the sort of thing one would expect. She has only 
one tube now but with any chronic inflammation even 
without an operation there is a chance of an ectopic 
pregnancy. It is harder for the egg to get down 
the tube. As soon as an operation of the type per-
formed on Mrs. Cooper has taken place there is a 
chance of an ectopic pregnancy. 
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40 Salter. I object. This is not pleaded. 
Kean. This goes to general damages. 
Court. I cannot take this into account in asses-
sing damages. 
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A. I have listened to Mr. Barber's evidence on 
the effect of removal of seven feet of intestine 
and am in agreement with what he said. I heard 
Mr. Barber's evidence on Mrs. Cooper's pain and 
suffering and I agree with what Mr. Barber said. 

No. 9 
EVIDENCE OE GERALD CECIL DQCKERAY 

("Continued) 
Cross-examined Salter. I have been in Court; I 
heard most of Mr. Barber's evidence. I am fami-
liar with Van Wyk's case. I reviewed Cordon, 
Turner & Price's Medical Jurisprudence, 3rd Edn. 
(p.139/140). That was a case where no discomfort 
was felt for twelve months. I think there is a 
theoretical possibility that a swab could remain 
in such a position as to cause 110 symptoms for 12 
months. It was a large packing swab in Van Wyk's 
case. If it were disturbed in a second operation 
it could cause trouble. A maximum time could be 
fixed for ulceration, i.e. up to two or three months, 
I don't think you could fix a minimum time. It 
would be quite reasonable to expect a symptom with-
in two or three months of the disturbance. It 
might go on for six months, or longer. It is not 
within my experience that a swab remained without 
causing any symptoms. 

Cross-examined Wilcock. No questions. 
RE-EXAMINED 

10 

20 

Re-Examination. Re-examined. gree with the medical evidence 
that Van Wyk's case was exceptional. I do not 
know of any other case where a swab was left for 
so long a period without causing disturbance. 

30 

Adjourned to 28.1.58 at 10 a.m. 
B.R. Miles, J. 
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No. 10 
28th day of January 1958 

EVIDENCE OP FRANK ACKROYD THOMPSON 
P.W.3 - FRANK ACKRQYD THOMPSON , Christian sworn: 
Examined Mrs, Kean. I am M.R.C.S., L.R.C.P. I 

practising as a doctor for 18 years. Mrs. 
a patient of mine. She has "been under 

In Eebruary 1955 Mrs. 
have boon 
Oooper is 
my care for about 7 years. 
Cooper underwent an operation performed by Mr. 

10 Preston. I was acting as her general medical 
advisor and attendant at this time. It is within 
my knowledge that the two Fallopian tubes were 
blocked. The blocked parts were removed and the 
patent parts of the tubes were reimplanted in the 
uterus. That operation was successful. I con-
tinued to SGG hor from time to time after this 
operation. Hor general health after this was al-
right. An operation was performed on Mrs.Cooper 
by Mr. Nevill on 1st February 1956. Subsequently 

20 to Mr. Navill's operation-Mrs. Cooper came into me 
two to three months later, with an attack of vomit-
ing and abdominal pain. She had been vomiting 
throughout the night and had had a lot of pain. I 
admitted her to the Maia Carberry Nursing Home for 
observation. Within two hours she was completely 
free from symptoms and felt quite well again. On 
clinical examination at that time I could find no 
cause for hor pain. She had visited rne on the 
24th April complaining of abdominal pain which I 

30 thought was due to adhesions at that time. That 
was before the admission to the Nursing Home and 
not the cause of the admission. After her dis-
charge I saw her-on several occasions with regard 
to other matters, but she was complaining of occas-
ional abdominal pain. I thought it was probably 
due to adhesions. I did not pay much attention to 
it. I can't recall what Mrs. Cooper said she 
might be suffering from. Apart from continued 

s of pain nothing further happened, until 
40 her admission to the European Hospital. She had 

a very seveie attack of pain and vomiting. I ad-
mitted her to the European Hospital for observation. 
I cannot recall the date; it was October. An X-
ray on admission showed no evidence of obstruction, 
but 24 hours later an X-ray did in fact show that 
there was an intestinal obstruction. As an opera-
tion was necessary I asked Mr. Barber to come and 
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see Mrs. Cooper. She was operated upon that day. 
I acted as assistant surgeon at the operation. 
The cause of the obstruction was not discovered 
immediately. After the coils of intestine had 
been removed I took them into the sluice with 
Sister Banks and cleaned out the coils by running 
tap water through them and the swab was-washed out 
in the process. We looked at the swab, Sister 
Banks and I. It was Turkish towelling. I did not 
see a tape but I didn't specifically examine it for 10 

I should think it was 10" x 8", something 
k it into Mr. Barber in the 
and I were both exceedingly 
have never seen a case of a 

patient. I em acquainted with the 
the subject. Prom my medical know-

a tape; 
of that nature. We to 
theatre. Sister Banks 
surprised. Happily I 
swab left in a 
literature on 
ledge and from having been Mrs. Cooper's medical 
attendant it 
it, but Mrs. 

is very did 
Cooper was 

:ficult to be dogmatic about 
symptom-free after Mr. 

Preston's operation and only showed symptoms be-
tween two and three months after Mr. Nevill's 
operation and as I was taught that-swabs normally 
produce symptoms within six months, I feel it is 
unlikely that it was left in at the time of Mr. 
Preston's operation, otherwise she would have had 
symptoms earlier. It was obviously Mr. Barber's 
decision to make as to what action was to be taken. 
Subsequent to Mr. Barber's operation she had a small 
sinus which was a small stitch abscess. She did 
at the beginning complain of a fair amount of diar-
rhoea and she has complained of abdominal pain. A 
subsequent X-ray of stomach and intestine was quite 
satisfactory and one presumes that her pains must 
again be due to adhesions. These.pains can go on 
indefinitely. They could do so for the whole of 
her life. I think it was about two months before 
the stitches came out. She had been emotionally 
very upset. I think the attacks of pain were due 
to adhesions that had formed round the swab and 
that the obstruction and the abscess were due to 
the swab having eroded through the intestines. 
She has had an internal examination but you can't 
really form an opinion from that as to whether she 
is capable of having a child. To find out whether 
she has a chance of becoming pregnant would mean her 
going to hospital and having a special investigation 
under an anaesthetic to see whether the remaining 
tube was in fact still patent. I have advised Mrs. 
Cooper not to have it done because I think if she 
did in fact become pregnant, with a history of a 
ruptured uterus, the termination of that pregnancy 

20 

30 

40 

50 
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would certainly have to he considered. I think 
she has had quite enough trouble with her recent 
experiences. That would have been my advice before 
the swab episode. I don't think she asked my advice 
before the swab episode. I think she first brought 
that up afterwards. It means yet another anaes-
thetic and yet more hospitals. That is why I gave 
that advice. I should not think that the adhesions 
would have an effect on the pregnoncjr. The tube 

10 may havo boon thickened by blood at the time. 

CROSS-EXAMINED. 
Cross-examined Salter. I would say that Mrs. 
Cooper's inability to have a child has nothing to 
do with any swab having been left in her body at 
any time. It certainly affects my decision to 
advise against further examination. It is not 
true that I have ever advised her that she cannot 
and must not become pregnant as the result of the 
swab having been loft in her. That did not affect 

20 the issue to my mind. After Mr. ^reston's opera-
tion I saw her when she first became pregnant which 
was about nine to ten months after the operation. 
She said that up to that time she had been well and 
remained well. She was consulting me then with 
regard to her pregnancy. I have discussed this 
case with Mr. Barber. My views are the same as 
his. I did not see her for about two months after 
Mr. Nevill's operation. 'I would not say that it 
was possible for material, metal yes, but not Tur-

30 kish towelling to remain in the abdominal cavity 
quiescent for a long period. You are bound to 
get tissue reactions to it. I would say she would 
produce symptoms within six months; as this is my 
first case I can only quote that I was taught. I 
was taught that six months was the maximum. I 
find it difficult to believe that a swab was left 
in for 12 months without producing symptoms. It 
is bound to be a freak otherwise it would not be 
written up like that in a text book. It would be 

40 a most unusual case. Although it had been accep-
ted legally that a swab had remained quiescent for 
12 months, it does not alter my impression that it 
is almost impossible for such a thing to have hap-
pened. I don't know whether it would be possible. 
I would not altogether agree with Mr. Barber's 
opinion. You would be bound to get adhesions 
forming. I was "scrubbed-up" for Mr. Barber's 
operation. I am certain I observed the condition 
of the intestine before he excised this particular 
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section. I saw a mass of coils of intestine with , 
adhesions and an abscess cavity. Mr. Barber took 
the -decision. Mr. Barber handed the piece of in-
testine to one- of the sisters who took it into the 
sluice. I went out about 5 minutes later when 
the operation was being completed. At that time 
the towel was still coiled up. I had not felt 
it before that. Mr. Barber made no comment about 
finding anything inside the intestine till after-
wards. As the intestines were distended so the 10 
material came through. It was inside the lumen 
of the intestine and popped out of the end of it. 
It came out something like a sausage. We opened 
the thing up to see what it was. I don't recall 
Sister Banks saying "it looks rather like a pack". 
She opened it up with forceps holding it up un-
ravelled. I think Sister Banks took it into the 
theatre to show Mr. Barber. It was there the 
following day, I don't know what happened to it 
subsequently. I imagine it was thrown away. Cer- 20 
tainly it is the custom in the European Hospital 
for packs to have tapes. I don't know whether they 
all have tapes. I don't think packs should be 
used without tapes but whether packs are ever used 
without tapes at the European Hospital I don't know. 
I am primarily concerned with the medical rather 
than the surgical side. The tape is sewn on to 
the swab. This is the sort of thing which is used. 
(Three packs marked X for identification). The 
paok I found was like this (X 1.) Most surgeons 30 
attach a clip if they are used for packing. It is 
a Spencer Wells forceps. This is about six inches 
long. You would have the end of the tape plus the 
forceps outside the body. 

BY COURT. 
By Court. To Court. I suppose it would be possible for the 

stitching to become rotted in the tabs but I would 
not like to give an opinion. The one shown to me 
is well and truly sewn on. 
A. We found no tape in the towel. None was looked 40 
for. We were not examining the inside of the 
intestine. Whether there was a tape on that swab 
I do not know. I don't know Sister Molloy by name. 
There were two other sisters in the theatre at the 
time. Surgeons commonly use ordinary cotton and 
silk for stitches and they stay in the body for 
ever. 
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10 

20 

(Witness rolls up material as it was found). 
You don't roll up the pack. You push it in. T h i 3 
was inside tho intestine therefore it had got to "be 
rolled up. I should think it would ho very diffi-
cult to swallow. I have been attending Mrs.Cooper 
very frequently since Mr. Barber's operation. She 
has reoovorod from the operation certainly. She 
has residual symptoms, abdominal pains and occas-
sional loose ;ool£ not diarrhoea now. 

records were kept in the theatre 
persons taking part in operations. 
know if 

I 
of 

don' t 
the 

Cross-examined Wilcock. The swab was faecal col-
oured. It was Sister Banks who opened it with for-
ceps and disclosed that it was a bit of flannel. I 
don't think all the sisters went into the sluice 
room. Mr. Barber and I examined it together. 
Whether the sisters looked at it subsequently I 
don't know. At the time I did not hear a remark 
about there being no tape. In the past I operated 
quite a lot mjrself. Now I do very little of it. 
I know Sister Banks. I think she is absolutely 
first-class. 
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R E - E X A M I N A T I O N 

Re-examined. Nil. Re-Examination. 

No.11 No.11 
EVIDENCE OF ROSETTA COOPER 

P.W.4 - HQSETTA COOPER, Christian sworn: 
Examined Mrs vKean. I am the wif e of Mr.L.T.Cooper, 
Txhe first plaintiff. I.had an operation performed 

30 on me by Mr. Weston in February 1955. Subsequent 
to ML1. Preston's operation my state of health was 
normal. My normal health is very good. I had no 
attacks of vomiting before or after Mr. Preston's 
operation in my life. I suddenly became very ill 
on "1st February 1956. I was taken to hospital by 
neighbours. I was escorted by Dr. Spiers and Dr. 
Gillespie. While I was in hospital after Mr. 
Nevill's operation I had an attack of vomiting 
exactly a week later. I presume it was rather a 

40 bad one because Mr. Nevill came to see me. I said 

R. Cooper -
Examination, 
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"I feel extremely ill, like dying". He said "I 
don't think you should think terrible things like 
that because if you did not die a week ago you 
will not die this time". When I came out of hos-
pital I stayed for a period in town because I had 
to see Mr. Nevill, also I did not feel fit to go 
home. I live at limuru. I had a bruise on my left 
leg. I could not imagine for a few days the cause. 
Nobody told me the cause. I took no action over 
it, I went back to limuru. For a few weeks I sup- 10 
pose I was a bit upset but physically I could say 
I was recovering but then I believe the night be-
fore the 24th April I went out with some people to 
dinner and suddenly I started feeling very queer. 
I had a pressure in my right side in the baok. 
Then I felt I wanted to be siok so I decided to go 
home. For about two hours I kept on feeling the 
same way. Finally the pain sort of cleared out; 
I felt extremely exhausted; I went to sleep. Soon 
after, the day after or a day or two, I went to see 20 
Mr'. Thompson and he asked me what my complaint was. 
I told him I felt something like air or pressure 
in my back. He gave me more tablets which did not 
help much. I did not get really alarmed until 
the 5th Mav. At the beginning of May very severe 
pains started 3oon after dinner - general pains. 
I was not vomiting when they first started. Then 
from 8 to 10 o'clock the pains went on. About 10 
o'clock my condition seemed improved. I went to 
bed, I believe I slept for about one hour. Then 
suddenly again I was wakened by very acute pains 30 
and I started vomiting once-every half hour.' My 
husband phoned Dr. Thompson, he asked his advice. 
Dr. Thompson suggested going to see Dr. Spiers 
about 12 or 1 a.m. He was a bit puzzled. He gave 
me some tablets to be taken at home. I vomited 
them almost immediately. I went to sleep about 
6 a.m. I went to see Dr. Thompson. I was admitted 
to the Maia Carberry Nursing Home. It was a long 
nightmare after I left the Maia Carberry until my 
last operation. I kept on having attacks like that.. 40 
I had lost confidence in myself and doctors. At-
tacks especially came at night. I would get up 
and drink something. I thought it might be cancer. 
I was not vomiting a. lot but I was trying to. I 
was getting general pains and wanting to be sick. 
Before Mr*. Nevill's operation I ran a small poultry 
farm. I could not really do much after the attacks 
started. I was very upset. The last attack star-
ted the night before I was admitted to the European 
Hospital again when I was at the cinema. We went 50 
home. I went on vomiting practically the whole 
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night. Tho following day I went to hospital again. 
The pains wore extremely severe. The vomiting it-
self was very painful. After admission and "before 
tho operation many times I think I was unconscious 
"because of the pains. I only recall pains very 
severe. After the operation while in hospital I 
was there 46 days. I think I was in very severe 
pain within 3 and 4 weeks. After that I felt more• 
comfortable. There was "an instrument of torture", 

10 I hoar the doctors call it a "sucker". It is a 
sort of olectric pump with a tube. It was attached 
inside my stomach. It made a noise like an elect-
rical machine - I could not sleep. I kept on telling 
Mr. Barber why did I have to keep this on. Before 
the operation I was so much in pain, one night in 
the medical ward I thought it might be cancer. I 
got out of bod, I put on my coat and shoes. I thought 
I would run out and throw myself under a car. Nurse 
0'Regan stopped me. I was told the cause about two 

20 or three weks before I came out. Before I was told 
I still was thinking the operation was for removal 
of a cancor. None of the answers satisfied me. The 
doctors were a bit evasive, I could feel it. Phy-
sically the sinus was not painful but it was de-
pressing because I had to attend to it twice a day 
changing the gauze. Since my discharge I kept on 
having kinds of pain especially on my right side, 
all over the abdomen. The left side could not be 
better. I saw Br. Thompson. I think my digestion 

30 has been affected. I used to be very fond of raw 
fruit and vegetables. Now I have ruled out of my 
diet things like that because it seems that they 
give me tummy trouble and loose stools. 
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CROSS-EXAMINED. 
Gross-examined Salter. I was present in Court when Cross-
Mr. Barber gave his evidence. I heard him say that Examination, 
on 1st February 1956 I was as near death as anyone 
could be. I heard him say I could consider myself 
fortunate to be alive to-day. Naturally I do con-

40 sider myself to be lucky to be alive after all. I 
agree that it reflected great credit on Mr. Nevill 
and the nursing staff that I am alive. I was very 
grateful at the time. 
(Witness complains that Mrs. Nevill is staring at 
her). 
I owe my life to Mr. Nevill and a few other people 
who did help me. It is my wish to claim damages 
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against him. Perhaps I would not be here if I 
didn't. (List of special damages shown to witness). 
Shs.873.75 paid to the European Hospital was in 
respect of the time that I was in the European 
Hospital when I was operated on by Mr, Nevill. I 
think the hospital is entitled to all what they 
charge for the time I spent. All this list in the 
first stage, we were under the impression that all 
the trouble caused by the swab had jeopardised for 
good my chance of becoming pregant again. So with-- 10 
out prejudice we made out a list claiming for more 
or less all the treatments I had received even 
before because my first operation at this stage 
proved itself as being wasted. I do not now wish 
to recover the Shs.873/75 I don't know who is res-
ponsible. I believe Mr. Laves was the anaesthe-
tist at Mr. Nevill's operation. All the rest are 
subsequent to Mr. Nevill's operation. When I be-
came pregnant in 1955 I don't think I got morning 
sickness. There were no pains before the operation 20 
by Mr. Nevill. The pregnancy was not very normal 
but I had no pain. I suppose I had the normal 
discomfort. I got the feeling I was pregnant. As 
a pregnant woman I was feeling well; I had no 
pains. I had a good many blood transfusions in my 
leg. There is a cut where the transfusion had been 
done. On two occasions I had very acute pains when 
I was admitted to the Maia Carberry and the Euro-
pean Hospital. I don't remember any injections 
between May and October 1956. I went in a car to 30 
the hospital. I arrived at the hospital betvieen 1 
and 2 o'clock. I remember a stretcher outside 
waiting-for me. I remember being put in bed. I 
remember the arrival. I was feeling very ill. 

RE-EXAMINATION 
Re-Examination. No Re-examination. 

Adjourned to 2,15 p.m. 
2.15 p.m. 

No.12 
E.G. Preston -
Examination. 

No. 12 
EVIDENCE OE PHILIP GEOFFREY PRESTON 

PAY. 5 - PHILIP GEOEEREY PRESTON, Christ fan sworn: 
Examined Mrs. Kean. I am Bachelor of Medicine, 
Bachelor of Surgery and E.R.C.O.G. Iam practising 

50 
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o.3 an obstetrician ond gynaecologist. I performed 
an operation on Mrs. Cooper on 24th January 1955 
at the Princess Elizabeth Hospital, Nairobi. I 
thinlc one or two abdominal swabs were used at that 
operation. No abdominal swabs were used for mop-
ping in that operation. The one or two swabs were 
used for packing. At that time the type of abdom-
inal swab used at the Princess Elizabeth Hospital 
was this typo, (put in as Exhibit l). I counted 

10 the swobs myself. I am perfectly certain. These 
Turkish towelling swobs I always count myself when 
I put them in the abdomen. The gauze swabs I leave 
to the sister to count. As a rule I use one or two 
- very raroly I use three. It has always been my 
custom to do so. I check on the swabs myself. It 
is impossible for one of the swabs I used on Mrs. 
Cooper to have been left in. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Cross-examined So.lter. I would be as confident 

20 as any other surgeon that I had not left a swab in 
after an operation. I got this swab (Exhibit 1) 
from the Hospital recently, this morning. The 
Princess Elizabeth Hospital was always under the 
Kenya European Hospital Association. Mr.Braimbridge 
has now assumed responsibility for the administra-
tion of that hospital in Spring 1957. In 1955 I 
think Mr. Bramish was secretary. Mr. Rudolf Ander-
son was chairman of the Board. Neither of these 
held medical qualifications. In 1955 I think the 

30 sister in charge of the theatre would be responsible 
for the preparation of instruments and swabs. I 
don't know if these packs are now made in the hospi-
tal. I don't know how they were made in 1955. I 
don't know whether there was any rule in 1955 in the 
Princess Elizabeth Hospital that all packs of this 
type should have tapes. It is the custom. I have 
been offered packs without tapes and refused them 
at the Princess Elizabeth Hospital in 1955 on more 
than one occasion. 

40 RE-EXAMINATION 
Re-examined. In "1955 in the Princess Elizabeth Re-Examination. 
Hospital I would not have used a pack of this type 
without a tape. I am positive, definitely. 
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Salter. We agree the 
apart from Sh.873/75; 
Mr. Nevill. The gross 
agreed at Sh.lOlO/-. 

particulars of expenses 
SH.510/- and Sh.600/- to 
total to Dr. Thompson v;e 
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No. 14 
EVIDENCE OF LEONARD QUENTIN TYRRELL COOPER 

P.W.6 - LEONARD QUENTIN TYRRELL COOPER. Christian 
sworn: 
Examined Mrs. Kean. I'live at Limuru. I am the 
husband of Mrs. Cooper, the second plaintiff. I 
have been married to her since the end of 1948. 
Up to Mr. Preston's operation she was alwa2/s a very 
healthy person indeed. After Mr. Preston's opera-
tion up to Mr.' Nevill's operation her health was 
quite normal and apart from convalescing after Mr. 
Preston's operation it was more or less the same 
as it was before. After Mr. Preston's operation 
my wife did not suffer from attacks of abdominal 
pain that I am aware of up to the time of Mr. 
Nevill's operation. We have for several years 
tried and taken medical advice on the matter of 
children. Finally we consulted Dr.- Thompson as to 
the possibility of my wife undergoing an operation. 
He agreed and we thought that we should not let any 
opportunity be missed whereby we could have chil-
dren. Mrs. Cooper had an operation to enable her 
to have children which was performed by Mr. Freston. 
After Mr. Nevill's operation I con corroborate 
everything my wife has said. I can also add that 
she was in a lesser degree of discomfort a lot of 
the time. In fact at one stage at that time it 
did occur to me that she might have been exaggera-
ting. She was depressed a lot of the time. She 
did not normally suffer from this to the same ex-
tent. prior to this operation. Prior to this opera-
tion she did assist in the poultry farm. Between 
Mr. Nevill's and Mr. Barber's operation she could 
hardly assist 3/u 8/11 • I think if you do not get 
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proper supervision of labour then the profits will 
decrease. In this instance my wife could not give 
her usual supervision. That particular year pro-
duction dropped by 5.15$ from the average of 1955 
and 1957. I have worked a figure which was approxi-
mately £180 but I believe the figure I handed in 
to you was much less. I would be agreeable to the 
latter figure as it would be difficult to prove my 
latest figure. During the 46 days Mrs. Cooper was 

10 in hospital I had a boy in the house. I used to 
eome and see my wife quite a lot which meant that I 
had to stay in Nairobi and I could not attend pro-
perly to my business. It was inconvenient. I am 
a farmer; I own business as a contractor, in wattle 
cutting, building. Since the operation by Mr.Bar-
ber my wife has no acute pain but has paid a number 
of visits to Dr. Thompson. She does speak to me 
about certain pains she feels in her abdomen. 

CRO S S-SXAMINATION 
20 Cross-examined Salter. The amount of Shs.1400/- Cross-

1'o'r loss of profit'from the poultry farm was an Examination, 
estimate over about 9 or 10 months. I don't know 
when it began or ended. I cannot remember the 
dates. I considered that it was a less figure than 
the actual figure. It was over 9 to 10 months in 
1956. I haven't got my accounts with me. I have 
no idea of my profits in 1955. I haven't even han-
ded my accounts for 1957 in for audit. I keep a 
running total of production every day. I mean 

30 production of eggs. Production has dropped•5.15$ 
over the whole of 1956. My production in 1955 was 
190,000 eggs. In 1957 it was 187,521. In 1956 it 
was 179,504. There are 3 permanent labourers in 
the poultry fs,rm and two women permanent and depen-
ding on tho season up to as much as 10 - 20 casual 
labourers. They are all on the farm. There are 
other things besides poultry. I don't think my 
wife did manual labour. She went to supervise. 
She would see that your employed labour do what 

40 you tell them to do. You are present to see that 
it is done correctly. The head boy has been there 
four years. He is reliable as labour are. There 
is one year considerably better than the two aver-
age years I have taken. I keep about 700 - 800 
laying hens on average. It varies. I can't say 
what profit I make. It is much more than £50. I 
have no idea. I saw an accountant who said unless' 
I could give comparative figures for a period of 10 
years he could not produce anything which would go 
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down in a court of law. I am fully alive to the 
great service which Mr. Nevill afforded to my wife 
on 1st February 1956. Damages to myself are limi-
ted to those out of pocket expenses. I probably 
had something to do with instituting this suit. It 
is probably the idea of my wife and myself, in some 
things she is guided by me. I think we both gui-
ded each other in this matter. I can't remember 
how the train of events built-up. I had in my 
mind at one time the idea that because of the swab 
my wife would not be able to have a child. Initi-
ally it was something that played a part in my 
decision to claim damages but afterwards it was not 
It would be true that Dr. Thompson said words to 
the effect that because of the swab my wife would 
not be able to have a child. I was not present 
when he said that. It was reported to me by my 
wife. I heard Dr. Thompson say in the witness 
box that he never said anything of the kind. I 
believed what my wife told me. I would not say it 
had a considerable bearing on my decision to bring 
this case. It did influence the matter. I took 
the decision at the end of 1956. 

10 

20 

: Re-Examination. R E - E X A M I N A T I O N 
Re-examined. I was told by Mr. Barber. 
Salter. The witness cannot give evidence as to 
the details of the conversation. 
Mrs. Kean. The cross-examination has made this 
admissible. 
Court. I do not think the details of the conver-
sation are admissible. 

30 

A. As a result of what Mr. Barber told me I for-
med the impression that everything was finished so 
far as Mrs. Cooper's chance of having a pregnancy 
was concerned because of the last operation by Mr. 
Barber. After Mr. Nevill1 s ope rat ion my impression 
was that there was still a chance. I talked to 
Mr. Nevill about it. He told me that whilst he had 
not examined the other tube' he did think that after 
six months we could try again. 'My wife consulted 40 
Dr. Thompson about this after Mr. Barber's opera-
tion. It is not within my knowledge that she con-
sulted him after Mr. Nevill's operation. The effect 
on me of what Dr. Thompson advised was very depres-
sing. I believe I had Mr. Barber's opinion. I am 
pretty certain I first wrote to Mr. Nevill before 
my wife saw Dr. Thompson. Before I brought the 
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suit I had been told it would necessitate another 
operation to my wife in order to prove whether she 
eould have a child. We had been advised that in 
view of my wife's experiences it was inadvisable for 
her to undergo any more 
vised this. 

surgery. Dr. Thompson ad-

Close of Case for Plaintiffs. 
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No.15 
ADDRESS BY COUNSEL FOR FIRST DEFENDANT 

Salter. Opens defence. 
No negligence on 
Osborne, 1939, 1 

part of 1st 
A.E.R. 535. 

These 
defendant. Mahon v 
1939 2 K.B. 14, p.31. 

tests applicable here. Dunlop v. James 1931 
B.M.J. In that case no emergency on exceptional 
circumstance. The theatre sister was not called. 
Evidence as to count was unsatisfactory. They found 
search not necessary. In Urry case - no emergency 
or exceptional circumstances only 2 or 3 packs used. 
Surgeon did not need tapes. He said 
led to rely on sister's count, 
ber himself. Van Wyk v. Lewis, 
- emergency. Mahon - Osborne -
count asked for - large number 
Miles 1930 1 B.M.J. Morri 
All England Reports 494. 

he was entit-
No effort to remem-
Difficult operation 
emergency. Swab 
of packs. ' v. 

v. Winsbury-White, 1937. 
Evidence will show oper-

ation carried out under exceptional circumstances, 
20 swabs used in mopping. No packs used in this 
hospital without tapes. Plaintiff must prove tapes 
left in at this operation. There must be real doubt 
whether swab found in this case was used in this 
operation. 

No. 15 
Address by 
Counsel for 
first 
defendant, 
28th January 
1958. 

No. 16 
EVIDENCE OF GERALD EDWARD NEVILL 

D.W.I - GERALD EDWARD NEVILL - Christian, sworn: 
Examined•Salter. I am a Bachelor of Medicine 
"(Dublin), F.R.C.S. Master of Surgery (University 
of Dublin). There is no degree of surgery that I 
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No. 16 
G.E. Nevill 
Examination. 
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would value higher than Master of Surgery. I 
qualified in 1938 in medicine and surgery. I have 
been in continual practice ever since. In the war 
I was with the East African Forces. I was involved 
in the surgical side of the unit to which 'I was 
attached throughout my service. Since 194-4 I 
been practising surgery in Nairobi. I am Hon. 
suiting Surgeon to King George VI Hospital and 
Church of Scotland 
During my 20 years 
thing between 2000 
February 1956 I was called out 
of the Association of Surgeons 

have 
Con-

Mission Hospital at Kikuyu. 
practice I have performed some-
and 4000 operations. On 1st 

of a general meeting 
of East Africa at 

about'3 o'clock p.m. I went to the European Hos-
pital. I wont to a ward in which there was a 
patient, Mrs. Cooper. Dr. Lawes, the senior 
Government anaesthetist was there and Dr. Wilson, 
Dr. Robert son-Glasgovj; Mr. Braimbridge was some-
where. There were several assistants. Mrs.Cooper 
was almost dead. She 
felt. I was informed 
not be measured, 
she breathed very 
that she had been 
had been summoned 
on her arrival and 

had no pulse that could be 
that her blood pressure could 

She was ashy grey in colour and 
infrequently. Br. Lawes told me 
in a similar condition when he 
to attend Mrs. Cooper immediately 
that he•had already established 

ail intravenous drip system, a saline drip, as a 
preliminary to blood-transfusion. I diagnosed 
that she had had a very severe internal haemorrhage 
in her abdomen and the diagnosis had been made by 
the doctors who brought her down from Limuru that 
this was in fact a ruptured ectopic pregnancy. I 
had no reason to doubt that diagnosis. I agreed 
with Br, Lawes and the other doctors present that 
we would have to operate on her in order to stop 
the bleeding which was killing her but that she 
was not in any sense of the-word a "reasonable 
operative risk". Very shortly afterwards the 
blood we had sent for arrived and everybody present 
assisted in getting this into her. My notes read 
that she was given 6-g- pints of blood, 1 pint of 
glucose saline, 1 pint of Bextrin. It was a con-
tinuous process of perhaps one hour. The blood con-
tent of the body is generally accepted to be 10 
pints. We thought at first we would have to oper-
ate on her in her bed in the ward because we vjere 
not "catching up" with her haemorrhage, but after 
a little while she seemed to improve just a little 
bit and we agreed that we could afford the risk of 
bringing her bed into the operating theatre. We did 
that. We knew we would have to operate in order to 
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save her and we knew that the available blood in 
the bank wa3 limited. There came a time when we 
had to get 011 with it because otherwise she would 
have continued to lose all the blood we were giving 
her. I had never operated on a patient in bed 
before. The disadvantages are that the bed is too 
low, too wide and the ends get in the way. We 
felt certain that to move her on to the operating 
table would kill her. 

10 Adjourned to 29th January 1958 at 10 a.m. 
B.R. Miles, J. 
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29th January 1958. 
E.W.I - GERALD EDWARD NEVILL 
Examined Salter (continued). In this particular 
case we were ready to operate for say 10 minutes 
before the anaesthetist would let me start at all. 
The question was in continual discussion and we 
had to make up our minds when the correct time was, 
There were scrubbed-up with me my assistant, Dr. 

20 Wilson, he is in the U.K., and Sister Banks, who 
was taking the case, Dr. Lawes who was giving the 
anaesthetic and in general charge of keeping the 

' patient alive. Dr. Robertson-Glasgow who is also 
anaesthetist was given the special job of looking 
after the blood transfusion and helping Dr. Lawes. 
Sister Pearce was present; she was the ward sis-
ter and was asked to remain. There was at least 
one additional "dirty" nurse. At that moment I 
cannot recollect seeing Mr. Braimbridge. I made 

30 a mid-line incision. There was no bleeding from 
the woman's body. That is unusual, I concluded 
she was even closer to death than we had thought. 
When we got into the abdomen cavity it was full of 
blood, confirming our diagnosis. I put my left 
hand deep into the pelvis and could feel that the 
left-corner of the uterus had burst. I grabbed 
this, which was the bleeding point, between my 
finger and thumb and held firm. This, I thought 
would control any further bleeding. We then 

40 started to suck blood out of her abdominal cavity 
and into specially prepared bottles. This blood 
was to be used later as required for auto-trans-
fusion. There were some four pints removed in 
this manner. There was still a great deal of 
blood in the abdomen in the form of clots and hav-
ing flowed into various corners. This was re-
moved using our hands to scoop out the clots and 
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using mopping packs to assist. Dr. Wilson and I 
were both doing this. Speed in that matter was 
absolutely essential. Eor mopping we were using 
packs of this sort (Exhibit "X"). At that stage I 
cannot say whether the packs had tapes or not. At 
that stage for mopping we attached no clips or 
forceps; at the mopping stage you'would not leave 
them in the body, you don't let go, I hand the 
pack to sister if it is not too dirty. If it ob-
viously cannot be used again you put it in a basin 10 
beside you. That is what I did. I observed Dr. 
Wilson very closely. He did the same as I was 
doing. Everything that he did was done at my 
instruction. I was standing on the left side of 
the patient, Dr. Wilson was on the opposite side 
to me. In clots and on mops we estimated that we 
removed some 2 or 3 pints of blood. There was 
still more inside. As an estimate the sucking 
and mopping took 5 to 8 minutes. It has to be 
done slowly and gently. I was then able to see 20 
that the uterus was in fact ruptured. I had to 
sew the ruptured part over and in order to keep 
my field of work clear I packed back all the in-
testines using packs of this material, (Exhibit 
"X"). I used two or three. They had tapes on 
and they had a clip at the end of each tape. You 
use the pack flat to push the intestines back. You 
don't even pull it over once. Ordinarily speaking 
the whole of the pack would be inside the body. The 
ta,pe is left to come out through the wound with the 30 
clip attached. If the pack was far from the wound 
only the corner of the tape would be outside. If 
close to the wound most of the tape would be out-
side. I sewed up the uterus. I found the foetus 
which had caused the trouble lying free in the 
pelvis cavity, and beside it the plastic tube which 
had been used in order to achieve the pregnancy. 
I knew she had had a previous operation. I felt 
the other tube and it still had its plastic tube 
in situ. I checked at the pelvis cavity that it 40 
was free of blood clots and there was no further 
bleeding from the ruptured uterus which I had.stit-
ched. We were then getting ready to terminate the 
operation. Having checked that the pelvis cavity 
was clear I then removed the packing swabs which I 

checked carefully the area involved 
the same time considerable quantities 

which were oozing down from the upper 
parts of the abdomen. When I was sure that I had 
done all that I should do in the way of routine 50 
checking for packs I was ready to sew up. Whilst 

had placed, 
removing at 
of blood 
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I was chocking inside the theatre staff under the 
direction of Sister Bonks were checking up out-
side in our routine procedure to ensure against 
leaving any swabs behind. I was assured that the 
swab court was correct. Sister Banks assured me. 
You do not sew up until you are informed and until 
you have completed your own check. Prior to that 
operation Sister Banks had been taking the majority 
of my cases since the opening of the hospita.1. She 

10 is a first clans theatro sister in whom I place 
absolute reliance. My absolute routine is that I 
personally always remove the packs which I know 
that I have pln-cod in the abdomen or my assistant 
has placed. It is my responsibility. I then 
always check the operation area to make sure that 
some others or any foreign body could have crept in 
by mistake. Vle take standard precautions that all 
packs we use as restraining packs have got tapes on 
them and if they are to be left in the abdomen a 

20 clip forceps is attached to the tapes. The small 
gauze swabs which are notoriously easy to lose in-
side the body we always have held directly in for-
ceps, specially made for the purpose. These little 
swabs are of course also subject to the sister's 
count. If I am personally satisfied having had a 
good look round and a good feel with one's hands 
into reasonable corners for a foreign body that no 
foreign body is there, either I ask sister or she 
tells me in a loud voice so that other people in 

30 the theatre can also hear it, that the swab count 
is correct. I have followed that routine for as 
long as I have been doing surgery when such routine 
is possible. I have had to do a great deal of 
surgery under war conditions and often in ill-
equipped and in below standard conditions. There 
may be no theatre sister - in such cases you have 
to rely on your own checking entirely. This gets 
one into the habit of having a good look. I took 
every precaution in this operation to ensure that 

40 I did not leave a swab in this particular case but 
I am very well aware that almost every surgeon in 
his career has in fact left such a swab behind. 
This was an incredibly difficult and I think deli-
cate operation. I have never been faced with con-
ditions such as this in my whole career. If the 
pack had been in the pelvis before my operation I 
would have found it. If it had been in the middle 
or upper part of the abdomen I would not have found 
it as I made no search of those areas. The small 

50 intestine starts in the upper abdomen. There are 
22 feet of it. It can be found in coils in every 
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corner of the abdomen not already occupied by some 
firm fixed organ such as the liver or uterus. The 
small intestine would be in close contact with my 
operational area. I have heard the swab described 
as "towelling". All the packs that we used to the 
best of my knowledge and belief have tapes attached 
to them at all times. I could not give an assess-
ment about each individual pack which I used for 
mopping. It would have been far too dangerous to 
check on that point. All packs at the European 
Hospital have tapes - we don't have to consider 
that point. It was inserted to get the blood out 
of the cavity as quickly as possible. I don't 
think there was anything to prevent me seeing a 
pack used for mopping if it had remained there. 
There was still blood seeping about. I used my 
hand to go into corners I could not see within 
reason. We were moving very swiftly all the time 
because our patient had been 
start with and all operative 
gentle, cause an increase in 
we knew that the slightest 
would kill our patient. A 

10 

critically ill to. 
manipulations,•however 
surgical shock, and 

increase in this shock 
swab can remain in the 

20 

abdominal cavity without causing trouble almost 
indefinitely unless because of its size or some 
extraneous facts inflammation might start causing 
complications. I personally have never left a 
swab in to my knowledge. I have 'knowledge of a 
swab being removed at a second operation eleven 
years after the first operation in which presum-
ably it was used. There was never any departure 
from my careful and usual routine on this occasion. 

30 

BY COURT 
By Court. To Oourt. The operation took something in the 

nature of f- hour - but Dr. Dawes recorded that sort 
of thing. 

CRO S S-EXAMIN AT I ON 
Cross-
Exam ination. 

Gross-examined Wilcook. Sister Banks was extremely 
good during this operation. The hospital staff as 
a whole displayed a skill and attention to duty 
which I have never seen surpassed. 

40 

Cross-examined Mrs. Kean. The following morning 
after his operation Mrr^Barber communicated, with 
me. I agreed that Mr. and Mrs. Cooper should be 
told. I would say that it is right as a matter 
of professional etiquette that the patient should 
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correct 
iing on 

bo told. I agree that Mr. Barber did the 
thing in communicating with me before paŝ  
tho information. I received a letter of which 
this is a copy (put in as Exhibit 2) from Mr.Cooper. 
I was very distressed on hearing this. It is a very 
upsetting thing to happen to a surgeon. The danger 
of leaving behind a swab is a perpetual nightmare 
to a surgeon. I would agree absolutely that I 
cannot take all the credit for having saved Mrs. 
Cooper's life. I agree that had it not been for 
tho speed of action of Dr. Spiers and Dr.Gillespie 
Mrs. Cooper would not have 
tale. Sho would not have 
rived if Dr. Lawes had not 

been alive to tell the 
been alive when I ar-
started resuscitation. 

I would not say it is a justification for making a 
mistake that the operation saved the patient's life. 
I felt depressed when I got the news from Mr.Barber 
because I felt personally concerned. I obey the 
commands of tho Medical Protection Society. It would 
be my instinct to convey my distress to Mrs.Cooper. 
I made several approaches at a later date to Mrs. 
Cooper. I made no personal contact. She would 
not oome. During tho war we always had had a sort 
of theatre table. Frequently I had to perform an 
operation undor fire. I was in a field ambulance 
for 18 months. Frequently I was called on to at-
tend a person who could not be moved to a makeshift 
operating theatre. You would always take a pati-
ent back to hospital for anything requiring "cut-
ting". You have surgical instruments for life 
saving action. It is theoretically possible that 
that might involve cutting. There are places where 
a theatre sister attaches clips to tapes whether 
the swabs are used for mopping or swabbing but have 
never used that practice myself. My own opinion is 
that it is unnecessary. Other safeguards are suf-
ficient without this. We use the system of racks 
and a black board at King George VI Hospital. They 
work in units of ten. There are 10 hooks. You have 
several lots of hooks. Swabs are never removed 
from the theatre. It is my duty to see that there 
is a clip attached to every pack used for restrain-
ing purposes whether such clip is attached by my-
self, my assistant or the theatre sister. It might 
be applied by either of the three. I have heard 
of a system whereby the theatre sister always ap-
plied the clips but I have not worked under such 
a system. It would entirely be within my control 
as to whether such a system was 
tion. I don't agree that this 
tional safeguard. I should say 

used in my opera-
would be an addi-
45 minutes elapsed 
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between the time of my arrival and the commencement 
of the operation. It is a wide estimate. The 45 
minutes was before I was ready to operate. I would 
agree that it takes -g- hour to prepare a theatre at 
the European Hospital adequately for an emergency 
operation. I have come across packing swabs made 
of muslin. We prefer these (Exhibit's") because 
they are better for every purpose. You can't mis-
take muslin for anything else. This (Exhibit "X") 
is more absorbent, cheaper, more durable. No mopping 10 
swab left my hand at this operation. I cannot say 
that a mopping swab never left my assistant's hand. 
It would be an improper thing to happen as a gen-
eral rule. In this operation it would not have been 
necessary. I never observed Dr. Wilson letting go 
of a mopping swab. I knew where I had put the two 
or three packs. I only keep count of packing swabs. 
It would be quite impossible in an operation of this 
sort to keep a count of mopping swabs. The packing 
swabs were put in in this case either by me or my 20 
asistant. We usually work together. Either he 
holds the intestine and I put the pack in or vice 
versa. In either case I would know where they had 
been put and it would be my responsibility to see 
that they were taken out. Almost certainly I think 
I must have placed the packs in this case. I per-
sonally removed them. I removed them by catching 
the actual swab.- I wouldn't have needed any guid-
ance to the swab, they were quite obvious. I cannot 
recollect whether there were two or three packing 30 
swabs. All swabs move to some degree. These swabs 
did not move appreciably. In this case they moved 
perhaps an inch. I place absolute reliance on 
Sister•Banks. I never do rely completely on the 
theatre sister's count. I rely on my own count in 
addition. I do not recollect in this particular 
operation whether I asked Sister Banks whether the 
count was correct. I am absolutely certain that 
either I asked her or she told me. In this case I 
did carry out my routine check. We did the best we 40 
could. I carried out my routine check. I remove 
the swabs that I know I have placed in position, I 
look to see within reasonable limitations that 
there are no other swabs visible, These swabs 
would be visible. I feel with my hand into all 
reasonable places where a swab might hide itself 
and when I am absolutely certain that there are no 
foreign bodies inside the abdomen I question sister 
about her swab count -unless it may be-that she has 
already told me her swabs are correct, in which case 50 
the question would be superfluous. That is what I 
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did in this ease. I carried out my routine check 
within reasonable limits before sewing up. That is 
my routine check. X carried out my usual routine 
chock in this operation. This is not a case which 
made the routine chock impossible. By the time 
for sewing up Mrs. Cooper was very relatively bet-
ter. I can't recollcct if she was coming round. 
They wake up very quickly. I would not agree that 
she was "very much hotter", but she had improved. 

10 This is a letter I wrote to Dr. Thompson (put in as 
Exhibit 3). These words are used here. This was 
an accurate description of the patient's condition 
written in a colloquial manner to a colleague. If 
I had been informed in this case that the swab 
count was not correct, I would have made another 
search. I have heard the evidence of Mr. Barber, 
Dr. Dockeray and Br. Thompson. I heard them say 
that* according to all text books symptoms would 
start from 3 - 6 months if a swab wore left in the 

20 body. You have the Van Wyk - Lewis Case. I am 
talking about an opinion I have formed. What I 
have read in a medical book has helped to form that 
opinion. Wo use a lot of cotton in surgery for 
sewing up wounds and tying blood vessels. We have 
numerous references in surgical literature to its 
relatively inocuous properties in the body. It is 
therefore possible that cotton can remain in the 
body for an indefinite time without causing trouble. 
I would however expect trouble to ensue if there 

30 was a large mass of such material interfering with 
an otherwise normally functioning organ. That is 
one of the cases on which I formed my opinion. We 
have knowledge of a cotton swab staying in the body 
innocuously for 11 years so I am told. Br. Gregory 
told me about this. I have no experience of this. 
There are many opinions that symptoms will occur in 
3 to 6 months in medical jurisprudence books. It is 
not correct that I base my opinion solely on the 
cotton. It is none of my business to go into this 

40 before I came to Court. The main factor in my 
opinion is that cotton is an innocuous material. 
This material is cotton. The Van Wyk case had a 
bearing on my opinion. It had an important bearing. 
It bore out my ideas. In that case I understood it 
was an abdominal pack presumably made of cotton. 
I don't know if it was Turkish towelling or muslin. 
I don't know what muslin is made of. I presume it 
is cotton. It may be so far as I know in a differ-
ent way from cotton or towelling. I don't recol-

50 lect that the patient in the Van Y/yk case had very 
many symptoms. She passed it through the rectum. 
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It would show some effects before this. I would 
expect a thing of this kind on general grounds to 
cause trouble sooner or later. I am not a patho-
logist. My knowledge is very limited on this point 
but we have evidence that it can stay there for a 
very long time. I am not absolutely convinced that 
a surgical pack was ever left in the body of.Mrs. 
Cooper. I have not seen it. Mr. Barber said a 
piece of Turkish towelling was found. I was talking 
of swabs. I would expect a pack of this size to 10 
cause trouble in an abdomen within a few weeks of 
its being placed there or even days. That is the 
general behaviour of packs, there would be excep-
tions, I recollect that a few days after I perfor-
med this operation on Mrs, Cooper she had a very 
bad attack of vomiting. I have a note of it. She 
had jaundice as the result of the blood transfusion. 
I don't recollect a bruise on her leg. I have a 
vague recollection of a conversation with Mr.Cooper 
on the lines he talked about. This operation was 20 
even more delicate than most. It is impressed on 
theatre sisters in training that they must keep 
their heads in emergencies, also that the counting 
of swabs was one of their most important duties. 
It is well-known that the risk of a pack being left 
in the body of a patient is very serious. Sister 
Banks in this case performed her duties admirably. 
I did not tell her she must do her counting parti-
cularly quickly, nor did anybody else in my hearing. 
I would agree with Mr. Barber's evidence as to Mrs. 30 
Cooper's pain and suffering. The piece of Turkish 
towelling found by Mr. Barber is much more likely 
to be a surgical swab. I could not make clear 
whether it would be a swab used for mopping or a 
swab used for packing. They are both the same. We 
have discussed other possibilities than it being an 
abdominal swab but in my mind I have dismissed them. 

Adjourned 2.15 p.m. 
2.15 p.m. 
D.W.I further cross-examined Mrs. Kean: 40 

Since Mrs, Cooper's operation I have performed 
about 100 abdominal operations. I have used my 
notes to refresh my memory. Without these notes 
there are many matters I cannot specifically re-
collect, I think it would be correct that my mem-
ory of the uncommon features of the operation would 
be better than that of the routine features. I have 
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remembered this case extremely clearly. I knew 
six weeks afterwards that Mrs. Cooper was coming 
round when sho was sown up. I could not remember 
it to-day. Should such be required the anaes-
thetist from time to time during the operation 
gives mo a report as to the condition of the pati-
ent. Tho state of the patient before I start to 
sew up is something which concerns mo. Whether 
Mrs. Cooper was bettor at the start of the sewing 
up would be something that concerned me at the 
time. My note reads "patient much bettor at this 
time". No mention of "coming round". I specifi-
cally remember carrying out the steps that I have 
detailed in thi3 particular operation. You have 
an incision of about 5 inches in the lower part of 
tho abdomen. We had packed away the intestines 
as described upwards. I checked the pelvic cavity 
very carefully. There one is coming out of the 
abdomen and checking up as it were "behind you". 
The pelvis is clear. You then remove the restrain-
ing packs and as you do that you observe that there 
is nothing behind in the same area and as you do it 
the intestines tend to fall downwards. We had by 
this time removed all the packs that we were aware 
of but there was a certain amount of blood coming 
down from the corners and very gently one collects 
that blood under msion. When we thought all was 
safe I felt around in that same area, i.e. the area 
immediately adjacent to the wound in which I had 
been working and slightly out into either flank.. 
The "feeling around" would not take more than 30 
seconds. "We" means "I". I have heard of the 
case of Mahon v. Osborne. I have not seen the law 
report. I skimmed through "Medical Jurisprudence" 
by Gordon, Turner and Price, the passage dealing 
with swab cases, I have looked at Maitland. I got 
a little lost in Nathan. It is very legal. Dr. 
Wilson's bill would be part of my account. He as-
sisted at my request. He would be acting under my 
direction. I was telling him exactly what I wanted 
him to do. It would be his duty to obey my direc-
tions. I did not come across an abdominal swab 
without a tape in the European Hospital in 1956. 
It would be the theatre staff's duty to see that 
the tapes were securely attached and that the 
Spencer-Wells clips were in good order. The theatre 
staff would be aware that the surgeon would be 
relying on their count of the swabs used for mop-
ping, Abdominal packs are always laid out in groups 
of three. In an ordinary operation one group of 
three would be enough and would be all that is set-
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out. In other operations others would be avail-
able immediately as required. I don't recollect-
in this particular operation how many groups of 
three were set out. We had sent a message to the 
theatre that we would be coping with an abdomen 
full of blood. They have a standard pack of gauze 
swabs, 12 in each pack. They are placed separately 
after use on a mackintosh. The main part of the 
mopping would be done before the sewing. There was 
mopping done with abdominal swabs after the sewing, 
not during* During the sewing we had it under con-
trol in this case. I haven't the remotest idea how 
many Turkish towelling swabs were used for mopping. 

10 

BY COURT 
By Court To Court. A looped tape is considered to be a bet-

ter and stronger way of sewing it on I understand. 
RE-EXAMINATION 

Re-Examination. Re-examined. I make notes of an operation as soon 
as I have convenient time in my office in every 
case. These are the complete notes of this case. 20 
Nothing routine would be put down. My note "after 
saline drip" means blood drip. That would not be 
normal after a cold operation. The next entry is 
"following day still alive and settling slowly". 
That is not a usual comment. By "settling slowly", 
she had had a very bumpy period having been des-
perately ill and she was by this time living on 
borrowed blood entirely, but her pulse and other 
records that we keep were gradually reaching a 
more normal level. She was very considerably bet- 30 
ter than at the closing of the operation. She had 
been exceptionally ill. As we were closing her up 
she was better. She was still critically ill and 
the following day she was still critically ill 
although better than she had been. The longer you 
leave an abdomen open and the longer anaesthetic 
and other procedures are carried on the greater 
will be the shock imposed. Therefore you must 
close up a shocked patient at the earliest moment. 
Forceps would get in the way of mopping thereby 40 
slowing your movements down and in addition they 
would be a hard metal object which should not be 
moved around the abdomen. I think the system in 
force at the European Hospital is a sound, safe and 
well recognised system. It is almost a universal 
surgical practice throughout the world to use Tur-
kish towelling. Dr. Wilson had been qualified about 
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4 or 5 years. He had a D.R.C.O.G. and he had ser-
ved for some two years as a graded surgeon in tho 
Army following on the customary house surgeon jobs. 
Thoro would be no reason at all to lot a swab go 
out of your hand for mopping. I have no doubt in 
my mind as to the removal of the restraining pack3 
from whore I had put thorn. The mopping swabs would 
normally bo counted by the sister and then one al-
ways checks up the operating field oneself. We used 

10 a very much larger number in this operation and in 
many eases after they had been handed to sister it 
may be that she rinsed them and handed you back the 
same pack again, If the sister tells you the count 
is not corroct you will proceed to re-examine the 
abdomen while sister would review her count and 
a further search would be made in possible hiding 
places. In a cold case with no rush you might 
spend up to 15 or 20 minutes searching. In a case 
where the patient is in a critical condition you 

20 then have to make up your mind whether it is better 
to prolong the search indefinitely with possible 
very serious complications to the patient or to ac-
cept the evidence of your own eyes and hands that 
there is no swab inside and close up the wound. I 
have never had to close up a wound where the count 
was not eventually correct. With a very efficient 
theatre staff it never happens because the sister s 
are aware of where a pack is at any given time. 
Almost always the swab turns up somewhere else. 

30 The patient's life is the only thing that matters. 
I have been told of the case where a swab was left 
in for 11 years. It was Mr. Tom Latham. He was 
living in Nairobi until his decease not so very 
long ago. He managed the New Stanley Hotel. The 
object shown to me is a piece of Turkish towelling. 
I would not call it a surgical pack but a face 
flannel (marked "Y" for identification). If an ob-
ject like this ("Y") got there in a surgical opera-
tion it would have the same chances as a surgical 

40 swab. Ordinarily 'there is no need for a report 
from an anaesthetist. One is aware of the condi-
tion of the patient from one's own observation. In 
a case such as this there would be an almost con-
tinuous report going on. I don't remember any 
particular report from Dr. Lawes. We were just 
keeping contact as to whether she was still alive. 
I have had no personal experience of a case of 
similar severity. That is why I remember the de-
tails clearly. 

50 Further oross-oxamlned by leave. I mean that this 
'("iyii) Would have the "same chances as a Turkish 
towelling pack. I mean by "chances" that it would 
show symptoms in the same period. 
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No. 17 
EVIDENCE OF WILLIAM ERIC I.AWES 

D.W.2 - WILLIAM ERIC LAY/ES, Christian sworn: 
Examined Salter. I am E.E.A., R.C.S., D.A., D.T.M. 
and H. I am senior Government anaesthetist in the 
Colony. I have practised for 18 years. On 1st 
February 1956 I received an urgent call to go to 
the European Hospital. I saw a case of Mrs.Cooper 
at 2.40 p.m. She was comatose, pulseless, no 
blood pressure, grey faced, cold and sweating with 10 
sighing respirations and the heart could be just 
heard with a stethoscope. In short she was dying. 
I took a sample of blood from a vein in the neck 
as this was the only vein available to a needle. 
This was sent to the laboratory for grouping and 
cross-matching against blood in the blood bank. We 
gave her altogether 9s" pints of fluid to resuscitate 
her. We gave her three pints of saline and arti-
ficial plasma under pressure in 10 minutes while 
blood was being made available. I can't remember 20 
doing that any faster. Mr. Nevill's assistant 
arrived at 3 o'clock. I then phoned Mr. Nevill. 
He arrived shortly after 3. The patient was be-
ginning to show signs of life. The blood-pressure 
could not be recorded. At the time of his arrival 
she was just becoming an operable risk. You have 
to decide what is the right time to operate. She 
was operated on in her bed in the theatre. At the 
time of the operation if bleeding had not been 
stopped-within a matter of minutes without too much 30 
handling she would have died during the operation. 
The anaesthetist's main job is to maintain the 
patient's state of health during the operation. Dr. 
Robertson-Glasgow supervised the collection, the 
filtering and giving of blood which was obtained 
from the patient's abdomen. There were 6-g- pints 
of blood given in toto up to 4 o'clock. The opera-
tion went on quite reasonably considering the risk 
that was present when we started. Mr, Nevill stop-
ped the bleeding within one or two minutes. I can't 40 
remember any specific report by me. We have worked 
together before. He just raises his eyebrows. You 
nod and off you go. Her blood pressure at the end 
of the operation was 95. Normal is '120. I should 
describe the operation as a brilliant piece of 
surgery. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Cross-
Exam ination. 

Cross-examined Wilcock. The hospital staff were 
extremely good throughout the operation. Onedoesn't 
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take specific notice "but one has come to expect it 
from Sister Banks that her work is of an extremely 
high standard. 
Cross-examined Mrs. Kean. Mr. Braimbridge phoned 
me. I came straight up. I assume she had been in 
about 10 minutes. I have no note of the time the 
operation commonced. I should say it was between 
3.20 and 3.30. It took perhaps hour. 
Dr. Robertson-Glasgow was asisting me. His account 

10 is not included in mine. He was probably asked to 
assist by Mr. Nevill. People just help in an emer-
gency. He was not specifically asked to help by me. 
The time for operation was agreed by mutual arrange-
ment , I can't honestly say whether Mr. Nevill asked 
Sister Banks whether the swabs were correct. It is 
not in my sphere at all. I have no recollection of 
Sister Banks making any announcement or of Mr.Nevill 
putting the question. 

RE-EXAMINATION 
20 Re-examined. So far as I know in that respect there 

was no departure from the usual procedure. It was 
a perfectly routine operation. 
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No. 18 
EVIDENCE OP MARY ROBERT SON-GLAS GOV/ 

D.W.3 - MARY ROBERTSON-GLASGOW, Christian sworn: 
Examined Salter. I am Bachelor of Medicine; Bache-
lor of Surgery. I was in the European Hospital on 
1st February, 1956; I assisted in the blood trans-
fusion on Mrs. Cooper. I received a telephone 

30 call at the surgery from Dr. Wilson. He asked me 
to come up immediately. I was in Court while Dr. 
Lawes gave evidence. I agree with what he said 
about the operation. I arrived at 3.20 and met 
them carrying Mrs. Cooper to the theatre. I should 
think the operation started about 3.30. The opera-
tion lasted I should think half an hour from the 
time the anaesthetic was given to the sewing up. 
I was asked by Dr. Lawes to supervise the auto-
transfusion. I did so. I was doing this from the 

40 beginning . I started by supervising the drip. 
I had six bottles which were filled. Some of the 
solution would bo citrate to prevent clotting. The 

No. 18 
M.Robert son -
Glasgow -
Examination, 
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natural amount of blood taken out in bottles was 
five. All the blood was being put in through a 
cannula which Dr. Lawes had already put in the leg. 
The mackintosh sheet on which the mopping up swabs 
were placed was in front of the table where I was 
working. I did glance at it, frequently to see 
the amount of blood which was coming out. I made 
no accurate count. I. don't remember hearing any-
thing said by Mr. Nevill or Sister Banks with re-
gard to the count. I have taken part in many 
operations. There was no departure from the-usual 
routine. I act as Mr. Nevill's anaesthetist, I am 
not concerned with the surgical side. 

10 

CROSS-EXAMINATION, 
Cross-
Exam inat ion. 

Cross-examined Wilcock. I have taken part in many 
operations in which Sister Banks was theatre sis-
ter. I think her abilities are exceptional as 
theatre sister in charge. The theatre staff all 
carried out their duties at this operation extremely 
well. 20 
Cross-examined Kean. Blood was sucked into six pint 
bottles. One pint was used only for auto-trans-
fusion. It was no part of my duty at this opera-
tion to count the swabs nor to put any swabs into 
Mrs. Cooper's body, I was very busy attending to 
my own work. I had a particular opportunity to 
see the nurse who was collecting the dirty swabs 
as she was putting them on the mackintosh sheet in 
front of me. Also she was assisting me. Very often 
I used to turn towards the site of the operation. 30 
I would not say it is part of the routine for an 
announcement to be made in a loud voice with regard 
to the swab count at the hospital. I don't agree 
it is usual. It is not always done, in a voice that 
everyone can hear. I don't know of any instructions 
as to giving the announcement in a loud voice. 
Sometimes the surgeon asks are swabs correct. Some-
times the sister says - "swabs correct sir". The 
sister announces it in a voice the surgeon can hear. 

RE-EXAMINATION 40 
Re-Examination. Re-examined. I have heard the sister say or the 

surgeon ask. One hears it at every operation. In 
a routine operation with very little bleeding one 
does not look at the swabs. But if there is a 
great deal of bleeding one looks at the swabs to 
assess the amount of blood needed. I thought there 
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wore about 20 used at this operation. 
To Court• I do not rccollect seeing any swabs 
being rinsed out. 
Adjourned to 30.1.58 at 10 a.m. 

B.R. Miles, J. 
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No. 19 
EVIDENCE OE EDWARD RONALD ORMEROD 

D.W.4 - EDWARD RONALD ORMEROD, Christian sworn: 
10 Examined Salter. I am Bachelor of Medicine and 

Surgery, Member and Licentiate of Royal College of 
Surgeons, F.R.C.S. (Edinburgh). I am M.R.C.O.G. I 
qualified in 1921. I was House Surgeon and Physi-
cian in Royal Infirmary of Manchester for 3 years. 
I was House Surgeonand Physician in the Royal 
Children's Hospital, Manchester. I was House Sur-
geon and Gynaecologist, Obstetrical Bepartment at 
Nottingham General Hospital. During the war I was 
in charge of tho Surgical Department in E.A.Command. 

20 Since the war I have been consultant in Gynaecology 
and Obstetrics of Middlesex County Council. I came 
out here in 1950 to practise as a consultant. I am 
one of the consulting Obstetrical and gynaecologic 
surgeons to King George VI Hospital. I have had a 
description of the operation by Mr. Nevill given to 
me. I am familiar with Mrs. Cooper's condition at 
the time. I don't think it exists except as an 
emergency operation. As a surgeon I would describe 
it as an operation of extreme difficulty. I would 

30 say it is one of the most difficult emergencies 
of surgery. The patient is quite often in a mori-
bund condition and literally loses a very high 
fraction of her total blood volume. If the opera-
tion is successful, then the surgeon and staff are 
entitled to congratulate themselves highly on an 
excellent result. 
Q. As a surgeon, if in these circumstances a swab 
wore left in the body of the patient what would you 
say? 

No. 19 
E.R. Ormerod 
Examination. 
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Objection by Mrs. Kean, but now withdrawn as she 
misunderstood the question he originally put. 
A. I would say that under those conditions of 
extreme stress no element of carelessness existed 
on the part of the surgeon performing that opera-
tion. The nursing staff if they carried out their 
part of the routine cheek of the swabs and reported 
to the surgeon that the check was correct and the 
surgeon had made a rapid examination of the site 
in which he had been working and in which he knew 
he had deliberately placed a swab, I would say that 
under those conditions the surgeon could not be 
held responsible for any degree of carelessness. 
I would say that the nursing staff also shared in 
the conditions of speed and stress present on that 
occasion and that if they did carry out under those 
conditions their part of the procedure they should 
also be absolved of carelessness. This operation 
is one which requires a high degree of combination 
of dexterity and speed. With a moribund patient 
the life of the patient depends on those qualities 
in the surgeon. If the patient was "much better" 
before the abdomen was closed, I would say that 
that indicated that the surgeon had in fact achi-
eved the object he set out to achieve. He had 
succeeded in stopping the source of bleeding but 
that would not give the surgeon any right to take 
any liberties which might extend the time of the 
operation because such appearances of improvement 
are often only temporary appearances, i.e. having 
known the condition of•the patient a few minutes 
before the improvement, no surgeon of experience 
would trade on that improvement. Definitely he 
would not be justified in slowing the improvement 
up. Speed is of paramount importance, I think 
in the hands of an inexperienced and slow surgeon 
such a patient might die on the table. In a "cold" 
operation circumstances are of course entirely 
different. The surgeon would first remember exactly 
where he would put a swab or swabs or packs and 
when he had finished the operation under "cold" 
conditions he would remove those packs or swabs 
himself. He would then ask the theatre sister 
in charge of the case if her swab and pack count 
were correct. If she said "yes", he would then 
make a final examination and finding nothing pre-
sent he would finally close the abdomen. He would 
make an inspection by eye and he would feel with 
one hand the area in which he had been working. 
Under ordinary cold conditions it would be possible 

10 

20 

30 
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to make a soareh which would ho thorough. I would 
say that it would take tho best part of a minute 
if the area of operation is easily visible. In 
omcrgcncy conditions there would bo a very consider-
able- difference. I would expect an ordinary care-
ful surgeon in those particular conditions and under 
the conditions of this operation where the abdomen 
has recently boon full of blood and doubtless is 
still obscurod by blood clots which have a habit of 
reappearing right up to the last minute, I would 
expcct him to fool in tho position where he thought 
or remembered he had put a pack. I would then ex-
pect him to turn to the sister in charge and ask 
her if she was satisfied. I think he would always 
ask. If she volunteered the information that would 
render tho question unnecessary. I would then ex-
pect him to close the abdomen as rapidly as poss-
ible. I think Mr. Nevill went as far as he possibly 
could. I know Mr, Nevill personally very well. I 
regard his skill and capabilities as a surgeon as 
of a very high order. I have had experience of 
packs and swabs being left in an abdomen. In the 
event of a pack of Turkish towelling, the usual 
size is that of the one on the table. If a foreign 
body of that nature were left in among the coils of 
the intestine, I would expect trouble very shortly. 
I think it is impossible to be certain on a question 
of this sort. The circumstances surrounding its 
position relative to vital structures would deter-
mine the time factor in the onset of symptoms. In 
the case I have in mind, some 15 years ago a swab 
was left in the peritoneum and I think within a 
fortnight its presence was suspected. Within three 
weeks it was removed. There is an exception I 
think. First that the foreign body be outside a 
vital area, second that the conditions would be 
completely free of infection and it is possible 
under those conditions that the foreign body might 
bocomo what pathologists call "encysted", i.e. shut 
off entirely from vital process. If that condition 
came about I think it is impossible to fix a time 
limit to that process. It might remain shut off 
for all time. There might be no limits. If the 
adhesions shutting it off were broken down at a 
subsequent date it could then become a "new" for-
eign body. A subsequent operation could be a cause 
of suoh disturbance. 

50 

CROS S-EXAMINATION 
Cross-examined Kean. A foreign body 
would behave in an entirely different 

made of metal 
manner from a 
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Turkish towelling pack. I think all things are 
possible in the human body. I think even a Turkish 
towelling pack could remain encysted for all time. 
I agree that it is possible but not probable that 
Turkish towelling would remain encysted' for.all 
time. I would agree with text books that symptoms 
would normally be expected to manifest themselves 
within days or weeks. I have not come across a 
case in medical literature where Turkish towelling 
has been left in a body and symptoms have not mani- 10 
fested themselves within months. I am familiar as 
one can bo with literature on the subject. That is 
the only case of a swab being left in an abdomen 
that I know and the swab had to be removed in about 
three weekstime. You can't rule out possibilities 
of a pathological nature. They can be accidental. 
The reimplantation of Fallopian tubes is not an 
operation that can be called routine in the sense 
that it is practised very often. It is a cold 
operation. The uterus may be abdominal or pelvic. 20 
The operation is carried out in the abdomen rather 
than in the pelvis. The uterus is drawn up in the 
abdomen. I have performed the type of operation 
that Mr, Nevill performed on Mrs. Cooper I should 
think in my time 20 at the outside. It might be 
a little more. They were mostly successful. One 
died on the table and one of a complication that 
developed further on. The constitution of the 
patient would be a definite factor in the prospects 
of survival. The patient died on the table from 30 
haemorrhagic shock. The determining factor would 
be the amount of blood which was lost and the speed 
with which it was stopped. One patient might be 
able to lose more blood than another. Transfusions 
would be a most important factor. That is the func-
tion of one of several people. The anaesthetist 
quite frequently undertakes it. A great deal of 
skill would be required on the part of the anaes-
thetist. Resuscitation comes first and surgery 
second. I think the decision as to the time the 40 
operation takes place is most important. One per-
forms 10 cold operations to one emergency. That 
is my own figure. In hospital he would have a lar-
ger proportion. Surgeons vary in their functions. 
A surgeon who is a consultant, the number of emer-
gencies he would perform 1 in 10 I think would be 
a fair estimate. I think you have to take into 
account the whole context. You are working under 
conditions of stress. You are very much in the 
position of a captain at sea in a storm. Your rou- 50 
tine tends to be a bit displaced. I did not say it 
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would not "bo nogligcnco on the part of the surgeon 
if a swab wore overlooked in the body of Mrs.Cooper. 
I said it might not. It is possible that in at-
tempting to got a clear view of the area he would 
pack a swab down and forget where he put it under 
those conditions of stress. He might even fail to 
remember that he had put it there. That would be 
a packing swab. I think he would only be excused 
under conditions of extreme stress in failing to 

10 remember that he had in fact put it there. I can 
conceive another set of circumstances. I can ima-
gine that a swab might be placed in a certain posi-
tion and during the manipulations which are neces-
sary in this particular operation that swab could 
be displaced and it could become surrounded by 
coils of the gut. That would be any form of swab 
or pack. While he is mopping a mop would not and 
should not leave the surgeon's hand. I can conceive 
that suddenly he might decide to use it in another 

20 form, for packing. In a woman who is so dangerous-
ly ill it would be very meddlesome surgery to rum-
mage among those coils because that would be at-
tended by further shock. There is nothing else. In 
Mrs. Cooper's operation it would be difficult to 
know. For packing you might need 3 or 4; some-
times if the area is difficult you might need more. 
I think the final appeal would be to the swab count. 
If you used more swabs the ohances of one being 
left behind are possibly a little greater. I don't 

30 think I have heard of the way Mrs. Cooper's intes-
tines moved during the operation. I think a factor 
in determining negligence in failing to remove 
swabs is the condition of the patient immediately 
before the sewing up. If the anaesthetist were to 
warn the surgeon to get the patient.off the table 
that would be a relevant factor. If that factor 
was not present that would also be relevant. An 
assistant if one could be obtained would be a great 
help. I don't know if this operation was performed 

40 by Mr. Nevill without an assistant. I have heard 
who the anaesthetist was. I have been informed 
that someone was helping with the transfusion. If 
a surgeon has a reasonably qualified assistant the 
cares on his head are somewhat alleviated. I think 
it would have helped Mr. Nevill greatly to have 
had an assistant. If he could have got an assis-
tant his task would have been lessened. I know 
Dr. Wilson only very slightly. I would say he was 
a competent general practitioner. I have heard and 

50 seen that he did assist Mr. Nevill on many occas-
ions. I would say it could so happen that a pack 
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would move much more than one inch. I would not 
query it if Mr. Nevill said that they did not move 
more than one inch. I don't know the number of 
packs used for mopping in this operation. I don't 
know how long the operation took. I can imagine 
that it might be that the swabs were clearly vis-
ible. I think Mr. Nevill would be guided by the 
anaesthetist. He would satisfy himself in any 
event as to when to close the abdomen. The check 
in a hot operation would be completed in so far as 10 
it did not prejudice the patient's chances. I think 
the whole thing depends upon a proper conception of 
the whole circumstances. You cannot conceive the 
difficulties in an operation of this kind in which 
the surgeon has one objective and to insist on the 
routine "cold" checks being carried out and to in-
sist that no accident shall take place under those 
conditions is a tremendous lot to ask. If a pack 
was left in in the circumstances described by Mr. 
Nevill it was an accident. It may have been placed 20 
in a certain position and in view of the exigencies 
of the operation it could have been displaced. I 
can imagine that Mr. Nevill may honestly have 
thought that he put that number in. It is a vital 
duty of the theatre sister to count the swabs cor-
rectly. That means to account for all used and un-
used swabs that had been taken out for the parti-
cular operation. The number of used swabs checked 
with the unused swabs should add up correctly at 
the end. If a swab has been overlooked and the 30 
sister confirms that the count is correct that 
means she has made a mistake. I would expect the 
sister to count correctly in a "perfectly routine 
operation". When I am operating I know how many 
swabs I have in action at the time. I definitely 
know that. I generally know how many mopping swabs 
I have in hand. I don't think in an ordinary oper-
ation there would be more than two of this kind 
used for mopping. In this operation there might 
he several. I don't count the ones outside. The 40 
sister counts those. I relate my mental number to 
her count. That is my invariable practice. I think 
one knows the number which I have used for mopping. 
It would ultimately be the theatre sister's res-
ponsibility to give the answer ho-wever much help 
she had. If she had help she might have more time 
to give to the count. I think the presence or ab-
sence of care would depend on whether the anaes-
thetist had said that it was necessary to get the 
patient off. 1 think it could have influenced the 50 
position. A mistake would be more excusable in 
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10 

those circumstances. I have never operated at the 
European Hospital. It is a conversation which 
takes.place between herself and the surgeon. It is 
audible to those around the body. It is no secret. 
It is a vitally important part of the routine. In-
deed the consequences of leaving a swab in the body 
are so serious that a great deal of care must be 
used by all concerned to avoid it. In no case in 
which I have been concerned has a swab been left 
in the body. 

RE-EXAMINATION 
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Re-examined. I would say the loss of over six pints Re-Examination. 
of blood was a very severe loss. If bleeding was 
stopped within half a minute of the incision I would 
say that was highly expert. One would certainly 
need 3 or 4 mopping swabs for six pints. They would 
be wrung out and used again. To mop up two pints 
of blood if you use one swab after another without 
re-using you might use 10 - 15. It is quite pos-

20 sible 20 - 25 would have to be used. If those were 
being handled by the assistant surgeon I would not 
expect the surgeon to keep count of them. If used 
for mopping they would not have forceps attached. 
I think if the circumstances permitted forceps 
ought always to be applied to tapes. If packs used 
for restraining 1 think it is easy to miss anything 
under circumstances of stress such as those in which 
this operation took place. 

Mrs. Kean. I object. This does not arise out of 
30 cross-examination. 

Salter. Cross-examination was as to possibility 
of packs being lost. 
Court. This does arise out of cross-examination. 
A. It is possible for forceps to become detached. 
I would expect to find them as a rule outside the 
wound. The forceps would be lying on a towel often 
among other Spencer Wells. It might not be noticed 
that a forceps had come off. Having an assistant 
surgeon might in some respects lower the time fac-

40 tor of such an operation. It might enable the sur-
geon to proceed more quickly although the responsi-
bility for carrying out all procedures is still the 
responsibility of the surgeon doing the operation: 
with the aid of a good assistant he might be able 
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to go a little bit faster. It would never be a 
question of his going a little bit "easier". His 
responsibility remains the same. When I refer to 
a swab being "displaced" it would be I think one 
placed as a pack. The time of doing a check will 
depend on the efficient way the swabs have been 
laid out on the floor. I think the check might be 
more difficult in an emergency particularly of this 
nature than in a cold operation. I think there is 
more chance of accidental error c.u the part of the 10 
theatre sister rather than the surgeon or a combi-
nation of both. Under the conditions of this oper-
ation the atmosphere for the theatre sister and her 
difficulties are parallel with the surgeon's dif-
ficulties. She is in a harrassed position. She is 
very often harrassed by the surgeon himself. There 
would be a temptation for the surgeon to perform 
his check more quickly for the sake of the patient 
in an emergency. Under these circumstances if a 
surgeon has a mental note of the number and is as- 20 
sured by the theatre sister that the count is cor-
rect, I would say he is not required to do more 
than that. His mind would be at rest. I would say 
in this particular instance it compared very fav-
ourably with the ordinary practice of a careful 
surgeon. If in addition he makes a visual check 
and does something with his hand he has done all 
he could do. I do not think a reasonably careful 
surgeon could have done anything else. In the dif-
ficult circumstances he achieved considerable sue- 30 
cess. 

To Court. I think the fact that the surgeon was 
operating under considerable stress would place a 
greater responsibility on the theatre sister to see 
that the swab count was correct. Under those cir-
cumstances I can't imagine her the victim of an 
accidental error. 

EURTHER EXAMINATION 
Eurther 
Examination. 

Eurther 
Cross-
Examination. 

To Court Examined at request of YALlcooks I think 
such an accidental error would implj^'carelessness. 

EURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Eurther cross-examined Kean. I would hold the 
theatre sister ultimately responsible. I don't 
know what assistance she had. I don't know how 
much time she had. 

40 
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No.20 
EVIDENCE OF CHARLES FREDERICK BERMOT McCALDIN 

D.W.5 - CHARLES FREDERICK DERMOT McCALDIN, Christian 
sworn: 

I am Bachelor of Medicine, Trinity College, 
Dublin. I have been in practice in Kenya over 30 
years. I know of a case in which a swab has been 
left in a patient for a number of years. I assis-
ted at an abdominal operation in 1929 when an ap-
pendix was removed. Sometime in 1940 or afterwards, 
the patient came to see me and he brought with him 
a glass jar in which was a specimen. The patient 
is deceased. 
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No.20 
C.F.D. 
McCaldin -
Examination. 

Mrs. Kean objects - Hearsay. I sustain Mrs.Kean's 
objection. 
A. It was a globular mass about the size of a 
duck's egg. I couldn't swear as to its consistency. 
It is 20 years ago. I can't say whether it con-
tained any strands of fibre. I can't remember; I 
could not say what it was made of. 

20 Mrs. Kean. Section 32 Indian Evidence Act. None 
of these exceptions apply. 
I rule that evidence as to what was said by the 
deceased does not come within any of the exceptions 
mentioned in Section 32 of the Indian Evidence Act. 
A. That is the only case I have come across of a 
foreign body remaining for a number of years. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Cross-examined Kean. I don't know the literature Cross-
on the subject. . Examination. 

30 Adjourned to 2.20 p.m. 

2.20 p.m. 
No.21 No.21 

EVIDENCE OF CLIFFORD VINEY BRAIMBRIDGE ° 'Lamination?6 
D.V/.6 - CLIFFORD VINEY BRAIMBRIDGE, Christian sworn: 
Examined Salter. I am M.R.C.S. (England), L.R.C.P. 
'(London), B.A., B.M., B.Surgery, Cambridge Univer-
sity, P.R.C.S. (Edinburgh). I hold a diploma of 
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Tropical Medicine and Hygiene in London. I was 
qualified in 1916, joined R.A.M.C. in which I ser-
ved 4 years. I returned to St. Bartholomew's Hos-
pital where I was House Surgeon. I joined Colonial 
Medical Service of which I was a member for 35 years, 
the last 20 as senior surgical specialist. Since 
retiring I have been and am a Director of the Kenya 
European Hospital Association. As Director my du-
ties are to supervise the work being carried on in 
all three institutions. On 1st February 1956 when 10 
Mrs. Cooper was admitted I was in the European Hos-
pital, I saw her. I looked at her, saw she was 
nearly dead; although it was not my business I 
called Dr. Lawes to come at once and start a trans-
fusion. I did this because I knew the surgeon to 
whom she had been referred, Mr. Nevill, could not 
possibly arrive in time before she was dead. I 
saw her in the ward before the operation. Her con-
dition was very slightly improved in spite of the 
amount of blood which was being given to her. I 20 
was present at the operation, not all the time but 
in and out. It was a matter of interest because 
I had seen her when she came in and because it is 
my hospital. I was satisfied with the arrangements 
for the operation. There was no difference between 
the arrangements for this and a cold operation. The 
system for checking swabs in the European Hospital 
is the system which has been in use in my hospitals 
and theatres for 37 years. The instructions are 
that tapes should be attached to packing swabs. I 30 
call this (Exhibit 1) a pack. They are different 
from ordinary swabs. The regulations regarding 
tapes apply to this type (Exhibit 1). These packs 
are made in the workroom in the hospital, I insist 
to the best of my ability on the.regulations being 
carried out by inspection and personal observation 
when operating. In my hospital I have never known 
a pack of this kind being used without a tape. In 
other hospitals, yes. If a pack came into the 
theatre without a tape the theatre sister would 40 
discard it automatically. Mrs. Cooper's operation 
was of extreme emergency. I have only knownone 
similar emergency which I did myself. That was 
exactly the same operation. I regarded speed as 
paramount. I should think that the amount of blood 
Mrs. Cooper lost would be about the same amount as 
in the one I did. I could not see when Mr. Nevill 
arrested the haemorrhage the exact moment. I should 
think it was about a minute. I would say half a 
minute was well inside the record. I would have 50 
been in ana out when the mopping was done but I was 
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not standing closo to the table. I am not able to 
say how many packs wore used in the mopping procoss. 
In my operation I had someone assisting me in the 
surgical part of the operation. I would ask sister 
for a mop, wipe it round, hand it to sister or drop 
it on the floor. V/hon actually mopping there 
wouldn't bo need to let it out of my hand but I 
might let it out of my hand when it was in the body 
in order to seo whero the blood was coming from so 

10 as to soo where to put the next mop in. I might 
leave it to the end of the operation, but it would 
bo against my normal rule. In an operation of this 
kind anything might happen. I hope that would im-
print itself on my mind. If sister has not already 
put a forceps on the restraining swab I would put 
one on. According to the particular size needed 
I fold it. I can't remember how many restraining 
swabs I used. Three would be the normal number. 
I remove the packs which to the best of my know-

20 ledge and belief I put in. By this time sister has 
told me if the count is correct or not. If the count 
is correct I start to sew up the abdomen. If she 
has not told me anything I ask her but she always 
has told.me in my theatre. Where a lot of mopping 
swabs are used I think it might be very difficult 
for a surgeon to remember how many were used. I 
would not try myself. In an emergency as compared 
with a "cold" operation, I do not vary my routine 
with regard to asking the sister before I sew up. I 

30 would definitely vary the speed with which I check. 
When I had remembered all the ones I was conscious 
of having put in I should do no more. I would not 
feel around or have a look if the sister told me 
the count was correct. I have a normal routine of 
how and where I put in packs for an abdominal oper-
ation of this nature. Normally I put in three. 
There are exceptions. I cannot remember if I was 
present at that stage of Mr. Nevill's operation. I 
think Mr. Nevill did more than was necessary in 

40 making a visual check and feeling around. It is a 
bad thing to do a manual search even in a cold case. 
Nothing causes more shock than handling bowels. I 
regard Mr. Nevill as an extremely efficient, com-
petent and experienced surgeon. If in the circum-
stances of this operation a swab has been left in, 
I would as a surgeon, to put it bluntly, say that 
it was a bit of bad luck, nothing else. In the 
circumstances of this operation I think there is 
no reason why it should cast any reflection on any-

50 one concerned in the operation in the absence of 
other evidence, e.g. that the surgeon was drunk. 
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In the circumstances that I saw there was nothing 
to suggest a reflection on the surgeon or staff. 
The removal of 7 feet of small intestine would 
have no effect. 12 feet to 15 feet would have to 
be removed to affect the digestion. I know of a 
case of a patient left with 1 foot who is leading 
a reasonably happy and healthy life, I have had 
experience of abdominal packs being left in the 
body. I had two cases at least. The first case 
was a woman from whom I removed an ovarian cyst in 10 
1931. Nineteen years later I operated on her for 
the removal of another ovarian cyst and I found a 
small pack inside her abdomen. In 'those days we 
used smaller packs than these. It was perhaps a 
little smaller than X.I., (the smaller). It is a 
long time ago (demonstrates 2/3rd). This is the 
sort of material I used since I started surgery in 
Kenya in 1921. The second case was more recent -
194-7. It was a straightforward abdominal operation 
done cold in my own theatre with my own trained 20 
staff at every possible advantage. The operation 
was apparently successful. I went on leave 3 months 
later and when I returned I saw the patient who 
showed me an abdominal scar. This was three or four 
months after the first operation. In the first case 
the swab was found alongside the uterus. It is not 
uncommon for foreign bodies in the abdomen to be 
surrounded and walled off by the omentum. It was 
surrounded. Any foreign body left in the abdomen 
is surrounded automatically by "omentum". This is 30 
a curtain of fat lying on the top of the bowels 
like an eiderdown. It keeps the bowels comfort-
able and warm. If Mrs. Cooper had pain in April, 
May and October 1956 material could have been in 
the body for years. As a surgeon I would not be 
satisfied that it had come from Mr, Nevill's opera-
tion. 

Examined Wilcock. I know of no more infallible 
method of checking packs than that in use at the 
European Hospital. I know Nurse Smith. She is a 40 
very competent nurse. The duties of a "dirty" nurse 
are to empty and change lotion bowls, to pick out 
used swabs from bowls in which they have been put 
or from the floor on which they have been dropped, 
An operation of the nature performed by Mr. Nevill 
would throw an additional burden on the "dirty" 
nurse only by reason of the enormous number of 
swabs that would be used. I know Sister Banks very-
well. I think she is the most competent and con-
scientious theatre sister who has ever worked for 50 
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me. I have frequently operated when Sister Banks 
and Nurse Smith worked together as a team and there 
would always be more than those two. In carrying 
out an abdominal operation I would have complete 
confidence in them as likely to do their job prop-
erly. During an abdominal operation the theatre 
sister in charge's duty is to put the instruments 
on the tahle. If there is an assistant surgeon 
hor duty is to hand the surgeon what instruments 

10 he requires, to hand him mops and swabs as and 
when he asks for them, to keep a check on the num-
ber of swabs and packs used, to thread needles and 
do anything else she is asked to do. In an opera-
tion of Mr. Nevill's type there would be a greater 
burden on her than in a cold operation because 
everything would have to be done in double quick 
time. In my theatre and in most theatres the swabs 
and packs are lined up on the floor or table or on 
hooks. Before she reports to the surgeon she asks 

20 the dirty nurse if the count is correct. If she 
says yes, she recounts herself. Then she reports 
to the surgeon. She also checks with the clean 
packs. That is all that is required of a normal 
skilled nurse. We have a series of operations in 
one afternoon. The soiled packs are removed from 
the theatre after the patient is wheeled out. If 
a patient were returned to the theatre the theatre 
would he cleaned up and the soiled packs removed 
in the interim. Soiled packs are taken outside 

30 to the sluice room after the operation is completed. 
I shouldn't think the theatre sister in charge 
would count the soiled packs. It would not be the 
usual duty of a theatre sister to count such soiled 
packs. If she did she would be extremely con-
scientious. 
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CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Cross-examined Xean. The first operation, on the Cross-
1947 case, was one I performed. It was "cold". I Examination, 
don't recollect how many packs I used. It was 

40 probably three. If it was a pack I left inside I 
would say it was a piece of bad luck. It was not a 
pack that I left inside. There were no emergency 
features at that operation. I don't feel my trai-
ned staff would be in any way to blame. It is my 
opinion that anyone might have a cold operation and 
have a pack left behind and that it would be bad 
luck. I am not aware of it being standard proce-
dure in some hospitals after the patient is sewn 
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up for a second check to be made. I would agree 
it would be an extra safeguard. I consider it un-
necessary to introduce this safeguard in the hos-
pitals which I control. I am aware that the risk 
of a swab being left in the body of a patient is 
very great and the effects may be very serious or 
even fatal. I do consider it the duty of all con-
cerned to take elaborate and stringent precautions. 
It would be not too much trouble to count six times 
but I don't think it is necessary. It is just my 10 
opinion that the count by the dirty nurse and the 
count by the theatre sister is enough. I recollect 
Mr. Cooper coming to discuss this matter with me. 
I don't recollect saying to him that there had been 
another case of a swab being left in a patient and 
that I had advised the young husband to hush it up. 
I never said such a thing. I would never advise 
such a thing to be hushed up. The only direct 
evidence I have is of the cases with which I myself 
was concerned. In this type of operation the less 20 
the intestine is played about with the better for 
the patient. It is impossible to express an opi-
nion whether I would be content having counted to 
myself and had an assurance from the sister in an 
emergency operation whether I would be content 
without further exploration. I could not possibly 
say exactly what I would do. It depends on the 
circumstances of each operation. I suppose I have 
done 40 or 50 operations for ruptures of ectopic 
gestations. Tho amount of blood in operations of 30 
that kind is unbelievable. About 25 were complete 
ruptures. I don't think any died on the table. I 
remember one now but oould not give an answer with-
out my notes. The great majority were successful. 
It is not part of my routine to make a search after 
I have counted myself and had an assurance. I do 
not consider that a search is necessary as a matter 
of routine in all cases. I consider it unnecessary 
and inadvisable. If it is done in every case it is 
unnecessary in my opinion. If a surgeon as a mat- 40 
ter of routine makes a search by eye and hand I 
think he is a more careful surgeon than I am. If 
the bowels are pushed about a lot it is inadvisable. 
If they are moved gently for a peep it is not in-, 
advisable. I don't attempt even a gentle search as 
a matter of routine. I agree it would be more in-
advisable to make a search as a matter of routine 
in a "hot" than in a "cold11 operation. I read my 
books. I see other surgeons operating. We all 
make a search at the site of the operation. I would 50 
of course make a search in the place where I thought 
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I had put packs. In my previous answers I thought 
I was asked if I would search all around the abdo-
men. If I was not satisfied with a look I would 
put a hand in as well. I should as a matter of 
routine make a manual search of the area where I 
had put in packs. One has to push things out of 
the way. A general search of the whole abdomen 
might take a quarter of an hour. I cannot remember 
at what stage in this operation I was in and out. 

10 I was in when the abdomen was opened. I can't re-
member being in at any particular phase. I can't 
remember any particular thing being done by the 
nurses, I should have noticed if they had not 
boon carrying out their duties according to plan. 
That is my job. I would not have noticed if they 
had not carried out their duties by miscounting 
swabs. I should have noticed if they were handing 
things to the surgeon as they should and carrying 
out the general routine. I should not have stood 

20 over their shoulders and counted the swabs with 
them. Half an hour would be a reasonable time to 
prepare the theatre for the operation. I would not 
ho prepared to express a definite opinion. 
Adjourned to 10.30 a.m. on 31st January 1958. 
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B.R. Miles, J. 
31st January 1958. 
D.W.6 - further cross-examined Mrs. Kean. 

If I were operating I would not hesitate at 
all before I cut out 8 feet of the small intestine. 

30 One naturally would not remove it unnecessarily. 
If it were not absolutely necessary it would not 
be desirable because it would be an unnecessary 
operation. By inadvisable I mean that it would he 
undesirable as an unnecessary operation not from 
the point of view of the patient's future. It would 
not bo undesirable because she was left with that 
amount less spare. On the contrary it might be 
advantageous. There would be less intestine to 
suffer from diarrhoea. I disagree that the removal 

40 of that amount of bowel or that part of the bowel 
would necessarily have the effect of causing loose 
stools. It is not very likely to have that effect. 
There is nothing impossible in the human frame. 
Even if there were loose stools as a-result of the 
excision of that amount of intestine, I cannot see 
that it would do any harm. It might be advantag-
eous becauso there is less bowel to go wrong. It 
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might be an excellent thing for all of us to have 
7 feet less of intestine to go wrong. Up to 12 
feet could be removed without any harm. It is 
undesirable to remove anything which is unneces-
sary because of the risk of the operation itself. 
It would be undesirable because it would lengthen 
the operation. There is no other reason except 
the time and risk for saying it is undesirable. 
I form the opinion that it is undesirable without 
any reason. I was not aware of the opinions of 10 
Mr. Barber, Dr. Thompson and Dr. Dockeray. I would 
say that they are reasonably competent and know-
ledgeable in their respective functions. I can 
only state from my own personal experience and 
opinion. I do not know who makes the packs in the 
European Hospital. It is very important that they 
should be properly made. It is under the control 
of my matron in whom I have the greatest confid-
ence. This does not enter into my direct office. 
I leave it to the matron. I do this in the other 20 
hospitals. I do not supervise in any way the 
making of packs. I frequently go into the work-
rooms where I presume the packs are made. I do not 
go into the workrooms for the purpose of inspecting 
the packs. I look at a cupboard in the theatre 
periodically which contains packs and swabs. I 
test them to see if they are properly made. I do 
not examine packs when they are on the table before 
I use them. When they are put in my hand I look 
at them before I put them in the body to make sure 30 
the tape is all right. That is always my practice. 
I would not use a paok without a tape unless there 
was an emergency and I could not wait. A pack with-
out a tape would and should be discarded by the 
sister automatically. 7. do not think any sister 
would hand me a pack without a tape. If a sister 
should do such a thing she would be failing in her 
duty. It might be necessary for reasons which I 
have given for a swab used for mopping to leave 
my hand. If there is a lot of blood in the cavity 40 
you might be using a mop and you might leave that 
particular mop over a bleeding point to slow up 
the flow of blood while you mopped in the adjacent 
area. It would not be a most unusual thing to do. 
It would not be against my normal rule. It would 
be held by my assistant while I continued mopping. 
It might be left in the cavity without someone 
holding it. It would not be against my normal rule. 
It might not have a forceps attached to it if it-
had been inserted primarily for mopping and it 50 
were found advantageous to leave it there for an 
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approciablo measure of tine. There- is no differ-
ence between a mopping swab or a packing swab. It 
might bo used for one thing or the other according 
to the cxigencics of the situation. Ono might pick 
up a pack for one purpose but when one finds what 
is going on in the abdomen one might use it for the 
other purpose. It might be anything. I don't 
agree that the only way in which it would be prop-
erly left in would be if I decided" to use it as a 

10 restraining swab. It might be left in to the end 
of the operation otherwise than for restraining, 
for staunching the blood from a bleeding point. I 
can't think of any other'purpose but I am not pre-
pared to say definitely. It would not be against 
my normal rulo if it were left in for staunching 
tho blood in this sort of operation. A pack like 
that might be overlooked but not easily. It would 
not be less likely to be left in without anybody 
holding it if I had an assistant. It would make no 

20 difference. Personally I think it is improbable 
that one would forget a swab left in for mopping. 
I think it would imprint itself on my mind just as 
any other pack which I used had I forgot any pack. 
It might be normal routine to leave a swab used 
for mopping inside the body until the end of the 
operation. I would not describe this a3 a routine 
uso of a mopping swab. If I seize a swab and use 
it for mopping it would not leave my hand. But if 
I see a bleeding point I might leave the mop in-

30 side to stop bleeding. One or two packs would be 
left in the abdomen for stopping bleeding. I would 
try to keep count of those. It is vital to pay 
special attention to every act one makes during an 
operation, not one more than another. I would not 
pay special attention to the packs which I had left 
in without tapes and clips hanging out. Leaving a 
pack to staunch would only be necessary if blood 
was flowing, not necessarily a considerable amount 
but quite .a lot. It is a question of. degree. There 

40 might be another flow of blood in this case although 
the flow had been held. I do not know whether there 
was in this case. I would make a search in the area 
in which the operation was carried out but not in the 
whole abdominal cavity. There are a number of pla-
ces in which packs might have to be placed. I would 
have routine places in which to place packs in a 
cold operation, but not in an operation of this sort. 
The process of removing the so-called restraining 
packs would be accompanied by a search for any other 

50 packs or swabs or forceps or any other instruments 
or articles which may have been used during the 
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operation. I should and do search within the area 
of the operation. I do not explore the whole ab-
dominal cavity which would be dangerous and unwar-
ranted. I mean the whole area with which I had 
interfered during the course of my activities. I 
would call mopping an interference in the course 
of my activities. The search would be in the whole 
area where mopping had taken place. Mrs, Cooper 
was lying on a bed. The blood would be mostly 
confined to the pelvis because it is in the pelvis 10 
that the female organs lie. When it comes to the 
count I think it is understandable that if the an-
aesthetist told me the patient must be got off the 
table I would have to do my count as quickly as 
possible. If he did not I would have more time. 
Getting off the table is different from sewing up. 
It would not require an effort to remember the 
mopping swabs left in. I would do it automatically. 
I would take out automatically the number of swabs 
left in. In an operation like Mrs. Cooper's it is 20 
the same area where restraining packs and mopping 
packs are put in. The organs are moving all the 
time. I have performed many similar operations. I 
think the number I gave was 25. I have only known 
one patient who came into my hospital moribund. I 
don't know. Mrs. Cooper's condition just before the 
incision was made. The bleeding point was at the 
cornu of the uterus. I did not see it. That is 
hearsay. I don't know where the foetus was found. 
I don't know the technical details of this opera- 30 
tion." I know them by hearsay. As far as I under-
stand, the abdomen was opened, a rupture was found 
in the uterus and the foetus was floating loose in 
a sea of blood in the abdominal cavity, the large 
artery in the uterus which was bleeding was seized, 
blood mopped out, foetus removed, the uterus sewn 
up and the abdominal wall closed. That is the rou-
tine of operations of this nature. I don't know 
exactly where the foetus was found. I did not in-
form myself. The blood might only be in the lower 4-0 
part of the abdomen. The restraining packs would 
be placed in the lower part of the abdomen. That 
would push the guts out of the pelvis and lower 
abdomen in order that the operation area would be 
visible. They must be above the operation .area. 
The mopping would be done where the restraining 
packs are. You would not put in restraining packs 
until you had done the mopping. When mopping is 
done one starts at the bottom of the pelvis holding 
the bowels behind the restraining mops and lifting 50 
the bowels upwards with the restraining mops. The 
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restraining mops start at the "bottom and ascend. 
Tho mopping might he done outside the "boundaries 
of where tho restraining packs ondod their migra-
tion. I might or might not mako a search outside 
that area. It would depend on what I had done 
previously. I could not say whether it would "be 
necessary in that particular operation. It is part 
of my education to know tho medical literature on 
the subject of the time a swab left in a patient 

10 would show symptoms. I would say that that is the 
most likely state of affairs that symptoms would 
appear within days, weeks or months. I have no 
limit to set. It is not likely to be days or weeks 
than months. The no3t likely period according to 
medical literature I agree is not more than 12 
months. I know of a case in medical literature 
where symptoms manifested themselves after 12 
months. It would take me a month to find out. I 
have read of such a case. I can't remember the 

20 type of swab or where it was left. I have been on 
the editorial board of the British Journal of Sur-
gery. It might well have been in an article sub-
mitted for publication. I would not regard it as 
unusual. Foreign bodies of different substances 
can react in different ways. Some bodies are elec-
trically composod and would cause different reac-
tions. I would agree that metal bodies can remain 
slightly more innocuous than other bodies. It is 
common knowledge that metals remain in people for 

30 a long time without causing disturbances. I would 
say it was possible not likely. It would not be 
improbable. It would not be answered in a loud 
voice but a moderate voice that the swab count was 
correct. It would be answered so that people round 
the patient can hoar. This is routine in the the-
atres of which I have had control. It is the rou-
tine in the theatre of the European Hospital. Sis-
ter Banks knows. I regard the standard of my the-
atres as particularly high. I only employ very 

40 competent people. I have no reason to think other-
wise than that the theatre was properly prepared, 
before the operation. There would always be a 
sufficient supply of Turkish towelling packs avail-
able. If there were no medical man acting as an 
assistant one of the theatre staff would do the 
job, not necessarily the sister in charge of the 
operation. It would depend on the wishes of the 
surgeon who was operating. Some surgeons would 
like the theatre sister to undertake those tasks, 

50 some would not. The theatre sister would be able 
to perform those tasks competently. If she were 
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performing those tasks she would still have the 
final responsibility in the counting of the swabs. 
I cannot remember whether I saw Mrs. Cooper after 
the operation on the same day. ' I don't know whether 
she was able to talk. I call only socially on pati-
ents who are not my patients. The packs are packed 
in drums in specific numbers. I don't know how many 
packs we had in the drums at the European Hospital. 
The theatre staff put them in the drums. Not Afri-

C.V.Braimbridge cans. The packs are put in cupboards first. From 10 
- Cross- the cupboards they are put in drums when required. 
Examination - They are counted when they go into the cupboards 
continued. and they are counted when they go into the drums. 

I have not laid down any routine as to how many 
people count them before they go into the drums. I 
can well believe that it is routine in some hos-
pitals for two people to count them. The drums 
are put in a sterilizer and the contents sterilized. 
The next count is when they are taken from the 
drums when required for an operation and placed on 20 
the instrument table. This may be some days later. 
In each drum there are packs tied in bundles. I am 
not certain if the number is the same in each bundle. 
I haven't laid down any routine a„s to that. They are 
counted individually not in bundles on the table. 
I would suspect that they are always the same num-
ber. I have not laid it down in writing but I may 
have verb-ally when I took over. I might not men-
tion minor details if I thought theatre sister was 
competent, which I did. The number of bundles in 30 
a drum would not be counted because drums are of 
different sizes. I have not given instructions as 
to whether Turkish towelling packs are to be laid 
out in bundles before an operation. I do operate 
in the European Hospital. When I operate I have 
observed that they are laid out in piles. I think 
there is only one pile of packs on the table for 
one operation. They are always laid out in bundles. 
I can't say what the number of packs is laid out 
before I begin to operate. I do not count the packs 40 
used and unused at the end of the operation. In a 
cold operation it is quite normal to use large packs 
for mopping. Some surgeons won't use small swabs 
at all because they think it is safer to use large 
packs. I have performed thousands of operations 
where I have not used large packs for mopping. 
Where I have used packs only for restraining pur-
poses, I do not check the number of packs after-
wards by reference to the number of used or unused 
packs. I rely on my memory of the ones I have used 50 
and secondly on the theatre sister's count. 
Adjourned to 2.15 p.m. 
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2.15 p.m. 
D.W.6 - further cror •examined Mrs. Kean. 

I have no reason to think otherwise than that 
adequate staff was present in the theatre at Mrs. 
Cooper's operation. I cannot remember who v;as pre-
sent . 
Sister 

rate. Some 
I prefer 

taste. I 
packs or 
of my 

I would say that Sister Banks, Nurse Smith, 
Poarco, an assistant surgeon, an anaesthe-

tist and Dr. Robertson-Glasgow would be an ample 
staff. Each person would be able properly to per-

10 form his or her duties in his or hor own particular 
sphere. In a hot operation everything must be done 
in double quick time. I don't think there would be 
any need to count swabs in double quick time by the 
nursing staff; I was referred to the operation. I 
can quite understand that the normal procedure of 
rinsing out packs would not be possible when so 
many packs would bo required at a rapid 
surgeons profor packs rinsed in saline, 
them dry. It is a matter of individual 

20 don't lay down any routine for coutning 
swabs during the operation. To the best 
knowledge and belief at the European Hospital the 
swabs and packs are laid out in rows on a mackin-
tosh on the floor in a corner of the theatre. In 
fact they are so laid out; the dirty nurse lays 
them out. She gets them (a) from buckets on the 
floor, (b) on the floor itself when the surgeon 
has missed the bucket, (c) from the hands of the 
sister in charge, (d) from outside the sterilised 

30 area where they may have been pushed during the 
manipulations of the operation or dropped from the 
surgeon's hands. As far as I am aware they are 
placed in rows. I don't know the exact number in 
a row. I think it is usually ten - I am not sure. 
I issue no instructions. I think finger swabs are 
in bundles of ten but I don't know. I don't know 
if the number of dirty swabs in groups bear any 
relation to the number of clean swabs. I think it 
might be easier if each were laid out in the same 

40 numberclean or dirty. The dirty ones on the 
floor are counted by the dirty nurse and recounted 
by the sister in charge. The clean swabs are 
counted by the sister in charge on her table. I 
don't know if anyone else counts them. I have heard 
of the system of a blackboard being used. I don't 
like it because I consider it adds an extra ele-
ment of error. There is the possibility of an in-
correct marking on the board. Somebody might write 
down 11 and count 10. We used the system where 

50 there is a rack which is filled then it is crossed 
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off on the blackboard. We discarded this as un-
satisfactory . That was in the original native 
hospital of Nairobi before the time of King George. 
The system now in force dispenses with the mecha-
nical aids. There is too much danger in mechanical 
aids. It is essential to have sufficient theatre 
staff available to count without meehnical aid 
properly. At the Europe,an Hospital I would not 
like to express an opinion as to the proportion of 
emergency to non-emergency operations. I can give 
no idea of the relative proportions of the opera-
tions I have performed. An emergency operation is 
not an unusual occurrence in the European General 
Hospital. I don't know how many emergency opera-
tions are performed in a week at the European 
General Hospital. There is no difference between 
the treatment of an emergency from a non-emergency 
operation as regards the theatre staff. It would 
be their duty to perform their functions in the 
same way. All routine has to be carried out the 
same. The counting of swabs would be carried out 
in the some way. 

RE-EXAMINATION 

10 

20 

Re-Examination. Re-examined. I know there is a routine for the 
making of packs and bringing them out. The minor 
details of the routine would be laid down by the 
theatre sister and for the matron. It is the matron 
who would be responsible with a competent theatre 
sister, it would be left to her. The matron would 
be responsible for seeing that that routine was 
kept to. The matron would get any complaint first 
that the routine had broken down. She would dis-
cuss it with me. I have had no discussions on 
this with this particular matron of this particular 
hospital. In an adbominal operation non-emergency 
she is standing at the side of the surgeon handing 
him swabs, packs, instruments as and when asked 
for, threading needles. In a not very severe 
operation in which there is not a second sister-
scrubbed up, she might even be asked to retract, 
apart from the job at all times of keeping the 
numbers of the swabs. I would not expect her to 
relax. If I thought I had left a swab in the 
patient on whom I had operated this morning I 
should be worried stiff and would not sleep. I 
would still think it was bad luck. I would think 
that everything humanly possible to avoid such a 
catastrophe had been done. I must have performed 
thousand of abdominal operations. I can only speak 

30 

40 
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of ny experience which is two casos of packs left 
"behind in my lifetime. I cannot remember perfor-
ming an operation of this type 011 a patient in bed. 
I cannot remember performing an abdominal operation 
on a patient in bod. It would mako a considerable 
difference as to where the blood would go because 
an operation table has cortain gadgets which enable 
the table to bo moved into certain positions which 
make it more easy to perform any specified opera-

10 tion. In this type of operation sometimes the 
patient is tilted, but only after the abdomen is 
open, with the head downwards. The reason is that 
the female organs are enclosed in the pelvis, which 
is tho baso formed by the hip bones. Normally this 
is also occupied by bowels. If the body is tilted 
the bowels tend to fall up towards the chest so 
enabling the female organs to be seen. If there 
is no tilt the operation is more difficult becauso 
the bowels come down and obscure the site of the 

20 operation despite the restraining packs. The ap-
pendix does not perform any useful purpose so far 
as is known. It is a frequent custom to remove the 
appendix at the same time as another operation, but 
I would not adviso its removal as a precautionary 
measure. If Mr. Nevill held the bleeding part in 
his left hand and that was the only bleeding point, 
it would not be necessary for him to let go the 
mop. If thoro were a bleeding point which I could 
not catch with my hand or forceps I would apply a 

30 swab and pross on it, but I would not know until I 
got inside what I was going to use the swab for. 
I should remove clots with my gloved hand without 
using a pack. I should use a pack in the same way 
(demonstrates). A pack would catch small clots 
which one could not catch with ones fingers. It is 
normal practice to use packs to remove clots in the 
scooping way I have described. 
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40 Salter. My friend, Mr. Wilcock, is calling Sister 
Molloy. If I can adopt her evidence as part of my 
case that is the case for the first defendant. 

It is agreed that the issues so far as the 
first defendant is concerned are wide enough to 
cover the negligence, if any, of Dr. Wilson. 
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Wilcock. I rely on cases cited by Mr. Salter. 
Scott L.J. in Mahon v. Osborne p.540 - "Positive 
evidence of noglect of duty is surely needed". Van 
Wyk v. Lewis - "Plaintiff must show an absence of 
such care as under the circumstances it was the 
duty of tho defendant to have observed during the 
performance of the operation". 
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No. 23 
EVIDENCE OE MARY MACKENZIE MOLLOY 

D.W.7 - MARY MACKENZIE MOLLOY, Christian sworn: 10 
Examined Wilcock. I am a State Registered nurse. 
I have been nursing years. I am now employed 
as a sister at the New European Hospital. I have 
been there 19 months. I was present in the opera-
ting theatre when Mr. Barber performed an operation 
on Mrs. Cooper. I assisted Mr. Barber. I took the 
part a house surgeon would take at an operation. I 
remember a portion of intestine being removed from 
the patient. It was taken into the sluice. I did 
not see it again until the operation was over. I 20 
don't remember seeing the dissected part of intest-
ine in the sluico. I saw another specimen in a 
bowl in the sluice. The sluice is immediately off 
the operating theatre. It looked like a piece of 
Turkish towelling. I lifted it up. I can't re-
member how. It was roughly 7" x 9". I can't re-
member whether it had hemmed edges. I did not 
notice a tape. I lifted it up in my fingers and I 
think had there been a tape I would have seen it. 
I don't recall any convorsation about a tape. I 30 
don't remember whether Sister Banks was present at 
the time, I don't think she was. It was thrown 
away. I cannot say by whom or when. Since I have 
been at the hospital I have attended many opera-
tions at the theatre. I know the procedure con-
cerning the provision of packs for an operation. 
Packs are made up in bundles of three. It doesn't 
vary. The packs are laid one on mop of the other 
and then rolled up. There are always three - (Ex-
hibit X), (demonstrates). They would be checked 40 
to see that all had tapes. All the tapes would be 
at the same corner. That is the quite invariable 
practice. A bundle has never contained 4 to 5 
packs to my knowledge. One of the sisters rolls 
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up tho packs. It has never happened that 4 packs 
have been rolled up. They are first rolled up in 
a bundle of throe either when they are brought to 
the theatre now or when they are washed and dried. 
They would come new from the sewing room in the 
hospital. A European is in charge of the sewing 
room. Tho Africans bring them in when they have 
been dried. They are placed in a drum in the 
theatre until sister who is to make thorn up into 
bundles is free. When made up in bundles of three 
they are placed in a cupboard in the theatre where 
the reserve stock is kept. They are placed by 
sister into a drum which is kept for abdominal 
packs or else they are made up into a laparotomy 
sot. The laparotomy sot is also in a drum. The 
drum contains all the dressings while they are 
being sterilised and keeps them sterile. They are 
again checked before they are placed in the drum. 
They remain in the drum until needed for an opera-
tion. They are removed from a drum with a pair 
of sterile forceps by one of the theatre staff, 
one of the sisters. They are 
which is being mado up for an 
required during an operation, 
straight into the theatre and 
It is not possible to check them 
taken out of tho drum. When the 

placed on a trolley 
operation or if re-
they are taken 
placed on a trolley, 

when they are 
sister begins to 

prepare for 
packs or if 
atro she 
used the 
would be 

her 
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case, she checks the bundles of 
hey arc taken straight into the the-

immediately checks them. Before they are 
sister taking the case checks them. They 
dropped separately one after the other on 

to the trolley. They are always checked like that, 
never by looking at the corners. It is the duty 
of the "dirty" nurse to collect the used packs. 
She lays out both swabs and packs on a mackintosh. 
Swabs are laid out singly in a row until 12 are 
laid out. There are 12 swabs in a bundle. After 
12 dirty swabs are laid out the dirty nurse picks 
them up and places them in a pail on the mackintosh. 
The sister usually asks her to check them. If she 
doesn't she usually reports to the sister in charge 
of the case that there are 12 there. In all cases 
the dirty nurse reports to the sister before put-
ting them in the bucket. Packs are laid out on the 
mackintosh singly until there are three. The dirty 
nurse counts them and reports to sister that there 
are three. All three are brought together in a 
little pile on the mackintosh. They are not put 
in a pail. The dirty nurse collects them with 
forceps. She lays them not spread out. If there 
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are more than three again they are laid out singly 
until three .are accumulated. When there are three, 
they are placed in a separate pile. It is the in-
variable practice. I have never seen anything else 
done. At the close of ran abdominal operation sis-
ter will check the swabs on the floor and the swabs 
on her trolley by counting herself first and then 
the dirty nurse also counts the swabs on the floor. 
The dirty nurse usually repeats the number on the 
floor to the sister. If the sister is satisfied 
that the number is correct she reports to the sur-
geon that the swabs are correct. That does not 
include swabs and packs. If packs are used she 
will say, "the swabs and paoks are correct". Once 
the patient has left the theatre the swabs are re-
moved from the theatre. They arc not in normal 
circumstances counted again. Packs are washed, 
driod and used again. They arc not normally coun-
ted again before they are washed. 

Examined Salter. This (Y) is not a pack. It is a 
face flannel. It is finer material and not hem-
stitched. It has no tape. The piece of Turkish 
towelling I saw was of this material (X). The 
smallest of this (X) is too small. Either this 
(X.l) or this (Exhibit l) would be about the size. 
It was lying in the bottom of a bowl. There was 
someone with me. I don't remember who it was. I 
think it was Sister King. I cannot be sure. She 
is now Mrs. Grant-Smith. As far as I can remember 
I did not spread it out. When sister checks the 
unused packs on the trolley she leaves them loose. 
She does not fold them up. When they are used for 
mopping they are always used wet in a sterile 
solution. I wring them out and I remove as much 
moisture as possible. If they are being used as 
a restraining pack I make sure that the tape is 
free. The surgeon may take it from my hands or if 
he is not quite ready for it I would lay it on top 
of the sterile towels on the table on top of the 
patient. I may attach the Spencer Wells clips or 
the surgeon may attach then but; there would be a 
clip attached. If the surgeon did not hold out his 
hand for the forceps I would attach the clip my-
self. I make sure a pack is never used as a re-
straining pack unless it has a clip. It is my 
training I have worked with Mr. Nevill as theatre 
sister. Pie is very particular that a pack used as 
a restraining pack is always fitted with a tapo 
and clip. 
Adjourned to 10.30 a.m. on 3rd February 1958. 

B.R. Miles, J. 
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3rd February 1958. 
CROSS-EXAMINATION 

D.W.7 - oroas-oxaninod Mrs. Kean: 
There is probably one emergency operation in 

the European Hospital theatre every night. Some 
nights wo havo two. Routine operations are perfor-
med from 8.30 to 1 o'clock and 2 o'clock to 5 p.m. 
The organisation is well equipped to cope with 
these operations. The duties of the assistant sur-

10 goon which a sister might have to perforin would be 
to assist the surgeon to hold artery forceps while 
the surgeon is tying an artery, occasionally to tie 
ligatures or to cut ligatures, to hold retractors. 
A sister would novor have a pack in her hands. The 
duty of the sister taking the case would bo to hand 
instruments required to the surgeon and ligatures 
and swabs; if there was an assistant surgeon she 
would thread noodles. Lotion bowls are the duties 
of the dirty nurse. Her duty 

20 accurate count of tho swabs. 
assist in holding rctractors. 
to count the swabs whether there was an assistant 
surgeon or not. If we have warning of an emergency 
we say we can have the theatre ready in 30 minutes. 
If a case comes straight from the casualty ward it 
takes 5 minutes to boil the water. Another sister 
could be setting the trolley in 5 minutes. If we • 
were warned at 3 the theatre would be ready at 3.30. 
In my experience I have not come across a surgeon 

30 who does not approve of the practice of having 
tapes on packs. I have never come across any sur-
geon who might cut off tapes. The routine for 
counting packs would be the same for an emergency 
operation as in an ordinary operation. It would 
not be part of the training or instructions of a 
sister that she would count the packs more quickly 
in an emergency operation. 

would bo to keep an 
She might be asked to 
It would be her duty 
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RE-EXAMINATION 
Re-examined. I have seen two perhaps three other 

40 operations at the European Hospital carried out in 
a bed. One was an amputation of a limb, the other 
was multiple injuries, both following accidents. 
One died, one was in hospital for six months.• I 
have never seen an emergency operation where 9"s 
pints of liquid have been put in a patient. I have 
never seen a case where blood was taken out of a 
patient, cleaned and put in the patient in one of 

Re-Examination. 
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these operations. A surgeon very seldom asks for 
instruments. She knows the course of an operation 
and knows what is going to be needed next. She 
will have to watch all the time. In a serious 
abdominal operation it makes no difference to the 
sister in charge that there is an assistant sur-
geon present. Her duties are exactly the same. 
Usually she hands instruments and packs only to 
one of them. When there is a lot of bleeding the 
assistant surgeon may clip off swabs as well. His 
requirements would have to be met as well as the 
surgeon's. 

10 

No. 24 
P.A. Grant-
Smith -
Examination. 

No. 24 
EVIDENCE OF PATRICIA ANN GRANT-SMITH 

D.W.8 - PATRICIA ANN GRANT-SMITH, Christian sworn: 
Examined Y/ilcock: I was until my marriage known as 
Sister King. I am a State Registered nurse. I have 
been nursing 5 years. I have had two years' exper-
ience as a theatre sister. I have been at the New 
European Hospital two years. I took part in the 20 
operation in which Mr. Barber operated on Mrs. 
Cooper. I was in charge of the operation. I re-
member Mr. Barber cutting out a certain amount of 
intestine. He put it into a bowl and I gave it to 
the sister who was "running", Sister Banks - the 
"dirty" nurse. I saw it in the sluice. I saw the 
towelling that came out of it afterwards. I think 
it was lying just beside the intestine but I am 
not quite sure just where it was. I don't remember 
touching it. Mr. Barber, I think, held it up. I 30 
can't remember distinctly how he was holding it. I 
think it was a piece of towelling, it was discol-
oured. I should say it was roughly the same size 
as this (Exhibit 1). I don't think there was a 
tape on it. I did not look closely at it. I should 
think I would have seen a tape had there been one. 
I was very interested in it. It is very unusual. 
I can remember somebody saying it did not have a 
tape but I can't remember who. I think it was 
thrown away. I don't know when. I don't remember 40 
anybody asking about it at all. The system for 
putting packs in cupboards and drums is followed 
by everybody. There are always three packs in 
every bundle. I have never come across a bundle 
that has contained more than three. As theatre 
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oi3tor I havo novor como across a pack in the 
European Hospital without a tape attached. The 
system of counting dirty packs is a routine system. 
It is observed in emergency operations as well as 
routine operations. It is never varied. 
Examined Salter, This system is really second-
nature to an experienced theatre sister. If I oane 
across a bundle of packs with more than three the 
whole bundle would be discarded. It would not be 

10 used at all. It is a rule in our theatre. If I 
cane across a pack without a tape the bundle would 
be discarded as well. It is a rule. The remark 
about there being no tape was made when I saw it 
in tho sluice. At that time I don't remember apart 
from Mr. Barber who else was there. I don't remem-
ber whether it was a male or female who said this. 
I remember noticing that it did not have a tape. 
I don't remember when I noticed it. I might have 
said myself that it had no tape or it may have 
been someone else but I don't remember. Nobody 
to my knowledge went to have a more careful look 
at it as a result of that remark. At that time 
the pack was opened out. Thinking back I have no 
doubt at its having a tape or not. It did not 
have a tape. Some surgeons have packs handed to 
them dry, some rinsed. I have been in charge of 
an operation when Mr. Nevill has been operating 
many times. He likes the wet packs normally so 
does Mr. Braimbridge. There are one or two sur-

30 geons who like the dry ones. They normally tell 
me beforehand. Mr. Nevill never ignores the count 
of packs or swabs. He does not differ in that 
from Mr. Barber or any of the other surgeons. 

CROS S-EXAMINATION 

20 
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Cross-examined Mrs. Kean. When I operate with Mr. 
Nevill, usually we volunteer the information that 
the swab count is correct. I have never volunte-
ered the information that the swab count was incor-
rect to Mr. Nevill. I have, never come across a 

40 surgeon at the European Hospital who cuts off tapes. 
I don't remember who was in the sluice apart from 
Mr. Barber. It certainly looked like a pack. I 
thought it was a pack. 

RE-EXAMINATION 
Re-examined. If-I was a little slow in reporting 
to Mr. Nevill he would ask me if the count was 
correct. It was a question of who was ready first. 

Cross-
Examination. 

Re-Exaniinat ion. 
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No, 25 
EVIDENCE OF PAMELA LASSIE BANKS 

D.W.9 - PAMELA DASSIE BANKS, Christian sworn: 
Examined Y/ilcock: I am a State Registered Nurse. 
I have been nurs'ing nine years, I have been 4 years 
at the New European Hospital. I am theatre sister. 
There are no theatre sisters there senior to me. I 
am senior theatre sister. I have had about 6 years' 
experience as a theatre sister. During'that period 
I think I have taken probably about 2,000 operations, 10 
over 1,000 at the New European Hospital. The senior 
sister who was in charge when the hospital first 
opened laid down the system with regard to counting 
packs. I am in charge of seeing that the system,is 
complied with now. I am responsible. The system 
is a rigid system. It is never left to the other 
theatre sister's discretion as to whether it should 
be varied. The packs are made in the workroom and 
the tapes sewn on there. Soiled packs are washed 
on the hospital premises. Packs are washed, boiled 20 
and dried in the theatre department and then put 
into a special drawer to await the sister or who-
ever is going to check them into the store cupboard. 
A qualified person puts them in the cupbaord, one 
of the theatre staff. Vle are all state registered 
nurses except one, who is a state enrolled assis-
tant nurse. They are first of all tested to make 
sure they each have a tape when taken out of the 
drawer and that the tape is quite secure. Then they 
are rolled into bundles of three. They are then 30 
placed in a storage cupboard. The swabs are not 
kept in the same cupboard. They are taken out of 
the cupboard when we want to put them into drums. 
One of the qualified people in the theatre puts 
them into the drums to sterilise them. They are 
again checked to make sure there is a tape on each 
pack and there are three in the roll. We have dif-
ferent types of drums. We have a standard form of 
drum, a laparotomy drum for an abdominal operation. 
I produce this as a laparotomy bundle (put in as 40 
Exhibit "A"). It is wrapped in a dressing towel 
(demonstrates). The sister who is laying out the 
trolley takes this bundle out of the drum with 
"cheatle" forceps and lays it on a trolley. These 
are long forceps which we keep sterile in a pot of 
carbolic lotion. We use them for taking instru-
ments out of the sterilisers, towels and packs out 
of drums. The sister who is taking the case takes 
the cover off the top of the trolley which has two 
shelves and puts it on to the bottom. She then 50 
takes the bundle and lays it on the bottom shelf of 
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tho trolley. Sho opens it out (demonstrates). This 
is tho Mayo tray oover which is over the tray over 
tho patient's legs. There are four dressing towels 
for towelling up tho patient and a largo abdominal 
shoot which goes on after the towels. The extra 
towol is for ligatures. We have two bundles of 12 
gauze swabs always in bundles of 12 and one roll of 
throe packs and ono roll of wool for the very end 
as a dressing. The person who is taking the case 
first of all breaks one bundle of 12 swabs and 
checks to see- if there are 12, separating each one. 
That goes on the top of the trolley. At this stage 
we do not worry about the packs unless we are 
definitely going to uso them. If we think the 
packs are going to be used we take the bundle from 
tho bottom and put it on the top of the trolley. 
We unroll it, and check the packs, one, two, three 
(demonstrates). If you know when laying a trolley 
that you are going to need more than three packs 
we take extra rolls of packs out of another drum 
labelled "abdominal packs". They would be put at 
the side of the laparotomy bundle on top of the 
trolley. This is when you are laying the trolley 
up. When the person who is taking the case is 
scrubbed up she then puts the extra packs on the 
bottom and only leaves on the top the three we are 
actually using. When the three in actual use are 
exhausted you take another bundle from the bottom 
of the trolley and check them in the way I have 
described. That would be during the course of the 
operation. At any stage in the operation there 
would be not more than three packs on the top of 
the trolley and rolled up bundles at the bottom. 
While taking an operation I have never come across 
a bundle containing more than three packs or a pack 
with no tape. would be considered a very seri-
ous matter if I were to. A pack which is going to 
be used for restraining has a Spencer Wells artery 
forceps attached to it; sometimes I do it, some-
times the surgeon does, I have ray eye on the tape 
and I sometimes put the forceps on. When a pack 
is used for swabbing a Spencer Wells forceps is 
never put on. I don't think it would be practic-
able. The artery forceps would get in the way. If 
the packs have been used as restraining packs the 
surgeon always hands the pack back to me and I take 
the artery forceps off the tape and either put it 
back into the hot saline or discard it. I can warm 
it and hand it back again if he requires it. If I 
discard it I put it into a "run around bowl" which 
is on the floor. When the surgeon has finished 
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with a mapping pack he may discard it. He puts it 
into another "run around bowl" by his feet. I might 
put it back into the saline or discard it. They are 
picked up by the dirty nurse with forceps one by 
one immediately they are discarded. She puts them 
on to a mackintosh on the floor where I can see it 
all the time. Packs are put out in threes, (demon-
strates) side by side, quite separate. When she 
has three she reports to me "I have 3 packs sister". 
I look over and check the three. When I have 10 
checked the three she puts them together on the 
mackintosh. If more than three are used she counts 
them in .threes and leaves the three in the bundle. 
It is a repetition. The second bundle goes at the 
side of the first three. Then we start another 
three. They are left on show throughout the opera-
tion. We don't use any packs in any non-abdominal 
operation or in a normal appendicitis. In a large 
non-emergency abdominal operation, e.g. removal of 
the gall bladder, we normally use three packs. 20 
These would be all restraining. All the nursing 
staff wear masks (demonstrates). I sometimes have 
to say "pardon". At the end I look over to the 
mackintosh and ask the dirty nurse how many swabs 
she has. She tells me the number and I check my-
self. I then check with the clean swabs on my trol-
ley and the total should make 12. The dirty nurse 
tells me how many complete threes she has. She 
might say "I have one bundle of three and two odd 
ones". I then check on my trolley and make sure 
about the remaining one. I have already checked 
the threes into three. If the sister tells me 
there are two bundles of three which I can see I 
check the cdd ones. I was the theatre sister in 
charge of the operation performed by Mr. Nevill. 
I was officially due on duty at 3*15. I was having 
a cup of tea in the mess. I had a telephone call 
about 3 o'clock from one of the sisters in the 
theatre. I went to the theatre straight away. I 
started to lay out two trolleys. The instruments 40 
go on the other trolley. I laid out one laparotomy 
bundle and I had an idea what the case was going to 
be so I put out about three extra bundles of packs 
before I had been scrubbed up. I completed laying 
the trolleys and wheeled them into the theatre and 
then scrubbed up. I then began to prepare my trol-
ley for the operation. The only packs I had on the 
top at the start of the operation were three and 
one bundle of 12 swabs. I had counted the packs 
when I undid the bundle. There was Nurse Smith who 50 
was acting as my dirty nurse. She is now in Eng-
land. She arrived when I did and did a three-year 

30 
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contract. She acted as my dirty nurse on other 
occasions. She was a very good nurse. She used 
to take a straight-forward appendix operation. A 
"bed being used had the effect on me first of all 
that I could not use a Mayo tray, and the width 
of the bed - I was further away from the surgeon 
than I normally am. The bed was so wide that I 
think we had to use more towels to make sure it 
was covered. I have never been sister in charge 

10 at an abdominal operation carried out on a bed bef-
ore. I have never taken part in an operation where 
blood was taken out of the abdomen, cleaned and re-
turned to the patient. During the operation two or 
three packs I expect were used as restraining packs. 
They had Spencer-Wells clips attached. It is auto-
matic. We used about 20 packs all told. I think 
the mopping packs were all discarded because as 
they were taken out of the abdomen they were covered 
in blood and clots. I thought it better to hand the 

20 surgeon a fresh pack each time. I can't remember if 
I washed out any pack at all in the saline. You 
might leave it in but if the surgeon wants another 
one immediately, you just put it in, wring it out 
and give it back to him. More bundles were brought 
to me. I think it must have been by Nurse Smith. 
V/hen opened they were counted as normal routine. 
You don't first check packs when he wants to sew up. 
You are checking them during the case all the time. 
I made a final check. I carried out the exact rou-

30 tine I have described. The count was correct. I 
said, "the swab count is correct". I say "the swab 
count is correct", that covers the packs. That is 
always understood as covering the packs by the sur-
geon. -I can't remember whether he asked but I said 
myself, "the swabs are correct".' As I was throwing 
packs into the bowl I remember saying to Nurse 

. Smith "do be careful", because we were using such 
a large number. After the patient had been removed 
from the theatre I saw the packs again* Nurse Smith 

40 and I re-checked the packs once more in the theatre'. 
We re-checked each three, the one or two odd ones 
over which were on the mackintosh and re-checked 
the clean ones on my trolley. The count was cor-
rect. It is not usual to re-check swabs after the 
abdomen has been sewn up. We re-checked because 
the packs were still in the theatre and because of 
the large number we had used. When we did this 
final check we had no doubt at all as to whether 
our original check had been correct. When we are 

50 doing a routine operating list, when the peritoneum 
has been sewn up, with the permission of the sister 
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who is taking the case, the swabs can be removed 
from the theatre. That includes packs. This is 
so that we can go on with the next case immediately. 
I was present at the operation carried out "by Mr. 
Barber. I was "dirty nurse" or "runner". This op-
eration was again after 3.15 ard we normally only 
have two sisters on duty. The operation must have 
"been after 3.15. Mr. Barber'asked me if we could 
spare anybody to assist him. I told him Sister 
Molloy could assist, which meant that I had to stay 
on duty to act as dirty nurse. Sister King was 
taking the case. Dr. Thompson came into the theatre 
during the operation. I am aware Mr. Barber removed 
some intestines. It was handed to me in a bowl by 
Sister King. I took it into the sluice. Dr. Thomp-
son was in the theatre. He came out into the sluice 
with me. He took the gut out of the bowl in his 
hands and put it on the end of the tap. He turned 
the tap on. The water began to run thi'ough the gut. 
This thing popped out of the other end. It looked 
like faeces. I had a pair of old forceps. I poked 
it. I said to Dr. Thompson, "it looks like a swab". 
Adjourned to 2.15 p.m. 

10 

20 

Further 
Examination. 

2.15 p.m. 
DAY.9 - further examined Wilcock. 

I did not pick it up. I just poked it with the 
forceps. Then I think Dr. Thompson went into the 
theatre. I don't remember if he took the swab with 
him. The door was still open. I think he said 
something to.the effect, "I think we have found the 
cause of the trouble". I opened it more or less 
right out. I might have first dangled it with the 
forceps. I didn't touch it with my fingers. Nobody 
picked it up in my presence. It was a piece of Tur-
kish towelling. It was about 9" x 8" (demonstrates 
f size of Exhibit l). It did have sort of hemmed 
edges. I don't remember whether it had a tape at-
tached. I did not see a tape. I think I would have 
seen one had there been one. I didrft hear anyone say 
anything about a tape at that time. The other two 
sisters did not come into the.sluice room while I 
was there and look at it. We discussed it amongst 
ourselves, the theatre staff. We were all upset at 
finding this. I think I put it in the bin in the 
sluice. I don't remember anybody actually telling 
me to do so but someone must have done or I would 
not have thrown it away. It was never mentioned 
afterwards. I would only put a pack in the saline 
if I was likely to be asked for it. I wouldn't leave 

30 

40 
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it thoro indefinitely "because at the end of the 
operation when we are about to sow up, if there is 
a pack 3till in tho saline I take it out and dis-
card it. It goes into the count. That is part of 
the routine. In this operation I did look into the 
saline (Mr. Nevill's operation). This is automatic. 
The salino is in a bowl stand about three feet high. 
It i3 right next to my trolley with the towels and 
packs. 

10 Examined Salter. Mr. Barber must have told me to 
discard it because it i3 a ruling that we never 
discard any specimen without first asking the sur-
geon's permission. It did not have a frayed edge. 
It was like that (Exhibit X). It had a turned over 
edge. When I test the pack to see if the tape is 
secure you give it a pull (demonstrates). That is 
done in every case. I did not observe any tearing 
at the corner of this pack as though the tape had 
become detached. The surgeon takes out a restrain-

20 ing pack, he holds it by the pack itself. I return 
the clip to the forceps trolley. You count the 
clips. You know how many you start with. I have 
not had experience of a clip becoming detached from 
a restraining pack. I have other'things to do with-
out looking at the operation field all the time, but 
I would have known when the pack was handed back to 
me if the clip had become detached. You might have 
more than one pack in the solution bowl. If I 
checked a bundle of three packs and knew I was 

30 going to use them all, I would put the three packs 
into the saline, before use at all. You might have 
more than one dirty pack in the saline. In a large 
abdominal operation we sometimes have two lotion 
bowls. We try and keep one clean and one for 
wringing out packs that have been handed back to 
you. In this operation I can't remember how many 
lotion bowls I had. I don't think I used any of 
the saline bowls for any of the used packs in Mr. 
Nevill's operation. I remember that there was such 

40 a terrific amount of blood in the abdomen that as 
the mopping packs were taken out they were so thick 
with blood and clots that I discarded them immedi-
ately and handed a fresh pack over. I was handing 
them over very quickly because Mr. Nevill wanted 
to see where it was bleeding as quickly as possible. 
I can't say how long the mopping took. If I had 
found the count was incorrect in my final count 
after the patient had been removed I would have 
told Mr. Nevill straight away. We re-checked each 

50 bundle of three which had already been checked 
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before, the used ones. I think that is the only 
difference from my first check. We re-checked the 
bundles of three and separated each three again. 
I actually see Mr. Nevill remove any restraining 
packs because they are handed to me. But while 
he is carrying out his other search I am not wat-
ching him as I am doing my own check. The other 
surgeons do not do anything different from Mr. 
Nevill so far as I can observe. In this particular 
operation nothing different was dene. I do make an 
effort to keep a check on the restraining packs put 
in. If I had the impression that the surgeon had 
put in three and handed back only two I would tell 
him. I remember on opening the abdomen the amount, 
of blood. It was the first time 1 had seen a case 
of a ruptured uterus. I remember the foetus being 
taken out and the bits of polythene tubing. It was 
the first time I had seen auto-transfusion actually 
working. It is the first time I have had to take 
a case where we were operating with the patient in 
bed and I have never before seen a patient brought 
into the theatre in such a critical condition. I 
had to be on the alert and have packs ready. I 
carried out my usual routine. I would not say the 
atmosphere in the theatre was really very different 
from that in other emergency operations. 

10 

20 

CROSS-EXAMINATION 
Cross- Cross-examined Mrs. Kean. I wasn't watching anybody 
Examination. else sucking. Before the operation I had out six 

bottles with sodium citrate at the bottom in case 30 
we had to suck out blood for auto-transfusion. I 
saw blood being sucked out. I connected up the 
sucker. I don't know how many bottles were sucked 
out. It did not concern me. I did not see how 
many bottles were put back in. I don't know whether 
any were. I know auto-transfusion did take place. 
I saw it going on. I don't know how many bottles 
were put back. I don't know whether any was put 
back. There were two blood drips going on in the 
operation. I didn't know whether one was changed 40 
over, I don't know whether any of Mrs. Cooper's 
blood was put back into her. There were two trans-
fusions going on but I don't know whether they put 
in any blood from Mrs. Cooper. This was the first 
time I had seen blood taken out of the abdomen for 
the purpose of auto-transfusion, but I don't know 
whether it was used or not. I have taken a case at 
an operation for a perforated duodenal ulcer. There 
has been an escape of septio matter from the duodenum. 
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In a perforated duodenal ulcer the hole through 
which the septic matter is coming is so small that 
with a sucker you can got rid of the septic con-
tents. It would be impossible for 20 - 30 large 
packs to be used to clcan out the escaped stomach 
contents. If a patient has been diagnosed properly, 
in any case I have seen we use a sucker or about 
one pack. You would have the sucker turned on as 
soon as the peritoneum was open. You may put in a 

10 couplc of packs and then repair the whole. Two or 
throe restraining packs would be necessary in my 
experience. It would surprise me if eight restrain-
ing packs were used (Mahon v. Osborne). In Mrs. 
Cooper's operation I only opened one bundle of 12 
gauze swabs wa3 opened so far as I know. I used 
two for preparing the skin before we made the in-
cision. I didn't use any more. At theend of the 
operation I used possibly three or four to put on 
the patient's wound as a dressing. They were only 

20 used before the peritoneum was open and after it 
was sewn. There was no difficulty about counting 
the finger swabs. They are included in the count. 
I would say that the system used in this hospital 
for the counting of packs and swabs is a good 
system. I automatically put out more packs. I laid 
the trolley myself. More packs had to be brought 
from the sterilising room and taken from a drum 
labelled "abdominal packs". It is really up to 
the sister who is taking the case if she says "swabs 

30 and packs are correct", but if you say swabs are 
correct the surgeon knows automatically that you 
mean packs as well. I always say "swabs are cor-
rect". I remember saying it in this case. I don't 
remember whether I said it first "because if Mr. 
Nevill had a3ked me the swab count I would not have 
replied "Yes", I would have said "the swabs are 
correct." Prom first incision until the peritoneum 
was sewn up took 40 minutes. Nurse Smith was pre-
sent, Sister Pearce was present, she is nursing 

40 staff, she was helping generally. She was not 
scrubbed up. She was helping Dr.. Lawes. She may 
have helped Dr. Robertson-Glasgow. She was not 
helping me at all. She did not help Nurse Smith. 
Nurse Smith was looking after my swabs. She was 
perhaps helping Dr. Robertson-Glasgow. I did not 
actually see her. Nurse Smith's main duty was to 
look after the swabs and assist me. I don't re-
collect Mr. Braimbridge being in the theatre. I 
might not have noticed him. I recognised this dis-

50 covery immediately as a pack or a piece of Turkish 
towelling similar to a pack. It imprinted itself 
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on my mind. All I know is I would not have thrown 
it away without being told. He discovered the 
bleeding almost immediately when he put his hand 
in. We automatically put the sucker on and I 
started to hand packs. I have no idea what Mr. 
Nevill is doing while I am doing, my count. It was 
the first case at which I had been present of a 
ruptured uterus. It is just routine that I know 
what sort of suture I would be likely to be asked 
for, By "nothing different" I meant the nature of 
the operation. You know you have to sew up the 
uterus. The procedure of sewing up the uterus and 
putting in packs, nothing different was done and 
the routine check. I was asked about the swabs or 
volunteered. The question of transfusion while 
the patient is on the table is not my business. I 
am not qualified to say whether a patient is or is 
not an operational risk. There was no difference 
in the atmosphere in Mrs. Cooper's operation from 
any other emergency operation. Nurse Smith started 
working in the theatre in April 1954 when the hos-
pital was opened. If a pack was definitely left in 
at Mr. Nevill's operation, there must have been an 
error somewhere in the count. 

10 

20 

RE-EXAMINATION 
Re-Examination. Re-examined. In an operation out of the ordinary, 

I discuss the operation with the surgeon or doctor 
afterwards. An auto-transfusion would be the sort 
of thing. We discussed with the theatre staff, 
the sisters on the ward. We often discuss cases 
afterwards. (Description, of packs in Mahon v. 
Osborne read out). I would not consider it ab-
normal for 25 of the packs described to be used in 
an operation for a perforated duodenal ulcer. 

30 

No.26 No.26 
EVIDENCE OP MARY AMELIA PEARCE M.A. Pearce -

Examination. 
D.W.10 - MARY AMELIA PEAROE, Christian sworn: 
Examined Wilcock. I am State Registered Nurse. I 
have been nursing since 1946. I have six months' 
experience as a staff nurse in a theatre, but not 40 
as a sister. I am a ward sister in the New Euro-
pean Hospital. I know the routine laid down at the 
hospital in the checking of packs all the way through. 
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I was present at the operation on Mrs. Cooper per-
formed by Mr. Nevill. I was helping generally. It 
was such an unusual case that I went along to see 
if I could help. Mrs. Cooper was placed under my 
care when she arrived in my ward. I was not given 
any specific duties at the theatre. I had quite a 
lot of opportunity of observing Sister Bank's be-
haviour during the operation. Before Mr. Nevill 
sewed up the peritoneum she said "the swabs are 

10 correct". Before she reported twice she told the 
dirty nurse to be careful during the course of the 
operation. Before the report to the surgeon she 
looked over to the dirty nurse and counted. I can't 
remember if I hoard any words passing. I heard the 
dirty nurse say how many she had on the mackintosh. 
I can't remember seeing Sister Banks do anything 
else. Sister Banks was quite calm during the op-
eration and very efficient. 

Examined Salter. No questions. 
20 CROSS EXAMINATION 
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Cross-examined Mrs. Kean. I can't remember really 
any specific thing I did. I was not helping Dr. 
Robertson-Glasgow at all. I stood near Sister 
Banks in case she wanted anything. Extra packs 
were required during the operation. The dirty 
nurse, Nurse Smith, got them. I went round with 
the patient because she was so ill. Sister Banks 
did not need any extra assistance. I was not scrb-

• • bed up. I was outside the circle. I was the other 
30 side of the trolley. I can't remember definitely 

how-many packs were used. There were a large num-
ber, probably 20. I can't remember how many finger 
swabs were used. Very few were used, just for 
cleaning the skin. The operation took 30 - 45 min-
utes. I was looking after Mrs. Cooper afterwards 
in the ward. Mr. Cooper visited her at about 6. 
I was not there when he saw his wife. I think I 
was off-duty that evening. About 24 finger swabs 
might be used in an ordinary abdominal operation. 

40 I don't know how many bundles a laparotomy set con-
tains. I suppose finger swabs would be easy' to 
lose but you take extra care of them. 

RE-EXAMINATION 

Cross-
Examination. 

No re-examination. Re-Examination. 
Close of case for 2nd Defendants 

Adjourned to 10.45 a.m. 4th February 1958. 
B.R. Miles, J. 
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No. 27 
NOTES OF PROCEEDINGS 

5.0 p.m. 
Court proceeds to the New European Hospital with 
parties and advocates. The operating theatre is 
viewed and the routine system, with particular re-
gard to the parcelling and counting of packs and 
swabs is demonsti'ated by Sister Banks. 

B.R. Miles, J. 
3rd February, 1958. 10 

No. 28 
ADDRESSES BY COUNSEL 

4th February 1958 
Salter for 1st Defendant. Plaintiff abandons fur-
ther items of special damage, i.e. European Hospi-
tal fees and Mr. Nevill's fees. Special damages 
now claimed - Shs.5,189/80. 
1. Damages. Loss of profit - no evidence. 

loss of consortium. 
Nathan Law of Medical Negligence p.181. 20 
No reference to any future disability to have 
a child. 
Damages should only be awarded for 46 days 
Plaintiff spent in hospital. . . 

2. Scott L.J. in Mahon v. Osborne - 1939 1 All. 
E.R. 537. 
Defendant has highest surgical qualifications 
it is possible to obtain. 
Evidence of Dr. Lawes - "Brilliant piece of 
surgery". 30 
Ormerod - "end brilliantly achieved". 
Barber - "difficult and hazardous operation". 

3. First issue. Question of fact. Argument in 
favour of swab being left in at second opera- . 
tion comes down to one of time. 
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Argument against - Condition of pack. Question 
of tape. Practice in Nairobi European Hospital 
that no pack prepared without tape. 
Evidence of Mr. /reston that he had been han-
ded packs in 1955 - packs with no tapes at 
Princess Elizabeth Hospital. 
Evidence as to discovery. Mr. Barber - "I did 
not pay particular attention to it". 
Sister King - Positive no tape. Whole incident 
suggests pack had no tape on it. Difficult 
not to notice tape 3" - 4" long. Pinal count 
of Sister Bank3 after Mr. Nevill's operation. 
Check again"after patient removed. She picked 
up each individual pack. Never challenged in 
cross-examination. Must be grave doubt as to 
whether Plaintiff has satisfied onus on this. 
Issues 2 and 3. Negligence. Nevill and assi-
stant are identified. Legal duty of surgeon -
Mahon v. Osborne p.537 B. Nathan 79. Duty not 
absolute. Except for G-oddard L.J. - .every 
judge has held res ipsa loquitur does not ap-
ply; p.540 C. Mahon v. Osborne - "Positive 
evidence of neglect of duty'is surely needed". 
Morris v„ VALnsbury-V/hite, 1937 4 All.E.R. 494-
499 G Res ipsa Loquitur not applicable. Must 
be proof of some act of negligence. 
Plaintiff : Case here does really depend on 
res ipsa loquitur. 
Plaintiff's case is that a pack here left in 
therefore negligence. Not a single piece of 
evidence that defendant Nevill negligent. 
Whole evidence including that for Plaintiff 
points to Defendant being not negligent but 
even skilful, Mahon v. Osborne p«545 P. There 
every surgeon says that before they close the 
abdomen they make a mental appreciation of 
swabs put in. They took out swabs themselves 
and felt within area of operation, then asked 
or told what count was. No suggestion that 
Nevill had not done anything unusual or omit-
ted anything he should have done. In Plain-
tiff to show defendant did not observe usual 
practice. Sister Banks says Defendant in this 
operation did not depart from usual course. 
Y/liole of circumstances have to be looked at. 
Difficulties of operation incredible. Dying 
patient. Braimbridge had only once in 40 years 
seen a case like this. Speed dominating factor 
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to stop bleeding. Shock still maintained 
throughout operation. Notes "still alive". 
A mistake can be forgiven if he has done in 
all circumstances what a reasonable skilful 
surgeon must do. Van Wyk v, Lewis, 1924. 
South African Law Reports, Appellate Division 
p.438 - 470. A surgeon cannot rely only on 
count. Evidence shows normal routine carried 
out despite difficulties. Theatre sister 
wholly reliable. If a swab left in it was an 10 
accident; p.471 - Van Wyk v, Lewis. If Court 
came to the conclusion that there was no negli-
gence I ask Court to say all concerned entitled 
to great credit. 

Court. Is lav; here different from law in England? 
Or res ipsa loquitur, Sec.106, Indian Evidence Act. 
Salter. Common Law doctrines impeded by article 4 
of Order in Council. 
Wilcock. I adopt Mr. Salter's observations on law 
and everything which applies to 2nd Defendants 20 
particularly on first issue. 
Balance ox probabilities might point to pack being 
left in as 20 packs used. First operation was not 
emergency. In this operation particular precau-
tions taken. 
Nathan - James v. Dunlop - Issue not negligence. 
Van Wyk v. Lewis - no negligence on part of nurse. 
Mali on v. Osborne - Jury found in her favour. 
Urry v. Bierer - only case where nurse negligent -
non-emergency. 30 
Nathan p.82 - no tapes used. Same degree of care 
required of nurse as of surgeon. 
Shelton - Law relating to Hospitals, p.124. 
Mahon v. Osborne - 553 B. 
Van Wyk - p.461, 451. 
Defendants could have stood on submission of no case. 
Mahon v. Osborne - Goddard L.J. 506. 
In Court below Judge and Flaintiff's counsel said no 
evidence against nurse. System approved by Flain-
tiff's witnesses. 40 
Evidence of Oxmerod and Braimbridge; Nurse Smith 
thoroughly efficient. Sister Banks quite excep-
tional theatre sister. 
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10 

20 

Evidence of Mr. Berber and Br. Thompson. Lawes and 
Robertson-Glasgow and Braimbridge arc astonishing 
testimonials. Evidence as to behaviour of staff 
at operation. Extra strain on theatre sister in 
this case. Sister Banks did all that was required 
of hor. Not challenged. If packs dirty, possible 
for two packs to be confused 
would bo confused with two. 
checks here. "Exce; 
ing to Braimbridge. 

with one. Here one 
This impossible. Five 

sively conscientious", accord-
This not challenged. I cannot 

bofieve a pack was left in at operation. 
Mrs ,__Kqan. Argument of defence is that leaving of 
swab in after operation alone is just bad luck. 
(2) For Plaintiff to show affirmatively how that 
incident camo about, a matter of which Plaintiff, 
being unconscious, can have no personal knowledge. 
I submit law does not impose that impossible hard-
ship on the Plaintiff. Majority decision in Mahon 
v. Osborne was that res ipsa loquitur does apply. 
Nathan 115, 116. law Journal Reports agree with 
K.B. reports 108, L.J. K.B. 567-
Clark v. Turnbull 10th 
edn. 519. 
Morris v. Winsbury-White 499, not an authority 
against res ipsa loquitur. . 
Winfield p.505 6th edn. 208. 

edn. ~ 384, Salmond 11th 
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Adjourned to 2.15 p.m. 

2.15 p.m. 
Mrs. Kean. Mahon v. Osborne. 1939 1 All.E.R. 537 

30 Mackinnon L.J. 553 C 554 C - D. Testing point is 
whether there was a case to answer. Gordon, Turner 
and Price 139 ? Van Wyk v. Lewis. Dissenting 
judgment of Kotze L.J. 451. 
Hillier v. St. Bartholomew's Hospital, 1909 2 K.B. 
820, 828. Per ipsa loquitur applied. Scott L.J's 
judgment in Mahon v. Osborne must be read in cir-
cumstances of each case, p.537. In that case great 
amount of movement, 25 - 30 packs for mopping and 
for packing. Highly dangerous septic matter - no 

40 assistant surgeon. 538 H, 540 H. Evidence that 
packs become discoloured and slimy. 556. Septic 
matter. 543 D 545. 
Van Wyk v. Lewis. Septic matter present, 442, 468, 
Necessary there to get patient off table, 469, 442, 
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470. Swabs unrecognisable, 471. Gordon P.140. 
Dunlop v. James, 3 packing swabs. 
2. If res ipsa, loquitur does apply what is legal 
position? 
Char'lesworth - Negligence 3rd edn. 41. Suffering 
of accident more consistent with negligence. 
Reasonable explanation to show how accident happened 
without negligence. Extent of explanation. Moore v. 
R. Fox and Sons, 1956 2 W.L.R. 342. Rot sufficient 
to show accident inexplicable. "Absence of negli- 10 
gence more profitable" but must be shown. Winni-
peg Electric Go. v.Geel, 1932 A.G. 699 - "Evidence 
too evenly balanced". Onus of disproving neglig-
ence remains throughout the case. 
3. Issue 1. Was swab left in? Onus is on Plain-
tiff. Balance of probabilities. Barber's evidence. 
Remote possibility. All professional witnesses 
agree as to probabilities being against delay in 
symptoms, i.e. they will appear within days, weeks 
or months. Nevill retracted in cross-examination. 20 
He would only point to cotton. Defendants rely on 
Mr, Braimbridge's evidence. 
Pack - no evidence of exact behaviour. Preston's 
evidence certain. One or two restraining packs 
used. None used for mopping. Ho would not use 
pack without tape. He accounted himself for packs. 
Not an emergency operation. No symptoms until 23rd 
April. It is said no challenge to Sister Banks as 
to recount after operation. I refer to her last 
answer in cross-examination. I could not suggest 30 
that she was lying without instructions from my 
client. Both Nevill and Smith and Banks that they 
honestly believed no swab left in. 
Re Tape. Preston swore he never used pack without 
tape. Nevill unable to say positively about mop-
ping packs that tape attached. 77. No sworn 
statement that tapes used at this operation. All 
evidence on probabilities points one way.- Dunlop 
v, James 1931, British Medical Journal, 732. 
4. Negligence. 40 

(a) Plaintiff cannot when unconscious produce 
positive evidence of negligence. Nathan, 106. Cir-
cumstantial evidence. Plaintiff can rely on infer-
ence properly drawn from facts. P.,108. Direct 
evidence not possible. More consistent with neg-
ligence. 

(b) No answer for Defendants to say "we are 
highly competent in our respective spheres". 
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Plaintiff does not belittle skill, qualifications 
or conscientiousness of persons involved. Most 
skilful or careful driver may be guilty of negli-
gence in an accident. 

(c) Court decides what constitutes negligence. 
Opinions of experts inadmissible. Taylor as Evi-
dence . 11th Edition. Vol.11 970, Vol.1 66. All 
skilled witnesses formed opinion on premises which 
are inadequate, e.g. Ormorod. All facts to be 

10 taken into account, e.g. (l) Presence of assistant 
surgeon, (2) whether patient had to be got off 
table, (3) number of packs. Ormerod had no idea 
of these factors. 
Evidence of Braimbridge. He said even if routine 
operation and only 3 packs used for packing only 
and experienced staff, that would be "bad luck". 
Any other opinion he expressed cannot be accepted 
without great deal of searching. 

(d) Duty of care. I agree with Salter. Ques-
20 tion is not whether surgeon made reasonable search. 

Case for Mr. Nevill conducted on genera3.ities. Only 
peopl.e who can descend to particularities are those 
who know what was going on. Has any explanation 
been offered here? Burden of defendant to show how 
this camo about. If Nevill1s evidence is accepted 
no exp].anation has been offered. In all other 
cases defendants offered possible explanations. 
None of those circumstances applied to this opera-
tion. (l) Presence of assistant to manage to get 

30 patient off table. All routine precautions poss-
ible. (2) 2 to 7 restraining packs. No little 
swabs used inside peritoneum. (3) Movement of 
intestine 1 inch. (4) No septic matter. (5) No 
evidence packs became slimy or unrecognisable. 
Clearly visible, Ormerod's two instances of abs-
ence of negligence - until cut by Nevill. Nevill 
remembers he says, routine at this operation. But 
he could not remember Mrs. Cooper coming round. 
Nevill says he did more than surgeon would do. I 

40 submit no casual connection shown between the dif-
ficulties of this operation and the leaving in of 
the pack. 

(a) Bed. 
(b) Condition of patient. 

(a) Nevill does not explain how bed had effect on 
placing, or counting or movement of packs, Nevill 
said intestines did not displace packs, Braim-
bridge 's theory did not apply. 
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(b) No suggestion that Nevill flustered or put 
off usual routine. 
Theatre staff. Evidence that atmosphere routine. 
Lawes "routine operation". Not exceptional opera-
tion. Braimbridge - ample theatre staff available. 
Nurse Smith's main duty to count packs. Usual num-
ber of mops in abdominal operation - 24. Packs of 
this size and substance, easier to account for than 
gauze swabs. Sister's duties to count correctly 20 
packs. Time taken to prepare theatre - 30 minutes. 
Sister Banks off duty - not tired, If system good 
it should be all the easier for staff to carry it 
out. 

(5) law as to nurse's responsibility. Nathan 
- 86. Goddard L.J. Mahon v. Osborne 566. Court 
does not have to decide whether mistake was that of 
Sister Banks or Nurse Smith. 
Adjourned to 9.45 5th February 1958. 

B.R. Miles, J. 

10 

5th February 
1958. 

5th February 1958 20 
(Hunter for Wilcock). 
Mrs. Kean, Mackinnon L.J. at 556 F.G. General 
duty of nurses not considered in many cases. She 
need only show degree of care of reasonably careful 
sister. All judgments show surgeon has multi-
farious duties to perform. Judges recognise that 
no absolute duty on surgeon to count swabs because 
of multifarious duties. These duties do not com-
pare with duties of theatre staff. Counting of 
swabs most important duty of theatre staff. In this 30 
case no evidence that they are absolved from this 
duty. Ormerod "I would expect theatre staff to 
count correctly even in a difficult operation". 
Evidence denies stress and strain. Sister Banks 
emphasizes that she was in no doubt after her final 
count after the operation. If mistake arose by 
having one group of four count at end of operation, 
relevance of final count would be very small. 
Nevill did not tell nurse to count quickly. Also 
Braimbridge "no question of counting in double 40 
quick time". Ormerod "determining factor of suc-
cess in operation is speed with which bleeding 
stopped". Nevill says bleeding stopped in 30 sec-
onds. Operation took 30 - 45 minutes. Assistant 
surgeon would lessen speed factor. Condition of 
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patient would not affect theatre staff. Ormcrod 
says many eases of this sort in which cases mori-
bund. Pack loft inaido. Not necessary to decide 
whether restraining or mopping. Only 2 or 3 re-
straining packs left. If used without tape this 
would bo nogligonco. Nevill said he had no doubt 
ho removed all restraining packs. If used for 
mopping, equally negligence. Ormerod "mopping pack 
would not and should not leave surgeon's hands". 

10 Braimbridge "only proper to leave pack in to staunch 
blood". 
Swab count - Nevill says done in loud voice. Lawes 
and Robertson-Glasgow do not remember Sister Molloy 
say "swabs and packs correct". Nevill and Banks 
recollect announcement of count. 
In other cases no recollection. Whether either or 
both negligent. Nathan, 86. Miscellaneous Pro-
visions Ordinance, 1956. Apportionment of damages. 
Even if res ipsa loquitur does not apply Plaintiff 

20 must still succcod. Nathan, p.106-7. Direct evi-
dence not necessary. All facts here available. Re-
buttal of inference of nogligence. Clarke v. Wor-
boys, Nathan, 109. Van Wyk v. Lewis, 453. Facts 
must he reviewed as a whole. Moore v. Fox and Son, 
1958, 2 W.L.R. Romer L.J. No great difference 
between a case of res ipsa loquitur and other c ases 
where whole circumstances before Court. Nathan, 105. 
Evidence of Nevill makes matter fantastic. 

• ' Ro swab - Conduct of parties ante litem important. 
30 Nevill's state of mind. 

Damages. Woman in robust health•prior to this op-
eration. Now residuary symptoms, loose stools, 
trouble with digestion and pain as result of ad-
hesions caused by removal of intestine. No one 
knows if and when these will disappear. She has 
been frequently going to see doctor. Might be 
further obstructions caused by adhesions. (Barber). 
How much spare left? 
Evidence that Mrs. Cooper admitted that she should 

40 not become pregnant. Not known whether she can. 
Dr. Thompson advised that no examination desirable 
in view of this. Short term effects. Mental and 
physical suffering. She was continually suffering. 
Cause unknown. She thought she was suffering from 
cancer. Abdominal symptoms lead to depression. 
In hospital she intended to take-her life, Noise 
of machine. Urry v. Bierer - £3,000. Duty of Court 
if a pack is left is to consider all circumstances. 
Res ipsa loquitur. Nathan, 110. This is a case 
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which makes it probable that A and B were both 
negligent. Mahon v. Osborne. Negligence presumed 
against surgeon. Presumption against nurse stron-
ger than against surgeon. 
Salter. I ask leave to address Court on res ipsa 
loquitur. Practice over a year that Plaintiff open 
law on which she relied. Practice note in January 
1957. 
Mrs. Kean. Order XVII rule (2) (.3). No discretion. 
No surprise. 
Salter. There is a right of reply on fresh points 
of law. Practice note. 
Mrs. Kean. I waived objection. 
Salter. Difference of interpretation of Mahon v. 
Osborne. Halsbury 1936 - Supplement. Judgment 
ambiguous. Mackinnon L.J. 553 D.E. 554 C. E.E. 553 
- Passage ambiguous. Interrogatories had been ad-
ministered. 540 Answer "I do not know". 
Nathan 111, 112, 114. 
I submit res ipsa loquitur cannot apply against 1st 
defendant. Responsibility more,on sister. If doc-
trine does apply position is as laid down in Woods 
v9 Duncan. 1946 A.C. 401, 439. Barkway v. S. 
Wales Transport Go. Ltd. 1948 2 All.S.R. 460, 463; 
Pish v. Kapur and other 1948, 2 All.E.R. 176; Moore 
v. Fox 1956 1 All.E.R. 182; Rose v. Minister of 
Health 1954, 2 Q.B.66. 
80 
GA.V 

B.R. Miles, J. 
17tli February 
1958. 

17th February 1958. 
Judgment delivered in the presence of Mrs. Kean 
for Plaintiffs. 

H ^ t e ? " ^ Q*G' ) f o r l s t ^fendant 
R.D. Wilcock for 2nd Defendant. 

BoR. Miles, J. 
17th February 1958. 

Mrs. Kean. I ask for certificate fox taxation of 
costs on higher scale under Rule 56 Remuneration 
of Advocates Order. 
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Salter. No opposition. 
V/ilcock. No opposition. 
Order. I certify that in view of the importance 
and difficulty of thi 3 cas G costs should be taxed 
on the higher scalo. 

B.R. Miles, J. 
Salter. I ask for stay of execution in case of 
appeal. 
KfJHl* I oppose any such application. Success-
ful appeal would not be abortive. This is a money 
judgment. 
Order. At this stage I consider that no ground • 
has been shown for a stay of execution. 

B.R. Miles, J. 
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No. 29 
J U D G M E N T 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OF KENYA AT NAIROBI 
CIVIL CASE NO. 808 of 1957 

1. L.Q.T. COOPER ) 
2. MRS. R. COOPER ) 

versus 
G. NEVILLE 
KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL' 

ASSOCIATION 

PLAINTIFFS 

DEFENDANTS 

No. 29 
Judgment, 
17th February 
1958. 

In this case the plaintiffs, Mr. L.Q.T.Cooper 
and Mrs. Rosetta Cooper, claim damages against the 
first defendant, Mr. G.E. Nevill, arid the Kenya 
European Hospital Association, for negligence. The 
claim arises out of an operation performed by the 
first defendant, on the 1st February, 1956, on Mrs. 
Cooper, the second plaintiff, at the New European 
Hospital, Nairobi, which is managed and maintained 
by the second defendants. The operation was for a 
rupture of an ectopic tubal pregnancy. 

The case for the plaintiffs is, that at the 
operation, an abdominal swab, or pack, was left in 
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the body of the second plaintiff. It is alleged 
that the first defendant was negligent in failing 
to count the number of swabs used in the operation 
and to check that the correct number of swabs•was 
removed, that he failed to instruct the nurse, or 
nurses, to keep a check on the number of swabs 
used and/or failed personally to counter-check the 
number of swabs and failed to observe that one swab 
remained in the body of the second plaintiff. The 
particulars of negligence against the servants of 
the second defendant allege failure to count the 
number of swabs used for the operation and failure 
to detect that one swab had not been removed, in 
accordance with instructions given by the first 
defendant, or in accordance with the usual practice 

The defence, on behalf of both defendants, is 
first a denial that any pack was left in at the 
operation performed by Mr. Nevill, and secondly a 
denial of negligence on the part of any of the 
defendants. 

Before proceeding to consider the various 
issues in this case, I will commence with a short 
account of the medical history of Mrs. Cooper, so 
far as material. On the 24th January, 1955, she 
was operated on by Mr. P.G. Preston, at the Prin-
cess Elizabeth Hospital, Nairobi, for the removal 
of an obstruction in her fallopian tubes, which 
were blocked. The blocked parts were removed in 
that operation and the patent parts of the tubes 
re-implanted in the uterus. That operation was 
successful. Mrs. Cooper experienced no ill-effect 
from the operation and her general health was satis 
factory. 

On the 1st Eebruary, 1956, the•operation with 
which we are concerned in this case, was performed 
by Mr. Nevill, the first defendant, at the New 
European Hospital, for a rupture of an ectopic 
tubal pregnancy. What took place at this operation 
will have to be considered in detail hereafter. 

Mrs. Cooper says that about a week after this 
operation, while she was still in hospital, she had 
an attack of vomiting. This may, perhaps, just 
have been the normal aftermath of a oorious abdomi-
nal operation. On the night of 23rd April, however 
Mrs, Cooper was taken ill at a dinner party. She 
complained of a pressure on the rigbr. side of her 
back and a-feeling of nausea, which continued for 
some hours, and on the following day she went to 
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soo her doctor - Doctor Thompson - to whom sho com-
plained of vomiting and abdominal pain throughout 
the previous night. This he thought was due to 
adhesions. Sho was admitted to the Maia Carberry 
Nursing Home in May, having had a recurrence. 
According to Dr. Thompson, she was froo of symptoms 
after some two hours, and a clinical examination 
failed to reveal the cause. After hor discharge 
from the Nursing Home, she was seen on a number of 

10 occasions by Drr Thompson because she was com-
plaining of occasional abdominal pains, which Dr. 
Thompson attributed to adhesions. These pains, 
however, gradually became aggravated and there was 
frequent vomiting; as a result of which Dr.Thomp-
son admitted her to the Now European Hospital for 
observation, on or about the 28th October, 1956. 
An X-ray photograph taken on admission revealed no 
evidence of an obstruction, but on the following 
day a further X-rs.y did show that there was an 

20 intestinal obstruction. It v;as accordingly decided 
that an operation was necessary and this was per-
formed by Mr. WeC. Barber. 
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Mr, Barber states that on opening the abdomen 
he found an abscess cavity, centrally situated, 
surrounded by adherent coils of small intestine. 
There was a localised peritonitis'. Mr. Barber 
tried to determine which portion of the ahderent 
intestine might be causing the obstruction. He 
first endeavoured to separate one or two adherent 

30 loops. On doing this, however, it was found that 
a leakage of bowel content resulted and since there 
were many adherent areas, Mr. Barber decided to 
remove the whole of the affected portion of the 
bowel. He accordingly cut away about seven feet 
of intestine. Tho whole length is some twenty-two 
feet. Mr. Barber says that he felt something in 
the piece of bowel he removed. The dissected por-
tion was taken into the sluice in a bowl by Sister 
Banks, who was the "dirty nurse" at the operation. 

40 Dr. Thompson, then took the piece of intestine out 
of the bowl, placed it on the end of the tap and 
turned on the tap. There then emerged from the 
piece of bowel, a piece of turkish towelling, 
measuring some 9" x 7" or 10" x 8", with hemmed 
edges. This was immediately recognised by all per-
sons present as an abdominal pack. Mr. Barber 
thereupon decided to ring up Mr. Nevill on the 
telephone and he informed Mr. Nevill of his dis-
covery. Mr. Barber told Mr. Nevill that if he 

50 were asked what was the cause of the trouble he 
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would have to inform Mr. Cooper, and Mr. Nevill 
very properly agreed that this was the correct 
procedure. 

The first issue in this case is whether this 
abdominal pack was left in the body of Mrs. Cooper 
at the-time of the operation performed by Mr. 
Nevill, since this has been strenuously denied by 
both defendants. It had obviously been left in at 
some operation and the suggestion of the defendants 
is that it was left in at the operation performed- 10 
by Mr. Preston on the 24th January, 1955. It is, 
of course, for the plaintiff to prove affirmatively 
that it was, in fact, left in during the operation 
carried out by Mr. Nevill. It is said on behalf 
of the defendants that the pack-could not have been 
left in at this later operation, because at that 
time all abdominal packs in use at the New European 
Hospital had tapes sewn on at one corner and this 
particular piece of turkish towelling had not such 
tape. It is necessary to examine the evidence of 20 
the various persons present at the time, on this 
question of tape. Mr. Barber, the surgeon who 
performed the operation, says he was unable to re-
member whether it had a tape or not, but that he 
did not pay particular attention. Br. Thompson 
said that he did not see a tape, but that he did 
not specifically examine it for a tape. Sister 
Molloy, who was assisting Mr. Barber and taking 
the part of the House Surgeon at the operation, 
says that she lifted the piece of towelling up and 30 
did not notice a tape. She went on to say that 
she thought that had there been a tape she would 
have seen it. Sister King, who was the Theatre 
Sister in charge at the operation, says-that she 
did not remember touching the towelling, but that 
she did not think there was a tape on it.• She 
added that she did not look closely at it, but had 
there been one she thought she would have seen it. 
She said that she remembered somebody saying it did 
not have a tape, but she was unable at this stage, 40 
to say who the person was. Later on in her evi-
dence she became a good deal more positive and said 
that she remembered noticing that it did not have a 
tape and that she might have been the person who 
made the observation, and finally she stated cate-
gorically that it did not have a tape. Sister Banks, 
who was acting as "dirty nurse", said that she was 
unable to remember whether it had a tape attached, 
but she said she did not see one, but that she 
thought she would have seen it if there had been 50 
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ono. I am "bound to say that it scorns to me 
extremely odd that if anybody had made a remark 
as to tho absc-nce of the tape, so little importance 
was attached to it, since if what the defendants 
say is correct as to tho practice of using only 
packs with tapes and thcro is no reliable evidence 
to contradict this, it might have gone come way 
towards clearing Mr. Nevill and tho staff of the 
New European Hospital. The absence of a tapo on 

10 this pack was novor brought to the notice of either 
Mr. Barber or Br. Thompson and it is, I think, of 
considerable significance that although both Mr." 
Barber and Dr. Thompson were acquainted with Mrs. 
Cooper's medical history, Mr. Barber decided to 
got into touch, not with Mr. -^reston, but with Mr. 
Nevill. It is clear, therefore, that there was no 
doubt in the minds of these two experienced prac-
titioners as to hov; this pack had got into Mrs. 
Cooper's body. I am at a loss to understand tho 

20 decision to throw this pack away. I should have 
thought it would have been obvious to those con-
cerned that litigation must almost inevitably onsuo. 
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In my opinion, it would be unsafe for me to 
base my decision in this case upon the presence or 
absonce of a tape on the pack which was found on 
the 29th October, 1956. The evidence is inconclu-
sive one way or the other. 

In my judgment considerably more light is 
thrown upon this issue by consideration of the time 

30 factor. Mr. Barber, who is a very experienced sur-
geon, says that his experience is that if a pack or 
swab if left in the body of a patient after an op-
eration, in the few cases he has seen, the symptoms 
have usually developed within a few months, or even 
weeks. He agreed, however, that it might be pos-
sible for it to remain quiescent for a long period 
and if disturbed might start to cause trouble when 
it had not done so previously. It was quite clear, 
however, that he held the very definite opinion in 

40 the present case that the pack had been left in at 
the time of Mr. Nevill's operation. Dr. Do eke ray 
had no personal experience of such an occurrence, 
but from his knowledge of the literature on the 
subject he said he would expect a piece of towel-
ling of this nature to give trouble within a few 
weeks or months, and he mentioned one case where 
the interval was something like nine months. He 
agreed that there was what he described as a "theo-
retical possibility" that the pack might remain 
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quiescent for as much as twelve months. DP.Thomp-
son said that his teaching.was that symptoms would 
normally be produced after six months and he was 
rather more positive than any of the other witnes-
ses. Mr. Ormerod, an experienced surgeon, called 
by the defendants said that it was impossible to 
be definite on a question of this kind, but that 
ho would expect trouble to develop "very shortly". 
A material factor would be the site at which the 
pack was located. It might be in such a position 10 
that it was outside a vital area find that the con-
ditions were completely free from infection. In 
these circumstances a foreign body might become 
what is known as "encystral", i.e. shut-off entirely 
from vital processes, in which case it might remain 
dormant indefinitely, even permanently. He did say, 
however, that it would be more likely that symptoms 
would appear within days, weeks or months. Mr. 
Braimbridge, a surgeon with forty years' experience 
also called by the defendants, cited one instance 20 
of an operation on a woman for an ovarian cist in 
1931, in whose case a small pack was found nineteen 
years later. He said that he was on the editorial 
board of the British Journal of Surgery and had 
read of cases'where symptoms had developed after 
twelve months, but he ultimately agreed that a 
most likely state of affairs would be that symptoms 
would appear within days, weeks or months, and more 
probably within days or weeks. 

Reference has been made to the case of Van Wyk 30 
v. Lewis, reported in the 1924 South African Law 
Reports - Appellate Division, at p.438, where a 
piece of muslin of the shape and dimensions of a 
small size packing swab, with tape attachment, re-
mained twelve months in the body of the patient and 
was then evacuated. This case was apparently con-
sidered of sufficient note to be mentioned in 
Gordon, Turner and Price's Medical Jurisprudence. 

Mr. ^reston gave evidence before me and was 
quite positive that he did not leave a pack inside 40 
the body when he performed his operation in 1955. 
This is only to be expected because no surgeon is 
usually conscious of having done such a thing. Ho 
said that he always insisted upon abdominal packs 
having tapes and he added that there had been 
occasions in 1955 at the Princess Elxza'beth Hos-
pital when he had been offered packs without tapes 
and refused them. The operation which he performed 
was not carried out under conditions of emergency. 
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No abdominal swaba wore used for mopping and Mr. 
Preston says he thinks that he used one or two 
abdominal swabs for packing only. In those cir-
cumstances, it is unlikely, in my view, that the 
pack was left in at the time of Mr. Preston's op-
eration. It is, I think, significant that no case 
has been cited to mo in any medical text-book where 
a pack has remained dormant for over twelve months. 

I think that the position can be fairly summed 
10 up, as it was, by Mr. Ormerod, namely that while 

it is possible for a foreign body of this nature 
to remain quiescent for an indefinite period, it 
is improbable. The human body is a complex organ-
ism, which occasionally behaves in an unpredict-
able manner and it is difficult to rule out any-
thing as utterly impossible. A Civil Court, is 
concerned, however, not with possibilities, theo-
retical or otherwise, but with the balance of 
probabilities and, applying that test, I see no 

20 escape from the conclusion that this pack was left 
in Mrs, Cooper's body at the time of the operation 
performed by Mr. Nevill, on the 1st February, 1956, 
and I so find as a fact. 
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It is now necessary to consider the question 
of negligence and I will deal with this aspect of 
the case, so far as the first defendant, Mr .Nevill, 
is concerned. Before coming to the facts, how-
ever, it is necessary to consider the law relating 
to a-case such as this. Mrs. Kean, for the plain-

30 tiff, has argued that this is a case where the 
doctrine of RES IPSA LOQUITUR applies and she has 
relied on the decision of the Court of Appeal in 
Mahon v. Osborne, 1939, 1 A.E.R., 535; 1939 2 K.B. 
14 - 108 L.J. K.B. 567. There has been consider-
able argument in the course of the present hearing 
as to what precisely that case did decide. Accor-
ding to the head-note in the All England Reports, 
it was held "Goddard L.J. dissenting, that the 
doctrine of RES IPSA LOQUITUR did not apply in the 

40 case of a complicated surgical operation, but the 
head-note in both the Kings Bench and Law Journal 
Reports indicates that the majority decision was 
that it did apply and this view of the effect of 
the decision is expressed in Clarke and Lindsell -
Torts - 10th Edition at p.84 and Salmond on Torts 
11th Edition, p.519. It is quite clear that Scott 
L.J. in Mahon v, Osborne, emphatically decided 
that the doctrine was not applicable. Goddard L.J. 
held that it did. The third judgment is that of 
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MacKinnon L.J. There are two passages in his judg-
ment which unquestionably indicate that the learned 
Lord Justice was of opinion that the doctrine RES 
IPSA LOQUITUR did apply. I quote from the All 
England Reports at p.553 para, (c) where the 
Learned Lord Justice said: 

"The plaintiff, having no means of knowing 
what happened in the theatre, was in the 
position of being able to ro'J.yon the maxim 
RES IPSA LOQUITUR so as to say, one or more 
of these five men have been negligent, since 
the swab was beyond question left in the 
abdomen of the deceased". 

p.554 - paragraph (c) he says: 

10 

"At the close of the plaintiffs case, no evi-
dence having been called for her on the sur-
gical question, counsel for defendant sub-
mitted that there was no case made out. If 
he had been bold enough to persist in that 
contention, I think that the_ Judge would have 
rightly overruled it". 

This is, of course, the test. If the plaintiff in 
that case had proved no more than the fact that a 
swab was left in his body and the doctrine of RES 
IPSA LOQUITUR did not apply, a submission of no 
case would have been successful. 

20 

There does not appear to be anything like com-
plete unanimity of judicial opinion as to the ap-
plication of the doctrine of RES IPSA LOQUITUR in 
cases of this kind or, if it does apply, as to the 30 
extent of its applicability. In Van Wyk v. Lewis 
the Appellate Division of the South African Supreme 
Court unanimously held that it did not apply. In 
Morris v. Wlnsbury-White, 1937, 4 A.E.R. 494, 
Tucker J. held that it did not apply in the cir-
cumstances of that case but it is to be noted that 
at p.499 when dealing-with the contention that RES 
IPSA LOQUITUR applied, he said: "Here you have the 
plaintiff, it is quite true under the control, you 
may call it, of the defendant, or in his power 40 
during the operations of November 2r'lh and Decem-
ber 18th, and if the whole controversy in question 
in this case had been what happened at these opera-
tions, it may be that there might be something in 
Mr. Eddy's observations and submissions with re-
gard to that". 
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The Learned Judge then went on to say that the case 
for tho plaintiff was that the occurrence took 
place at another time. 

I have already referred to Mali on v. Oshorne. 
Mackinnon L.J. was of opinion in that' case that 
the doctrine applied against both the surgeon and 
the nurse, but a ruling on that point was not neces-
sary for the decision in that case. Goddard L.J., 
on tho other hand, confined it to the case of the 

10 surgeon. 
It is a general rule that before RES IPSA 

LOQUITUR can be applied the occurrence must amount 
to negligence on the part of the person whom the 
plaintiff wishes to hold responsible, or to negli-
gence on the part of ono or more individuals for 
whose acts that person is vicariously liable. In 
the present case, of course, the second defendants 
are not responsible in law for the acts of the 
first defendant. An illustration of this-is the 

20 case of Cassldy v. the Ministry of Health, 1951, 
2 K.B. p.343. "In that case the Court of Appeal 
held that RES IPSA LOQUITUR did apply, but it is 
clear from the judgment that the Court based its 
decision on the fact that the defendant was res-
ponsible for all the persons on whose part the 
negligence was alleged. At p.348 Somervell L.J. 
said: 
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"I have gone straight to the result because, 
in my opinion, on the basis that the hospital 

30 was responsible for all those in whose charge 
the plaintiff was, the surgeon, doctor and 
nurses, the result seems to me to raise a 
case of RES IPSA LOQUITUR". 

There is a New Zealand case, MacDonald v. Pottinger, 
referred to in Nathan, Medical Negligence, p.112, 
where a patient in whose body a pair of forceps had 
been left after an operation sued only the surgeon 
who performed the operation. It was there held 
that RES IPSA LOQUITUR did not apply, since a num-

40 ber of other persons took part in the operation and 
might have been responsible for the mishap. In Roe 
v. Minister of Health, 1954, 1W.L.R. 128, McNair 
J. in the Court of the first instance, having held 
that the defendants were not liable vicariously 
for the acts of one of the persons whose negligence 
might have caused the accident, namely the anaes-
thetist, said: 
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"As to the extent of the application of the 
doctrine of RES IPSA LOQUITUR where the thing 
or operation is under the control of two 
persons not in law responsible for each other, 
I am unable to understand how it can be said 
that the maxim can apply to either of such 
persons'since the RES, if it speaks of neg-
ligence, does not speak of negligence against 
either individual". 

The Court of Appeal, held, 1954, 2 Q.B. 71, that 
the defendant was vicariously liable for the acts 
of the anaesthetist. Somervell L.J. referring to 
the remarks of Tucker J. in the court below, which 
I have cited, said at p.80: 

10 

"Our attention was drawn to some observations 
in Mahon v<> Osborne which suggest this is too 
widely stated". 

Later, however, he says: 
"Having come to the conclusion that the hos-
pital were responsible for Dr. Graham, the 
judge's reason (which is applicable in cer-
tain cases) for excluding the maxim has not 
operated on my mind". 

20 

On the other hand, Denning L.J. said: 
"I went into the matter with some care in 
Cassidy v. the Ministry of Health and I ad-
here to all I there said. In the second place, 
I do not think that the hospital authorities 
and Dr„ Graham can both avoid giving an explan-
ation by the simple expedient of each throwing 30 
responsibility on to the other. If an injured 
person shows that one or the other or both of 
two persons injured him, but cannot say which 
of them it was, then he is not defeated alto-
gether". 

This, of course, having regard to the fact that the 
court has held that the hospital authority was res-
ponsible for the anaesthetist must be regarded as 
OBITER. The view which, so far as mj7 researches 
go; appears to have the weight of authority behind 40 
it, is that in a case such as the present, where 
the plaintiff alleges negligence on the part of one 
or other or both of two persons for whom the defen-
dants are not vicariously liable, the doctrine does 
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not apply, 
pressed in 
this point 
treated as 

I respectfully agree with the view ex-
Nathan's Medical Negligcnco at p.114 on 

must he 
must estab-
against the 

The present case, therefore, 
ono in which the plaintiff 

lish the negligence which she alleges 
defendants as in the normal case. 

As to the standard of 
required by law to show, I 
quote from tho judgment in 
Scott L.J. p.357, in the All 
says: 

care which a surgeon is 
cannot do better than 
Mali on v. 0 sb o rn e of 
England Reports which 

This case is one of very groat and general 
importance. It calls for close and anxious 
attention by reason of the double need on the 
one hand of enforcing a high standard of care 
for the surgeon-against the grave danger of an 
overlooked swab, and on the other hand of pro-
tecting the surgeon from the risk of condemna-
tion for actionable want of care, where he has- in 
reality been doing his best for his patient, 
but as, under the urgent need of closing the 
operation as quickly as possible in the pre-
sence of other dangers to the patient, made a 
slip of memory, perhaps through a failure, 
unrealised by him, of a mechanical precaution 
like the swab clip. V/hether or not that slip 
amounts to negligence may be a difficult ques-
tion. Tho important principle is that a 
decision of actionable want of care cannot 
justly be reached without taking due account 
of all the circumstances of the particular 
operation, and the legal standard of care 
cannot bo sot higher than that of the ordina-
rily good and careful practitioner in those 
circumstances." 

At page 548 Scott L.J. says: 
"Before I discuss the Judge's summing up, it 
is desirable to recall the well established 
legal measure of a professional man's duty. 
If he professes en art, he must be reasonably 
skilled in it he must also be care-
ful, but the standard of care which the law 
requires is not insurance against accidental 
slips. It is such a degree of care as a nor-
mal skilful member of the profession may 
reasonably be expected to exercise in the 
actual circumstances of the case in question. 
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It is not every slip or mistake which imports 
negligence and, in applying the duty and care 
to the case of a surgeon it is peculiarly 
necessary to have regard to the different-
kinds of circumstances that may present them-
selves for urgent attention". 

The learned Lord Justice then goes on to enumerate 
a number of circumstances which are applicable to 
major abdominal operation and which might excuse 
failure to remove a pack. I shall revert to these 
later on. 

10 

I now come to the evidence with regard to this 
particular operation. Before describing the op-
eration itself, it will be convenient at this stage 
to describe the system in force at the New European 
Hospital for checking and counting of packs and 
swabs. The expression "swab" appears to be -a 
generic term used to cover two kinds of article, 
first the small finger swabs which are usual.ly made 
of gauze and used for mopping blood and various 20 
other•purposes such as painting the area of the 
wound, or for dressing the wound after the opera-
tion. The second kind consists-of pieces of tur-
kish towelling, varying in size, but usually meas-
uring- something like 10" x 8" and hemmed at the 
edges, with a loop at one corner. These may be 
used either for mopping purposes where the amount 
of blood is such that finger swabs would be in-
adequate, or for what has been described as "re-
straining purposes" i.e. for placing in the body 30 
in order to clear the operational field. When 
used for this purpose it is the usual practice 
and certainly the practice of all the surgeons who 
gave evidence in this case, to attach a Spencer-
Wells artery forcep to the tape. The forcep is at 
all times protruding clear of the wound. The amount 
of tape protruding would, of course, depend upon 
the proximity of the pack to the outer surface of 
the wound. The Spencer-Wells forcep resembles a 
pair of scissors with two finger holes-at one end 4-0 
and transversely corrugated arms which, when closed, 
bite closely on the tape. It is about 5" long. 
It is not tho normal practice for packs used for 
mopping to be left in the body. The surgeon retains 
hold of them the whole time until he discards them. 
It is not usual to have forceps attached since they 
would get in the way. It appears that some surgeons 
never use finger swabs for mopping because of the 
danger of their being overlooked. Mr. Braimbridgo 
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10 

20 

30 

40 

mentioned that ho occasionally 
in tho "body for the purpose of 
but that is not a circumstance 
in the prosent caso. 

left mopping pack: 
staunching blood, 
which is material 

operation the 
takes that is 
the drum with 

50 

The system in force at the New European 
Hospital for checking and counting packs and swabs 
is as follows:- The packs are made in the work-
room at the hospital and tapes sewn on there. 
Soiled packs are washed in the hospital premises. 
After washing, boiling and drying, they are put 
into a special drawer to await the sister, or who-
ever is going to check thorn into the store cupboard. 
This is done by one of the theatre staff. Before 
being put into the cupboard, packs are tested to 
make sure that they each have a tape and that this 
is securely sown on. Tho packs are then rolled 
into bundles of three and placed in a storage cup-
board. At a later stage they are taken out of 
the cupboard and put into drums for the purpose of 
sterilisation. At this stage they are again checked 
to make sure that there is a tape on each of them 
and that they are in bundles of three. Before an 

sister who is laying out the trolley 
known as a laparotomy bundle out of 
forceps and lays it on a trolley. 

The bundle consists of four dressing towels for 
towelling up the patient and a large•abdominal 
sheet which goos on after the towels, two bundles 
each of twelve gauze swabs, one roll of three packs 
and one roll of wool for dressing. The sister who 
is taking the case, first of all breaks one bundle 
of twelve swabs and checks to see if the number is 
correct, separating each one. She places six on 
the top of the trolley. If it is anticipated that 
packs are going to be used, the bundle of three is 
taken from the bottom of the trolley (the trolley 
consists of two shelves) and placed on the top. 
The pack is then unrolled and the packs are checked 
one by one. If it is known at this stage that more 
than one bundle of packs is likely to be used, 
extra bundles are taken out of another drum, label-
led "abdominal packs". When the trolley is being 
laid, they would be put at the side of the laparo-
tomy bundle, but when the sister who is taking the 
case is scrubbed up she puts the extra packs on 
the bottom of the trolley and only leaves on the 
top those actually in use. If the three packs in 
use are exhausted, another bundle is taken from 
the bottom of the trolley and checked in the same 

At no stage in the operation is more than one 
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bundle of three packs on the top cf the trolley. 
If a pack is going to be used for "restraining 
purposes",• the Spencer-Wells clip may be attached, 
either by the surgeon or the theatre sister in 
charge. When the surgeon has finished using a 
"restraining" pack he hands it back to the sister 
who takes off the forcep and either puts the pack 
into the bowl of hot saline solution which is by 
her or discards it. If she discards it, she puts 
in into what is known as a "run-around bowl" on 
the floor. When the surgeon has finished with a 
mopping pack, he may discard it by putting it into 
another "run-around bowl" by his feet. The-sister 
may then either put it into the saline bowl, or 
discard it. When packs are discarded they are 
picked up by the "dirty nurse" with forceps as 
are discarded and placed on a mackintosh sheet 
the floor, where the sister 
eye on them. The packs are 
threes, side by side. When 
on the sheet, the "dirty nur 

they 
on 

in charge can keep an 
invariably laid out in 
there are three packs 
se" reports "I have 

three packs sister" and the sister looks over and 
checks. When the packs have been checked, the 
"dirty nurse" puts them together in threes on the 
mackintosh. If more than three are used the "dirty-
nurse" counts them in threes, leaving the three in 
the bundle. The second bundle goes at the side of 
the first and so on. At the end of the operation 
the sister in charge looks over to the mackintosli 
and asks the "dirty nurse" how many swobs she has. 
On receiving the number, the sister.checks herself 
and checks with the clean swabs on her trolley, to 
make sure that the total amounts to twelve. Simi-
larly in the case of the packs, the "dirty nurse" 
tells her how many completed bundles of three she 
has and gives the number of any odd ones over. 
This is then checked by the sister with those on 
the trolley. Prior to sewing up the wound, the 
surgeon either asks the sister-in charge whether 
the swabs, including of course, the packs, are cor-
rect, or it may be that the sister herself volun-
teers the information. He does not sew up until he 
has received an assurance that the count is correct 
None of the experienced surgeons who gave evidence 
in this case had any fault to find, with this system 
and I see no reason to dissent from this view 
is not in fact 
the system was 

It 

however, are m 
the case for the 
an improper one. 
the last resort 

human element 
bility. 

plaintiffs that 
All such systems, 
dependant on the 

and as such liable to human falli-

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 
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I now comc to the circumstances of this par-
ticular operation. Mrs. Cooper was brought into 
hospital somewhere in the neighbourhood of 2.30 
p.m. Sho was first seen by Dr. Lawos who subsequ-
ently actcd as anaesthetist at 2.40 p.m. She had 
apparently been removed to hospital as a result of 
prompt action by Dr. Gillespie and Dr. Spiers. Hor 
condition on arrival was described by Dr. Lawes as 
follows:- "She was comatose, pulseless,•no blood 

10 pressure, grey-faced, cold and sweating, with 
sighing respirations and the heart could just be 
heard with a stethescope. In short, she was dying". 
Dr. Lawes took a sample of blood from a vein in the 
neck, which was the only one available to a needle, 
and this was sent to the laboratory for grouping 
and cross-matching with blood in the blood bank. 
Ho states that while blood was being made available, 
she was given three pints of saline and artificial 
plasma under pressure in ten minutes. Altogether 

20 six and a half pints of blood were given to her be-
tween then and 4 p.m. At 3 p.m. he telephoned Mr. 
Nevill, who arrived shortly after, and at this time 
she was, to use Dr. L awes' s words, "just becoming an 
operable risk". Mr. Nevill described her condition 
at that time as "not in any sense of the word a 
reasonable operative risk". Nevertheless, it was-
decided that an immediate operation was essential, 
as being the only hope of stopping the haemorrhage 
which was killing her. At first it was doubtful 

30 whether it would even be safe to move the patient 
into tho theatre, but ultimately it was decided to 
do so. It was, however, considered unsafe to move 
her on to the operating table and the operation had 
to be conducted upon the patient in her bed. The 
disadvantages of this are obvious. The two main 
ones are, of course, that first a bed is consider-
ably wider than the operating table, with the re-
sult that the surgeon cannot get as near to a pat-
ient as is desirable and secondly that he•has to 

40 operate throughout" in a stooping position, with 
consequent additional fatigue. In normal opera-
tions, what is known-as a "nayo" tray containing 
instruments, is placed over the patient's legs on 
the operating table, but this is impracticable if 
the patient is in bed. This was the first occas-
ion on which Mr. Nevill had ever operated on a 
patient in bed. 
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50 
The following persons took part in this opera-

tion. First of all there was Mr. Neyill himself. 
He is a Bachelor of Medicine (Dublin), a Fellow of 
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the Royal College of Surgeons and a Master of Sur-
gery (University of Dublin). I am informed that 
the degree of Master of Surgery is the highest 
attainable in surgery. He qualified in 1938. 
During his twenty years in practice he has per-
formed between two thousand and four thousand 
operations. He was assisted by Dr. Wilson, as 
assistant surgeon, who had at that stage been 
qualified for some four or five years. The anaes-
thetist was Dr. Lawes, the senior Government Anaes-
thetist. Dr. Robertson-Glasgow supervised the 
auto-transfusion. The sister in charge was Sister 
Banks. She is a S tate Registered nurse who has 
been nursing for nine years - four of them at the 
New European Hospital. She had about six years' 
experience as a theatre sister, in the course of 
which she has taken some two thousand operations 
and over a thousand at the New European Hospital. 
Sister Banks was described by Mr. Braimbridge as 
"the most competent and conscientious sister who 
had ever worked for him". She was given the high-
est testimonials by all the other surgeons and I 
have not the slightest doubt that these are well 
deserved. She was assisted by Nurse 
has been described by Mr. Braimbridge 
competent nurse". Sister Pearce, the 
was also present, but not scrubbed up 
dered assistance in various minor ways 
and Nurse Smith are 
not give evidence. 

Smith who 
as "a very 
ward nurse, 
and she ren-

Dr. Wilson 
now out of the country and did 

10 

20 

30 
To oome to the operation itself. Mr. Nevill 

states that he made a mid-line incision. There 
was no bleeding from the body, which is an unusual 
circumstance and indicates the gravity of the pat-
ient's condition. He found the abdominal cavity 
full of blood. He placed his left hand deep into 
the pelvis and felt that the left cornu of the 
uterus had burst. He seized this, which was the 
bleeding point, between his finger and thumb and 
held firm to control any further bleeding. The 
bleeding was in fact stopped within 30 seconds or 
so. Blood was then sucked out of the abdominal 
cavity and placed in specially prepared bottles 
for the purpose of auto-transfusiv.n. There were 
some four pints removed in this manner. There was 
still a quantity of blood in the abdomen. This was 
removed by Mr. Nevill and Dr. Wilson by using mop-
ping packs. Two or three pints were removed in 
this manner. No clips were attached to these mop-
ping packs Mr. Nevill is positive that he did 

40 

50 
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10 

not release hold of any mopping pack that he used, 
because this would not bo the normal practice. He 
could not say for certain whether Dr. Wilson did 
or not, but it would be most unlikely. The sucking 
and mopping took about from five to eight minutes. 
For the purpose of sewing the ruptured part and in 
order to keep the field of work clear, Mr. Nevill 
packed back all the intestines, using two or three 
packs. Those had both tapes and Spencer-Wells 
forceps. He then sewod up the uterus. The foetus 
which had caused the trouble was lying free in the 
pelvic cavity and beside it was the plastic tube 
which had boon used in order to achieve pregnancy. 
He then checked the pelvic cavity to see that it 
was free of blood clots, and that there-was no 
other bleeding from the ruptured uterus, which he 
had stitched. The stage was then reached when he 
was ready to terminate 
account of his actions 

the operation. Mr. Nevill's 
at this point is as follows: 
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20 "Having checked that the pelvic cavity was 
clear I then removed the packing swabs which 
I had placed, checking carefully the area in-
volved; removing at the same time consider-
able quantities of blood which were oozing 
down from the upper parts of the abdomen. 
When I was sure that I had done all that I 
should do in the way of routine checking for 
packs, I was ready to sew up. While I was 
checking inside, the theatre staff, under 

30 the direction of Sister Banks, was checking 
up outside, in our routine procedure to en-
sure against leaving swabs behind. I was 
assured that the swab count was correct. 
Sister Banks assured me. You do not sew up 
until you are informed and until you have 
completed your own check". 

Later on he says: 
"My absolute routine is that I personally 
always remove the packs which I know that 

40 I have placed in the abdomen or my assistant 
has placed. It is my responsibility. I then 
always check the operation area to make sure 
that none others or any foreign body could 
have crept in by mistake". 

Neither Mr. Nevill or Sister Banks could remember 
in this particular instance, whether she volunte-
ered the information that the count was correct or 
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whether Mr. Nevill first asked the question. Both 
she and Mr. Nevill are positive that the informa-
tion was given and I have no hesitation in accep-
ting that. In cross-examination Mr. Nevill said 
that he knew where he had put the two or three 
packs. They were in an obvious position and he 
would not have needed any guidance to them. He 
went on to say: 

"In this case I did carry out my routine 
check. We did the best we could". 

He then explained his routine check in rather more 
detail. 

"I remove the swabs that I know I have placed 
in position. I look to see, within reason-
able limitations, that there are no other 
swabs visible. I feel with my hand into all 
reasonable places where a swab might hide 
itself and when I am absolutely certain that 
there are no foreign bodies inside the abdo-
men, I question Sister about her swab count, 
unless it may be that she has already told 
me her swabs are correct, in which case the 
question would be superfluous". 

Mr. Nevill also said: 
"I never do rely completely on the theatre 
Sister's count. I rely on my own count in 
addition". 

He emphasised that he carried out this routine in 
the present case and that this was not a case which 
made the routine check impossible, 

The operation was completely successful, in 
that it achieved its object, which was the saving 
of Mrs. Cooper's life. The operation was described 
by Mr. Barber as "extremely difficult and hazard-
ous", and there is no doubt that it was a brilliant 
piece of. surgery. Mr. Nevill himself described it 
as an "incredibly difficult and delicate operation", 
and he said that he had never been faced with con-
ditions such as those in his whole career. Mr. 
Braimbridge said that he had only known one other 
case of an operation of this kind being performed 
on a patient in the condition of Mrs. Cooper. Mr. 
Nevill readily agreed that the credit was not his 
alone, but was to be shared by all who had dealt 
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with Mrs. Cooper, "both before and after her admis-
sion to hospital on the day in question. 

Mr. Barber, dealing with the question of a 
soaroh at the close of the operation, says: 

"If I have put packs in an abdomen I do a 
mental count of the packs whon I insert them. 
I keep a mental count in my mind and I expect-
to find the same number when I remove them at 
the end of the operation. I think if ono 

10 knows in a big operation that one had used a 
number of packs, I do subconsciously feel 
around the area in which I have been working, 
but I cannot say that it is a conscious 
search. I do this because I am afraid that 
I might leave one behind. This feeling takes 
a second or two. I do not make a general 
search of the whole abdomen for packs". 

Mr. Braimbridge said that his practice is to remove 
the packs which, to the best of his knowledge and 

20 belief, he has put in. He said that he would make 
a search in the places where he thought he had put 
packs, but he would not make a general search of 
the abdomen. The reason, of course, for this, is 
that any interference with organs increases the 
degree of shock. He expressed the opinion, having 
heard Mr. Nevill1s account of what he had done, 
that Mr. Nevill had done more than was necessary. 
He also went on to say that in his opinion if a 
pack was left in at any operation it would just be 

30 "bad luck", a proposition which hardly calls for 
any comment from me. Mr. Ormerod said that in 
emergency conditions and in the particular circum-
stances of this operation, he would expect the 
ordinary, careful surgeon to feel in the position 
where he thought, or remembered, ho had put a pack. 
He would expect him to ask the sister in charge if 
she was satisfied. He would then expect him to 
close the abdomen as rapidly as possible. 

There is no-direct evidence as to whether the 
40 pack in question, which was found in the body, was 

one of the two or three "restraining" packs, or 
whether it was one of those used for mopping. The 
total number of packs used in the whole operation 
was stated to be in the region of twenty. This is 
a large number, but was necessitated by the very 
great amount of blood which had to be removed from 
the abdominal cavity. To my mind the probabilities 
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are that it was one of the•restraining packs, be-
cause it is not the normal, and in fact would be 
improper procedure, for a surgeon to release hold 
of a mopping pack. Mr. Nevill is confident that 
he did no such thing. In the mopping he was assis-
ted by Dr. Wilson, and although he kept a close 
observation on Dr. Wilson, he is unable to say with 
any certainty, whether Dr. Wilson left a mopping 
pack in the body. If he did so, that would un-
doubtedly be negligence and it is conceded that Mr. 10 
Nevill is responsible for negligence, if there was 
any, on the part of Dr. Wilson. If it was a res-
training pack, it must follow that the forceps 
somehow or other became detached without anybody 
noticing it. Stress has rightly been laid by 
learned counsel for Mr. Nevill on the difficulties 
of the operation, the circumstances in which it had 
to be carried out with the patient in bed and, of 
course, these are all matters which have to be 
taken into account in deciding whether the surgeon 20 
is guilty of negligence. As Lord Justice Scott 
pointed out in Mahon v. Osborne, p. 545, in the All 
England Reports, there are a number-of factors which 
are operating on the surgeon's mind, for instance; 
1. The patient should not be kept under anaes-
thetic for a moment longer than is necessary; 
2. There should be no pause in the continuity of 
the operation, even at the time of the count; 
3. The patient should be moved and touched as 
little and possible; 4. That any extension of 30 
the field of operation which involves handling 
should be avoided because of the risk of increasing 
surgical shock, causing subsequent adhesions and 
particularly in abdominal cases, of sepsis•spread-
ing. Mr. Ormerod said that it is possible, in at-
tempting to get a clear view of the area, the sur-
geon would pack a swab down and forget where he had 
put it under these conditions of stress and that he 
might fail to remember that he had put it there. 
Furthermore it might be that the pack could be dis- 40 
placed during the manipulations, which are neces-
sary in this operation. It is, of course, not an 
uncommon oocurronce in abdominal operations that 
the movement of the intestine is so great that this 
may cause the pack to be displaced, but Mr. Nevill 
says that the movement in this case was comparatively 
slight and was not more than an inch or so. Further-
more, he was particularly insistent that he remem-
bered where he had put the packs and that they were 
in an obvious position, it is not suggested that 50 
the final stages of the operation had to be accel-
erated in this case because the patient was showing 
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signs of collapso. On the contrary, the evidence 
indicates that towards the end of tho operation, 
which lasted about half an hour, the condition of 
the patient had very slightly improved, no doubt 
owing to the stopping of the bleeding and the trans-
fusion. There was, therefore, no need for special 
haste at this stage apart from the general over-
riding necessity for speed in an operation of this 
kind. It cannot be said either that Mr. Nevill did 

10 not havo tho assistance of an ample staff. It seems 
to mo that all tho conditions which might reason-
ably excuse a surgeon overlooking a pack were ex-
cluded by Mr. Novill in his evidence. Making all 
allowances for the very great difficulties of this 
particular operation, and I have endeavoured not to 
minimise them, I cannot see that there was any 
casual connection between these difficulties and 
Mr. Nevill's failure to remove the packs. He said 
over and over again in his evidence that he carried 

20 out his normal routine. In my opinion, the evi-
dence points to the fact that Mr. Nevill did not 
make such a search as was reasonable and necessary 
in the circumstances, and that he failed to carry 
out his routine practice in this case with his 
usual care. He had only two or throe packs to re-
member, they had not moved appreciably free from 
the position in which they were originally placed, 
and they were after all, not inconspicuous objects. 
It soems to me that Mr. Nevill is in fact convicted 

30 of negligence out of his own mouth. 

Each case, of course, depends upon its own 
circumstances, but reference may be made to the 
case of Dunlop v, James, a report of which appears • 
in Vol.1 of the 1931 British Medical Journal, p.731, 
where a jury found a surgeon to have beon guilty of 
negligence and the Court of Appeal refused to dis-
turb the verdict. In that case the surgeon made no 
attempt himself to count the packs, nor to search 
for them and the evidence as to whether he was in-

40 formed by the nurse that the count was correct was 
unsatisfactory, lord Justice Scrutton made certain 
observations, which I do not think were intended as 
laying down any principle of law and, of course, 
must be considered in the light of the particular 
case before him, but in my view they are all par-
ticularly relevant to the present case. He says 
at p.731: 
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"A well recognised operation was carried out. 
It was an essential part of the operation to 
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wall off the gall bladder by the insertion of 
certain crumpled up pieces of towelling, or 
sometimes of gauze. Usually the wall would 
be mado of three bundles of such material. 
It is quite clear that the only person who 
puts those things in and selects the places 
where they shall be put is the doctor. He 
puts in, not a large number, but generally 
three. Any jury would be impressed by the 
substantial character of a crumpled piece of 10 
towelling. It is a set part of the operation 
for the doctor, and the doctor only, to take 
out the three, or more, big packs of towel-
ling he has put in. He must know whore he 
has put them and it is his business to take 
them out. The jury answered "no" to the 
question, "Did the defendant make such search 
in the wound as was reasonable and necessary?" 
Is that the answer which the jury might not 
arrive at reasonably? My impression is that 20 
any jury who had felt that towelling and seen 
the size of it, would come to the conclusion 
that it was careless not to have taken it out. 
Dr. Dunlop's case was that the pack might be 
put in at the commencement of the operation 
and it might move away. I cannot say that 
the jury were wrong if they entirely rejected 
this theory of the perambulating swab, ulti-
mately coming to rest". 

As I have said, no such theory has been put forward 30 
by Mr. Nevill in this case. 

It is not, of course, the duty of a defendant 
in these circumstances, to prove the absence of 
negligence, but I think it is significant that Mr. 
Nevill is not able to suggest any explanation how 
this pack came to be left in the body. His case 
is, of course, that he is positive that it was not, 
but of course, no surgeon who leaves a pack in the 
body of a patient is ever conscious of having done 
so. To sum up, if the pack was a mopping pack it 40 
was negligence on the part of the person who used 
it, whether it was Dr. Nevill or Dr. Wilson, to 
lose control of it and leave it in the body. If it 
was a restraining pack, having regard to the small 
number used and their obvious position, the absence 
of movement and the lack of any particular need for 
haste at the conclusion of the operation immediately 
prior to sewing up, it was negligence on the part of 
Mr. Nevill, not to remove it, the responsibility 
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"being, an he admits, upon him to do no, and there 
"being no justification for departure from the nor-
mal routine. In my view the whole circumstances 
of this operation are more consistent with negli-
gence on the part of Mr. Nevill than the absence 
of it. 

I now pass to the third issue, whether there 
was negligence on tho part of the second defendants. 
If it were a fact, as I have found it to be, that 

10 a pack was left in the body of Mrs. Cooper at this 
operation, it follows ex hypothesi that the count 
of tho sister in charge, or of the dirty nurse, or 
both of them, was wrong. I have not been able to 
find any case where the standard of care required 
of the theatre sister has been expressly laid down, 
but I take it that it would be analogous to that 
of the Doctor, namely that she must exercise the 
care expected of an ordinary good and careful the-
atre sister. I cannot find any case in which a 

20 theatre sister, who has made a mistake in the count, 
has boen absolved of negligence, except the sister 
in Mahon v. Osborne, who was exonerated by the jury. 
The Court of Appeal, however, described the jury's 
verdict as illogical. As the learned author of 
Nathan points out at p.86: 

"It may be said that the fact that a swab is 
overlooked at the end of an operation leads 
almost inevitably to the conclusion that the 
nurse or sister charged with the duty of 

30 counting has failed in that duty and has 
therefore been guilty of negligence for which 
the hospital employing her is liable". 
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The authority quoted for that proposition is the 
case of Urry v. Bierer, reported in the Times of 
16th March, 1955. It would indeed require excep-
tional circumstances to free a theatre sister, or 
any member of the nursing staff from any suspicion 
of nogligenco in the event of an erroneous count 
and I cannot see that any such circumstances were 

40 present here. Mr. Braimbridge describes the con-
ditions in the theatre at the time of the operation, 
when he happened to be there, as quite normal, in 
the sense that nobody was flustered or prevented 
from carrying out the usual routine. Mr.Braimbridge 
said that in the case of an emergency operation, 
particularly one such as this, everything has to 
be done "in double quick time", but he was careful 
to exclude from this the theatre sister's count. 
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Indeed the greater the stress placed upon the sur-
geon, the greater in my view becomes the responsi-
bility of the theatre staff to see that their 
routine duties are meticulously carried out. The 
count is the most important duty laid upon the 
sister, because although the surgeon may make a 
search himself, and may be reasonably sure in his 
own mind that he has removed everything, it is 
upon the sister's count that he will finally de-
pend. 10 

It sometimes ho,ppens that a theatre sister 
has to carry out the duties of an assistant sur-
geon, but she was relieved of those in the present 
case and she had a dirty nurse to help her in the 
counting of the packs. She herself has described 
the atmosphere in the theatre as quite normal for 
an emergency operation and she does not suggest 
that she became flurried. So far as she was con-, 
cerned this was just another emergency operation. 
She says that after the patient had been removed 20 
from the theatre, she carried out a further careful 
check of the packs and found them to be correct and 
I do not doubt her word as to this, but•of coursc, 
it is possible for a mistake, once made, to be 
carried through. In any event, as I have said 
previously if, in fact, a pack was left in, it 
follows that the count must have been wrong. I 
find accordingly that the plaintiff has established 
negligence on the part of Sister Banks and Nurse 
Smith and it follows that the second defendants 30 
are liable for such negligence. 

On the fourth issue my finding is that both 
the defendants are to blame and if I were to assess 
the respective degree of negligence, I would say 
that the first defendant and the servants of the 
second defendant were equally to blame. There is, 
however, no claim for contribution in this case. 

Finally it remains to consider the question of 
damages. The items of special damage have been 
agreed at Sh.5,189.80 so far as the medical expen- 40 
ses are concerned. There is a claim for loss of 
profit from a poultry farm, carriod on by the 
plaintiffs, amounting to Sh.1,400/-. It is said 
that-as a result of Mrs. Cooper's partial incapa-
city, she has been prevented from supervising the 
farm as effectively as she-used to do in the past. 
I find it quite impossible, however, to award any-
thing under this head, because Mr. Cooper is unable 
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to supply any figures as to the profits over other 
years and I have no basis upon which I can arrive 
at any figure. The.ro is a claim by Mr. Cooper for 
damages for loss of consortium. In my view the 
only period in respect of which suoh a claim is 
maintainable is tho period of 46 days which Mrs. 
Cooper spent in hospital as the result of the'last 
operation. I award the first plaintiff Sh.1,000/-
undor this hoad. 

10 So far as the second plaintiff is concerned, 
as a result of the leaving in of this pack she has 
undoubtedly gone through considerable pain and 
suffering. I have already mentioned the abdominal 
pains and vomiting which led up to her admission 
to the Maia Carberry Nursing Home.. After her dis-
charge the pains and vomiting became recurrent and 
the period up to her admission to hospital in Oc-
tober, 1956, was described by her as "a nightmare". 
She mentions one occasion after her admission to 

20 hospital and before the operation, when the pain 
became so intense that she got out of bed, put on 
her coat and shoes and decided to run out and throw 
herself under a car. She was, in fact, stopped by 
a nurse in time. Apart from the physical suffering, 
there is always in the case of abdominal pains, a 
considerable psychological effect, particularly 
when the cause of the pain has not been diagnosed. 
Mrs. Cooper says that after a time she came to sus-
pect that she had a cancer. After the operation, 

30 when in hospital, she underwent a good deal of 
physical discomfort from a machine which was used 
for the purpose of draining the wound. She also 
suffered from a fistula. This closed itself before 
she left hospital but she had a discharging sinus 
from where the drainage tube had been left in. 
This eventually cleared up. 

The effects of the removal of seven feet of 
intestine, approximately one-third of the whole, 
are not easy to assess. Mr. Barber expressed the 

40 view that she has probably still got sufficient for 
normal digestive purposes, but that the amount lost 
is about the borderline and that the loss of any 
further portion might have.some effect on her dig-
estive ability. He said that a patient might man-' 
age with half the normal length of small intestine, 
with little or no digestive disturbance , but that 
there would he the probability of more frequent 
bowel action than normally. Mrs. Cooper said that 
she still experienced periodical abdominal pains 
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and this has been confirmed by Er. Thompson. He 
says that an X~Ray of the stomach and intestines 
after' the operation was satisfactory and that these 
pains are probably due to adhesions and that they 
might continue for the rest of her life. 

There was some discussion during the course 
of the case as to whether Mrs. Cooper's child-
bearing capacity had been affected as the result 
of the leaving in of this pack. Er. Thompson said 
that it would be impossible to determine whether 10 
Mrs. Cooper could now have a child without an 
examination under anaesthetic and he is of the 
opinion, having regard to all the operations which 
she had undergone, that this would be inadvisable. 
He added, however, that he would have advised her 
not to attempt to have a child, even before this 
last operation. I think, therefore, that any ques-
tion of Mrs. Cooper's prospects as a mother must be 
left out of account in assessing the damages. 

I assess the general damages to Mrs. Coooer at 20 
Shs.50,000/- (£2,500). 

In conclusion I do not think that anybody who 
has listened to the evidence in this case could 
fail to be left with a feeling of admiration of 
the skill shown by the surgeon and all concerned 
in this operation to which Mrs. Cooper undoubedly 
owes her life. It is unfortunate that an isolated 
lapse from the high standard of care which it is 
clear from the evidence normally prevails at the 
New European Hospital should have had such serious 30 
consequences. 

There will be judgment as follows:-
Against both defendants: 

(a) for the first plaintiff for Shs.1,000/-
(b) for the second plaintiff for Shs.50,000/-
(c) for both plaintiffs for Shs.5,189/80 as 

prayed. 
There will be an order of costs for this suit 

in favour of both plaintiffs, against both defen-
dants. 40 

17th February, 1958 
B.R. MILES, 

Judge. 
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No. 30 
D E G R E E 

IN HER MAJESTY'S SUPREME COURT OE KENYA AT NAIROBI 
CIVIL CASE NO. 808 OF 1957 

1. L.Q.T. COOPER 
2. MRS. R. COOPER .. ... PLAINTIFFS 

versus 
1. GERALD NEVILL 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION DEPENDANTS 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No, 30 

Decree, 
17th February 
1958. 

D E C R E E 
CLAIM for Shs.10,858/05 special damages, gen-

eral "damages interest and costs. 
• THIS SUIT coming on for hearing on the 27th, 

28th, 29'bh, 30th and 31st January and on the 3rd, 
4th and 5th February, 1958 and for judgment on the 
17th February, 1958 before the Honourable Mr. Jus-
tice Miles in the presence of Counsel for the 
Plaintiffs and Counsel for the Defendants IT IS 
ORDERED 

(i) That the Defendants do pay to the first 
Plaintiff the sum of Shs.1,000/-. and do 
pay to the second Plaintiff general darn-
ages amounting to Shs. 50, 000/-. and do 
pay to both Plaintiffs the sum of Shs. 
5,189/80. 

(ii) That the Defendants do also pay to the 
Plaintiffs the taxed costs of this suit, 
such costs to be certified by the Regis-
trar of this Court. 

GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Court 
this 17th day of February 1958. 

Issued this 24th day of April 1958 by the Court. 
P. HEIM 

DEPUTY REGISTRAR 
SUPREME COURT OF KENYA 

AT NAIROBI. 
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In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi . 

Eastern Africa 

No .31 
Notice of 
Appeal (First 
Defendant), 
3rd March 1958. 

No. 31 
NOTICE OF APPEAL 

TAKE NOTICE that G. Nevill, the First Defendant 
herein, being dissatisfied with the decision of tho 
Honourable Mr. Justice Miles, given herein at Nair-
obi, on the 17th day of February 1958, intends to 
appeal to Her Majesty's Court of Appeal for Eastern 
Africa against the whole of the said decision. 

DATED at NAIROBI this 3rd day of March, 1958. 
(Sgd) A.E. Hunter 

for DALY & FIGGIS 
ADVOCATES FOR THE APPELLANT. 

10 

T0:~ 
The Registrar of the Supreme Court of Kenya at 
Nairobi. 
And to: Messrs. Sirley & Kean, 

Advocates for the 1st and 2nd Plaintiffs, 
Nairobi. 

And to: Messrs. Archer & Wilcock.; 
Advocates for the 2nd Defendant, Nairobi. 20 
The address for service of the Appellant 
is care of 
Messrs. Daly & Figgis, Advocates, Clarke's 
Chambers, Northey Street, P.O. Box 34, 
Nairobi. 

Note:- A respondent served with this notice 
is required within fourteen days after such service 
to file in these proceedings and serve on the appel-
lant a notice of his address for service for the 
purpose of the intended appeal, and within a further 30 
fourteen days to serve a copy thereof on every other 
respondent named in this notice who has filed notice 
of an address for service. In the event of non-
compliance the appellant may proceed ex parte. 

Piled the 3rd day of March 1958, at Nairobi. 
(Sgd.) J. Chambers. 

REGISTRAR, 
SUPREME COURT OE KENYA. 
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10 

No. 32 
NOTICE OF APPEAL 

TAKE NOTICE that the Second Defendant, being 
dissatisfied with the decision of the Honourable 
Mr. Justice Miles given herein at Nairobi on the 
Seventeenth day of February 1958, intends to appeal 
to Her Majesty's Court of Appeal for Eastern Africa 
against the whole of the said decision. 

DATED AT NAIROBI THIS 1ST DAY OF MARCH, 1958. 
ARCHER & WILCOCK 

Advocates for the Second 
Defendant. 

TO, The Registrar of the Supreme Court of Kenya at 
Nairobi. 

AND Messrs. Sirley & Kean, Advocates, Princes House, 
Government Road, Nairobi. 

AND Messrs. Daly & Figgis, Advocates, Northey Street, 
Nairobi. 

In the Supreme 
Court of Kenya 
at Nairobi 

Eastern Africa 
No.32 

Notice of 
Appeal (Second 
Defendant), 
1st March 1958, 

THE address for sorvice of the Appellant is 
20 care of Messrs. Archer & Wilcock, Advocates, 

Mutual Building, Hardinge Street, P.O. Box 
10201, Nairobi. 

NOTE: A respondent served with this notice is re-
quired within fourteen days after such ser-
vice to file in these proceedings and serve 
on the Appellant a notice of his address for 
service of the purpose of the intended appeal, 
and within a further fourteen days to serve 
a copy thereof on every other respondent 

30 named in this notice who has filed notice of 
an address for service. In the event of non-
compliance, the appellant may proceed ex 
parte. 

FILED the 1st day of March 1958 at Nairobi. 
(Sgd) J. CHAMBERS, 

REGISTRAR 
SUPREME COURT OF KENYA. 
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It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 33 
Order, 
6th May 1958. 

No. 33 
O R D E R 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OE APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL APPLICATION NO. 2 OF 1958 
IN THE MATTER OF AN INTENDED APPEAL 

BETWEEN 
1. G. NEVILL 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION APPLICANTS 

AND 
1. L.Q.T. COOPER 
2. R. COOPER RESPONDENTS 
(Intended Appeal from a Judgment of the Supreme 
Court of Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Miles) dated 
the 17th February 1958 in Civil Case No. 808 of 
1957 between L.Q.T. Cooper and Another, Plaintiffs, 
and G. Nevill and Another, Defendants). 

10 

IN CHAMBERS this 6th day of May 1958. 
Before the Honourable Mr. Justice Eorbes, Justice 
of Appeal. 

O R D E R 20 
THIS APPLICATION coming on for consideration 

on the 6th day of"May 1958, upon reading the said 
Application dated the 25th day of April 1958 filed 
by Messrs. Daly & Figgis, Advocates for the Appli-
cants herein, and upon reading the Affidavit of 
Alexander Edward Hunter sworn*on the 25th day of 
A.pril 1958 in support thereof, and upon reading the 
letter dated the 29th day of April 1958 from Messrs. 
Sirley & Kean, Advocates for the Respondents herein • • 
IT IS ORDERED that the time to file the Record of 30 
Appeal herein be and is hereby extended for four-
teen days AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the 
Applicants do pay to the Respondents' the costs of 
this Application. 

GIVEN under my hand and the Seal of the Court 
at Nairobi the 6th day of May 1958. 

(Sgd) M.D. DESAI. 
ASSOCIATE REGISTRAR 

H.M. COURT OF APPEAL EOR EASTERN AFRICA. 
ISSUED at NAIROBI this 13th day of May 1958. 40 
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No. 34 
MEMORANDUM OF APPEAL 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL APPEAL NO. 38 OF 1958 
BETWEEN 

GERALD NEVILL and 1st APPELLANT 
KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION 2nd APPELLANT 

AND 
EDWARD QUENTIN TYRRELL COOPER and 
ROSETTA COOPER RESPONDENTS 
(Appeal from a Decree of Her Majesty's Supreme Court 
of Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Miles) dated the 
17th day of February 1958 in Civil Suit No.808 of 
1957 

BETWEEN 
L.Q.T. COOPER and 
MRS. R. COOPER PLAINTIFFS 

AND 
G. NEVILL and 
THE KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION DEPENDANTS) 

It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 34-
Memorandum of 
Appeal, 
13th May 1958. 

Gerald Nevill and the Kenya European Hospital 
20 Association, the Appellants above-named, appeal to 

Her Majesty's Court of Appeal for Eastern Africa 
against the whole of the decision above-mentioned 
on the following grounds, namely:-
1. The finding of the learned judge that the abdo-

minal pack was left in the body of the second 
respondent during the operation performed upon 
her by the first appellant (hereinafter referred 
to as the second operation) was contrary to the 
weight of the evidence. 

30 2. The learned judge, having attached significance 
to the fact that no case in medical text books 
had been cited to him, showing that a pack had 
remained dormant for over twelve months, failed 
to give any or any proper weight or consideration 
to -
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the fact that the second operation was 
performedtwelve months and one week after 
the respondent's previous operation; 
the evidence that the second operation 
could reasonably have disturbed the said 
pack, so as to cause the symptoms which 
resulted in the third operation; 
the evidence of other instances where a 
foreign body had remained dormant in the 
body of a patient for more than twelve 10 
months, and for very long periods; 
the fact that the opinions expressed in 
such text books are necessarily limited 
to cases where the presence of a foreign 
body has become manifest. 

3. The learned judge misdirected himself in law in 
attaching considerable, or any, significance to 
the apparent assumption of Mr. Barber and Dr. 
Thompson that the said pack was left in the body 
in the second operation. 20 

4. The learned judge, failed to give due weight to 
the following matters in, or to be implied from, 
the evidence -

(i) that,-if the said pack had no tape attached 
to it, it could not have been used in the 
second operation; 

(ii) that such packs were used without tapes in 
the Princess Elizabeth Hospital in the 
year 1955; 

(iii) that, in the second operation, there was 30 
a special and additional count of the packs 
after the said operation had been wholly 
concluded, whereas, in the previous opera-
tion, there was no evidence of any count 
except by the surgeon before the completion 
of the said operation. 

5. The learned judge, in finding that the evidence 
as to the presence or absence of a tape on the 
said pack was inconclusive, failed -

(i) to consider that there was no evidence 40 
that there was such a tape, even although, 

It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No.34 (ii) 
Memorandum of 
Appeal, 
13th May 1958 
- continued. (iii) 

(iv) 
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if present, it could have "been easily 
seen; 

(ii) to take into account that the only con-
clusive evidence, namely the pack itself, 
had boon destroyed by the second respon-
dent's own agents; 

(iii) to direct himsolf as to the effect which 
such finding must have upon the onus of 
proof. 

10 6. There was no evidence to support the finding of 
the learned judge that either of the appellants 
was negligent; alternatively, such finding was 
contrary to the weight of the evidence. 

7. The learned judge, having held that the doctrine 
res ipsa loquitur did not apply, misdirected 
himself in law by attaching significance to the 
fact that the first appellant was not able to 
offer any explanation how the said pack came to 
be left in the body of the second respondent. 

20 8. The learned judge, having considered the prin-
ciples contained in the legal authorities cited 
to him, failed to apply them correctly to the 
facts disclosed in evidence and misdirected him-
self in law -

(i) in finding that, if a mopping or restrain-
ing pack was left in the body, it was neg-
ligence on the part of the first appellant; 

(ii) in failing to consider that the overlooking 
of such a pack might reasonably be due to 

30 an accidental slip, not importing negli-
gence; 

(iii) in finding that, even if the counting of 
the said packs by the servants of the 
second appellant was inaccurate, their 
negligence was ipso facto established. 

9. The following findings of the learned judge were 
respectively contrary to the evidence and amoun-
ted to misdirections -
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40 
(i) that there was no need for special haste 

towards the end of the operation; 
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(ii) that all the conditions which might rea-
sonably excuse a surgeon's overlooking a 
pack were excluded by the first appellant 
in his evidence; 

iii) that there was no casual connection between 
the very great difficulties of the second 
operation and the first appellant1s failure 
to remove the said pack; 

(iv) that the first appellant did not make such 
search as was reasonable and necessary in 10 
the circumstances; 

(v) that the first appellant failed to carry 
out his routine practice in this case with 
his usual care; 

(vi) that there was no justification for depar-
ture from the normal routine; 

(vii) that the counting of the said packs by the 
servants of the second appellant was 
faulty. 

10. (i) The learned judge, having found that the 20 
first appellant was informed that the 
count of the packs was correct and that 
ho would finally depend upon that count, 
misdirected himself by failing to con-
sider, or otherwise to give effect to, 
such findings, when coming to a conclusion 
whether the first appellant had followed 
his normal routine and/or whether his neg-
ligence had been established. 

(ii) The learned judge, having found that the 30 
servants of the second appellant had 
carried out the normal routine of counting 
the said packs and had made a special and 
additional count after the conclusion of 
the said operation, misdirected himself by 
failing to consider or give effect to such 
findings, when coming to a conclusion as 
to whether negligence had been established 
against the second appellant. 

11. The general damages awarded to the first and 40 
second respondents respectively were excessive. 
WHEREFORE each of the appellants prays that -
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(i) this appeal may be allowed; 
(ii) the docroo of Her Majesty's Supreme Court 

of Kenya bo sot aside; 
(iii) each may be awarded the respective costs 

of this appeal and of the proceedings in 
the Supreme Court; 

(iv) each may have such further and other re-
lief as may be just. 

DATED at NAIROBI this 9th day of May 1958. 
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10 (Sgd) P.L. HUNTER (Sgd) C.A. ERASER 
for DALY & FIGGIS. for ARCHER & Y/ILCOCK. 

ADVOCATES EOR THE APPELLANT. 

TO: The Honourable Judges of Her Majesty's Court of 
Appeal for Eastern Africa. 

AND TO: Messrs. Sirley & Kean, Advocates for the 
Respondents. 

The address for service of the first appellant is 
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The address for service of the second appellant is 
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Filed the 13th day of May 1958 at Nairobi. 
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for REGISTRAR OE THE COURT OP 
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No. 35 
J U D G M E N T 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL 
FOR EASTERN AFRICA 

AT NAIROBI. 
CIVIL APPEAL NO.38 OF 1958 

BETWEEN 
1. GERALD NEVILL ) 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL) 

ASSOCIATION ) 
AND 

1. LEONARD QUENTIN TYRRELL) 
COOPER ) 

2. ROSETTA COOPER ) 

APPELLANTS 

RESPONDENTS 

(Appeal from a Decree of H.M. Supreme Court of 
Kenya at Nairobi (Mr. Justice Miles) dated 17th 
February, 1958 in 

Civil Case No.808 of 1957 
Between 

1. Leonard Quentin Tyrrell) 
Cooper 

2. Rosetta Coopor 
And 

1. Gerald Nevill ) 
2. Kenya European Hospital) Association ) 

Plaintiffs 

Defendants) 

10 

20 

JUDGMENT OF BRIGGS V-P. 
This is an appeal from a decree of the Supreme 

Court of Kenya awarding damages and costs to the 
respondents. 

The first appellant is a surgeon in private ' ' 
practice in Nairobi, and the second appellant is 30 
the authority controlling the Nairobi European 
Hospital, The respondents are husband and wife. 
On or about 1st February 1956 - the exact date is, 
curiously enough, left uncertain on the evidence -
the first appellant operated on the second respon-
dent at the hospital. The respondents alleged that 
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10 

the first appellant and the hospital staff were 
negligent in the conduct of the operation and sued 
for damages, the first respondent for loss of con-
sortium, the second for pain and suffering-and per-
sonal injury, and both for special damages, interest 
and costs. Both appellants denied negligence. 
The Supreme Court after a trial lasting eight days 
awarded-to the first respondent Sh.1,000/- general 
damages, to the second respondent Sh.50,000/- gen-
eral damages, and to both respondents Sh.5,189.80 
special damages and costs as against both appellants, 
The appellants contend on appeal to us that neither 
the surgeon nor the hospital staff should have been 
found negligent, and that the general damages awar-
ded to tho second respondent were excessive. 
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I take the following statement of the facts 
from the judgment of the learned trial Judge:-

"The operation was for a rupture of an ec-
topic tubal pregnancy. 

20 The caso for the plaintiffs is, that at the 
oxjeration, an abdominal swab, or pack, was left 
in the body of the second plaintiff. It is 
alleged that the first defendant was negligent 
in failing to count the number of swabs used 
in the operation and to check that the correct 
number of swabs was removed, that he failed to 
instruct the nurse, or nurses, to keep a check 
on the number of swabs used and/or failed per-
sonally to counter-check the number of swabs 

30 and failed to observe that one swab remained 
in the body of the second plaintiff. The par-
ticulars of negligence against the servants 
of the second defendant allege failure to 
count the number of swabs used for the opera-
tion and failure-to detect that one swab had 
not beon removed, in accordance with instruc-
tions given by the first defendant, or in 
accordance with the usual practice. 

The defence, on behalf of both defendants, 
40 is first a denial that any pack was left in at 

the operation performed by Mr. Nevill, and 
secondly a denial of negligence on the part of 
any of the defendants." 

-x * * * * 
"On the 24th January, 1955 (Mrs. Cooper) was 

operated on by Mr. P.G, Preston, at the Princess 
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Elizabeth Hospital, Nairobi, for the removal 
of an obstruction in her fallopian tubes, 
which were blocked. The blocked parts were 
removed in that operation and the patent 
parts of the tubes re-implanted in the uterus, 
That operation was successful. Mrs. Cooper 
experienced no ill effect from the operation 
and her general health was satisfactory. 

On the 1st February, 1956, the operation 
with which we are concerned in this case, was 
performed by Mr. Nevill, the-first defendant, 
at the New European Hospital, for a rupture 
of. an ectopic tubal pregnancy. What took 
place at this operation will have to be con-
sidered in detail hereafter. 

10 

Mrs. Cooper-says that about a week after 
this operation, while she was still in hos-
pital, she had an attack of vomiting. This 
may, perhaps, just have been the normal after-
math of a serious abdominal operation, On the 20 
night of 23rd April, however, Mrs. Cooper was 
taken ill at a dinner party. She complained 
of a pressure on the right side of her back 
and a feeling of nausea, which continued for 
some hours, and on the following day she went 
to see hor doctor - Doctor Thompson - to whom 
she complained of vomiting and abdominal pain 
throughout the previous night. This he thought 
was due to adhesions. She was admitted to the 
Maia Carberry Nursing Home in May having had 30 
a recurrence. According to Dr. Thompson,•she 
was free of symptoms after some two hours, and 
a clinical examination failed to reveal the 
cause. After her discharge from the Nursing 
Home, she was seen on a number of occasions 
by Dr. Thompson because she was complaining 
of occasional abdominal pains, which Dr. 
Thompson attributed to adhesions. These 
pains, however, gradually became aggravated 
and there was frequent vomiting; as a result 40 
of v;hich Dr. Thompson admitted her to the New 
European Hospital for observation, on or about 
the 28th October, 1956. An X-ray photograph 
taken on admission revealed no evidence of an 
obstruction, but on the following day a fur-
ther X-ray did show that there was an intes-
tinal obstruction. It was accordingly decided 
that an operation was necessary and this was 
performed by Mr. W.C. Barber. 
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30 

Mr. Barber states that on opening tho 
abdomen he found an abscess cavity, centrally 
situated, surrounded by ahderent coils of 
small intestine. There was a localised peri-
tonitis. Mr. Barber tried to determine which 
portion of the adherent intestine might be 
causing the obstruction. He first endeavoured 
to separate one or two adherent loops. On do-
ing this, however, it was found that a leakage 
of bowel content resulted and since there were 
many adherent areas, Mr. Barber decided to re-
move the whole of the affected portion of the 
bowel. He accordingly cut away about seven 
feet of intestine. The whole length is some 
twenty-two feet. Mr. Barber says that he felt 
something in the piece of bowel he removed. 
The dissected portion was taken into the sluice 
in a bowl by Sister Banks, who was the 'dirty 
nurso' at the operation. Dr. Thompson then 
took the piece of intestine out of the bowl, 
placod it on the end of the tap and turned on 
the tap. There then emerged from the piece of 
bowel a piece of turkish'towelling, measuring 
some 9" x 7" or 10" x 8", with hemmed edges. 
This was immediately recognised by all persons 
present as an abdominal pack. Mr. Barber 
thereupon decided to ring up Mr. Nevill on the 
telephone and he informed Mr. Nevill of his 
discovery. Mr. Barber told Mr. Nevill that if 
he were asked what was the cause of the trouble 
he would havo to inform Mr. Cooper, and Mr. 
Nevill very properly agreed that this was the 
correct procedure." 
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40 

It was common ground that the abdominal pack 
must have been left in Mrs. Cooper's body either at 
the first operation (Mr. Preston's) or at the 
second (Mr. Nevill's), and the first question for 
decision was at which operation this occurred. The 
learned trial Judge found on a balance of probabi-
lities that it occurred at the second. This finding 
was attacked as contrary to the weight of the evi-
dence and on the ground of certain alleged mis-
directions . 

Mr. Salter for the appellants first pointed 
out that the areas involved in the two operations 
were similar. One or two packs of the type found 
had boen used on the first operation. He submitted 
that it was established beyond doubt that all packs 
used in the European Hospital had a loop of tape 
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some six inches long sewn firmly to one corner of 
the hem, while at the Princess Elizabeth Hospital 
the similar packs did not always have - such tapes, 
and were at least offered to surgeons, even if not 
used, without tapes. This I accept. Mr. Salter 
submitted that, if the pack found had no tape on 
it, there was a strong presumption that it came 
from the first operation. Since there was evidence 
that it was unlikely that a tape could become de-
tached from the pack in the body, and occular exam- 10 
ination of specimen packs exhibited confirms that 
the tapes are strongly sewn on, I accept this also. 
If the pack in question had been produced, had had 
no tape, and had appeared never to have had a tape, 
I think it would have been very difficult for the 
plaintiffs to succeed on this issue; but for rea-
sons which will appear the pack was not produced. 
Mr. Salter then submitted that on the evidence the 
learned Judge should have found as a fact that there 
was no tape on the pack. During and after the third 20 
operation the pack was seen by Mr. Barber, Br. 
Thompson, Sister Molloy, Sister King and Sister 
Banks. All of them gave evidence. The pack was 
washed out and spread out, and was handled in such 
a way that one would have expected every one of 
them to be able to see whether it had a tape or not. 
None of them said that it had a ta.pe, but only 
Sister King said categorically that it had not; and 
she said so only in cross-examination, having said 
in chief that she did not think there was a tape on 30 
it. Such evidence must be examined closely. The 
passages are -

"Mr. Barber, I think, held it up. I can't 
remember distinctly how he was holding it. I 
think it was a piece of towelling, it was 
discoloured. I should say it was roughly the 
same size as this (Exhibit l). I don't think 
there was a tape on it. I did not look 
closely at it. I should think I would have 
seen a tape had there been one. I was very 
interested in it. It is very unusual. I can 
remember somebody saying it did not have a 
tape but I can't remember who." 

40 

and in cross-examination 
"The remark about there being no tape was 

made when I saw it in the sluice. At that 
time I don't remember apart from Mr. Barber 
who else was there. I don't remember whether 
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it was a male or female who said this. I 
remember noticing that it did not have a tape. 
I don't remember when I noticod it. I might 
have said myself that it had no tape or it 
may have been someone else but I don't remem-
ber. Nobody to my knowledge went to have a 
more caroful look at it as a result of that 
remark. At that time the pack was opened out. 
Thinking back I have no doubt at its having 

10 a tape or not. It did not have a tape." 
I think that on this the learned Judge'was entitled 
to find as in effect ho must have done, that Sister 
King's memory could not be relied upon. Mr. Salter 
submitted that it was for the plaintiffs to prove 
that there was a tape on the pack. The pack itself 
was thrown away some time after the operation, and 
Mr. Barber says that this was done with his permis-
sion. He might well have failed to appreciate how 
important it might be; but, looking back now, it 

20 is obvious that the absence of a tape, if there was 
none, would have been significant, and it is pos-
sible, though by no means certain, that scientific 
evidence might have proved that the material of the 
pack was of a kind used in one hospital and not 
used in the other. It is therefore most unfortunate 
that the pack was not forthcoming. Mr. Salter did 
not suggest that wo should draw a presumption on 
the footing that material evidence had been with-
held, but he argued that, in permitting destruction 

30 of the pack, Mr. Barber was acting as agent, not of 
the hospital authorities, but of Mrs. Cooper and 
that she must bear the consequences of its dis-
appearance, in the sense that a finding of "no tape" 
should have been made on the oral evidence. I doubt 
if Mr. Barber, in giving the instructions, acted as 
Mrs. Cooper's agent, and I think no presumption 
arises from the loss of the pack. Sister Molloy and 
Sister Banks both said that, if there had been a 
tape, they thought they would have noticed it. The 

40 learned Judge said, 

"In my opinion, it would be unsafe for me 
to base my decision in this case upon the 
presence or absence of a tape on the pack 
which was found on the 29th October, 1956. 
The evidence is inconclusive one way or the 
other." 

Mr. Salter submitted that this was passing over the 
matter too lightly, and that the weight of the 
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evidence was against there being a tape. I think 
this overlooks one psychological factor which has 
some weight. The three hospital sisters were all 
aware of Mrs. Cooper's medical history. They were 
all aware that in the European Hospital tapes were 
regularly, and should have been invariably, used. 
They must have been aware that the matter might•bo 
a very serious one•for their hospital. If they, 
or any one of them, had actually observed that 
this pack had no tape, I should have expected an 10 
immediate reaction of "Well, that lets us out" and 
I should have expected that the pack would have 
been preserved with the utmost care, even in face 
of a doctor's order that it be thrown away. I do 
not think it can properly be said that the learned 
Judge ought to have found that there was no tape. 

There was evidence that after the second oper-
ation the unusual precaution was taken of making a 
second count of swabs after the patient left the 
theatre, and this evidence was accepted as true. 20 
Mr. Salter submitted that the learned Judge had not 
sufficiently considered this in relation to the 
first issue. I do not think-it is established 
that the point was overlooked, and it is not in my 
view of much weight. The suggestion is that where 
two counts are made there is much less likelihood 
that a mistake will occur than when only the one 
routine count is made, as on the first operation. 
But this ignores two considerations, first that an 
error in the count at the second operation may have 30 
occurred when checking in the swabs, rather than 
when checking out, and secondly, that the unusually 
large number of packs used at the second operation 
increased the difficulty of this count and the 
chance of error. Mr. Preston's was a "cold" opera-
tion, and he used only one or two restraining packs 
and no mopping packs at all. 

The other main body of evidence directed to 
showing that the pack was left in the body at the 
second operation was a considerable amount of expert 40 
evidence that a pack so left in would usually cause 
symptoms within a few weeks, or at most a few months, 
after the operation. This weighed substantially with 
the learned trial Judge. Mr. Salter submitted, how-
ever, that although this evidence pointed prima 
facie to the second operation there were also in the 
evidence contra-indications which the learned Judge 
had disregarded. There is noted in the books at 
least one case where an interval of a year elapsed 
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bo Core symptoms wore observed. There was evidence 
that it is possible for a foreign body to bocomo 
cncystod,-or insulated from the general physical 
processes, and that if-this occurs it may remain 
indefinitely quiescent, so that its presence may 
never be suspected at all. There was also evidence 
that a foreign body so encysted might bo disturbed 
by a subsequent operation, and might thereafter 
cause symptoms at about the period which would he 

10 normal if it had been left in the body at the later 
operation. In this caso the pack was actually in-
side the small intestine, having apparently pene-
trated it initially by causing an ulcer. Mr.Salter 
submitted that all the known facts in this caso 
wore consistent with the pack having been left in 
the body at the first operation, having become en-
oystod, and having been disturbed by the second 
operation. I think this is perfectly correct. But 
there is no evidence that encystment of a foreign 

20 body such as a pack is of frequent occurrence. It 
is the exceptional, not the ordinary case. 

Mr. Salter's final point on this aspect of 
the case was that the learned Judgo had misdirected 
himself in attaching considerable importance, as I 
think he undoubtedly did, to the admitted fact that 
after the third operation Mr. Barber and Br.Thompson 
both assumed at once that the pack had been left in 
at the second operation, not at the first. Mr. 
Salter submitted that the correct approach to this 

30 evidenco was that Mr. Barber and Br. Thompson were 
both entitled to give their opinions on this point 
as experts, but that those opinions were no more 
likely to be correct than the opinions of any other 
experts. Br. Thompson is a general practitioner, 
though no doubt of great experience and ability as 
such. He had never before seen a case of a pack 
left in a patient. To that extent, his opinion was 
perhaps of less value than those of the other ex-
perts. It may also be said that both Mr. Barber 

40 and Br. Thompson apparently formed their opinions 
on the spot and without long or detailed considera-
tion, and this may take something from the weight 
of those opinions. However that may be, I think 
Mr. Salter's criticism of the learned Judge's ap-
proach to this ovidence is justified. 

But, as regards the other matters raised on 
this issue, I see no ground for any suggestion that 
the learned Judge either overlooked any of the rele-
vant evidence or misdirected himself as to its effect. 
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He rightly held that the onus lay on the plaintiffs, 
and that the question must bo decided on the balance 
of probabilities. He found on this basis that the 
pack was left in Mrs. Cooper's body at the time of 
the second operation. I think it is open to us to 
review that finding as res integra and I approach 
the issue on that basis; but I respectfully agree 
with the learned trial Judge that the weight of the 
evidence was sufficient to justify a finding for the 
plaintiffs. 10 

It need hardly be said that both Mr. Preston 
and Mr. Nevill gave the most positive evidence of 
their belief that the pack had not been left in the 
body at the respective operations conducted by them. 
I find that on this point Mr. Nevill's evidence is 
shown to have been erroneous; but the learned trial 
Judge did not regard this as throwing the slightest 
doubt on Mr. Nevill's general voracity, and I agree 
with him. Except that on the point already mentioned 
he considered Sister King's evidence to be unreli- 20 
able, he accepted all the witnesses as witnesses of 
truth, and in my opinion he was right in doing so. 
The conviction shared by Mr. Nevill and the wit-
nesses who assisted him, that no mistake had been 
made in the course of the second operation, explains 
one aspect of the evidence in this case which is 
perhaps unusual in swab cases, though a somewhat 
similar point arose in van Wyk v. Lewis, (1924)A.D. 
438. In the ordinary swab ease there is no dis-
agreement that the swab was left in the body at the 30 
one operation to be considered, and the only ques-
tions in issue are how and why, and whether with 
or without negligence. In such a case the closest 
attention must be given by the defendants and their 
advisers to the question how the acknowledged mis-
take arose. In this case that question never at-
tained the same prominence, for the defendants' 
primary case was that there had been no mistake at 
all. In that respect they were wrong, and it may 
be said at once that no explanation of the presence 40 
of the pack was ever expressly put forward by then. 
The Court below was left, and we are left, to con-
sider the possibilities which arise from the circum-
stances and to draw such inferences from the evi-
donoe as seem appropriate. 

In the Court below there was considerable 
argument on the lav; applicable to this oase, and in 
particular on the question whether the doctrine of 
res ipsa•loquitur governed it. I think it is 
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unnecessary for its to consider this question. Be-
fore us counsel wore in agreement that, since all 
the evidence on "both sides was on record, the ques-
tions for decision wore simply whether, having re-
gard to their proved acts or omissions and to the 
circumstances of the operation, (a) the surgeon, or 
(b) member of the hospital staff, or both, had 
failed in their respective duties to the patient. 
It should bo noted at this point that the assistant 
surgeon to Mr. Nevill on this operation was a Dr. 
Wilson, who was at that time employed by Mr.Nevill 
as an assistant in his practice. Dr. V/ilson is a 
well-qualified and sufficiently experienced surgeon, 
but naturally not of the same professional attain-
ments as Mr. Nevill. It was at all times common 
ground that, if Dr. V/ilson was negligent in the 
conduct of the operation, Mr. Nevill was responsible 
for that ncgligonce on the principle respondeat 
superior. Accordingly question (a) above concerns 
the acts and omissions of Dr. Wilson as well as 
those of Mr. Nevill himself. Dr. V/ilson was in the 
United Kingdom at the time of the trial, and did 
not give evidence. 
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It may also be convenient to remark at this 
stage that ovidence was given at the trial of the 
high professional skill of Mr. Nevill as a surgeon. 
In a sense thi3 may have been unnecessary. His pro-
fessional qualifications speak for themselves. But 
Mrs. Kean for the respondents submitted that such 
evidence was inadmissible, on the authority of Bevan 

3C on Negligence, 4th ed. 1359, where it is stated, 
"Where a specific act of malpractice is 

charged, evidence that the defendant is of 
skill in his profession is not admissible. 
The very nature of the charge involves either 
that he is of skill generally and did not 
exercise it, or that he represented himself 
to have skill which he did not in fact pos-
sess;- the inquiry is not what he was able 
to do, but what he actually did. There is a 

40 difference where the quality of the act is in 
dispute. Is the specific thing charged mal-
practice or not? Then evidence of skill is 
admissible.' If the thing done is admittedly 
malpractice, then whether the practitioner 
had the skill which, by hypothesis, he did 
not use is irrelevant. Prima facie to sew 
up a sponge or an instrument in a patient 
after an operation is negligence. Very great 
care and method is to be observed in accounting 
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for all appliances used, -and this in propor-
tion to the easiness with which they may es-
cape observation; but even hore the fact that 
some needle or portion of an instrument has 
been left in a wound is not conclusive, but 
the conclusion from the fact must be deter-
mined by a jury on a view of the whole cir-
cumstances ." 

I think it will appear later that on this authority 
the evidence was admissible, since the Supreme 10 
Court was obliged to consider the quality of some 
of Mr. Nevill's acts and the validity of some of 
his decisions; but in any event it was admissible 
on the first issue, as showing that it was improb-
able that Mr. Nevill left a swab in the body. In 
my view nothing turns on this. No-one ever ques-
tioned Mr. Nevill's general skill in his profession. 

As regards the origin and' circumstances of the 
second operation, I quote again from the judgment 
of the learned trial Judge: 20 

"Mrs. Cooper was brought into hospital some-
where in the neighbourhood of 2.30 p.m. She 
was first seen by Dr. lawes who subsequently 
acted as anaesthetist at 2.40 p.m. She had 
apparently been removed to hospital as a re-
sult of prompt action by Dr. Gillespie and 
Dr. Spiers. Her condition on arrival was des-
cribed by Dr. Lawes-as follows: 'She was 
comatose, pulseless, no blood pressure, grey-
faced, cold and sweating with sighing respira- 30 
tions and the heart could just be heard with 
a stethescope. In short, she was dying.' Dr. 
Lawes took a sample of blood from a vein in 
the neck, which was the only one available to 
a needle, and this was sent to the laboratory 
for grouping and cross-matching with blood in 
the blood bank. He states that while blood 
was being made available, she was given three 
pints of saline and artificial plasma under 
pressure in ten minutes. Altogether six and 40 
a half pints of blood were given to her be-
tween then and 4 p.m. At 3 p.m. he tele-
phoned Mr. Nevill, who arrived shortly after, 
and at this time she was, to use Dr. Lawes's 
words, 'just becoming an operable risk.' Mr. 
Nevill describes her condition at that tine 
as 'not in any sense of the word a reasonable 
operative risk.' Nevertheless, it was de-
cided that an immediate operation was essen-
tial, as being the only hope of stopping the 50 
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haemorrhage which was killing her. At first 
it was doubtful whether it would oven be safe 
to move the patient into the theatre, but 
ultimately it was decided to do so. It was, 
however, considered unsafe to move her on to 
the operating table and the operation had to 
bo conductor, upon the patient in her bed. The 
disadvantages•of this are obvious. The two 
main ones arc, of course, that first a bod 
is considerably wider than the operating 
table, with the result that the surgeon can-
not get as near to a patient as is desirable 
and secondly that he has to operate through-
out in a stooping position, with consequent 
additional fatigue. In normal operations, 
what is known as a 'Mayo' tray containing 
instruments, is placed over the patient's 
legs on the operating table, but this .is in-
practicable if the patient is in bed. This 
was the first occasion on which Mr. Nevill 
had ever operated on a patient in bed." 
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* * * * 

"To corno to the operation itself. Mr. Nevill 
states that' he made a mid-line incision. There 
was no bleeding from the body, which is an 
unusual circumstance and indicates the gravity 
of the patient's condition. He found the ab-
dominal cavity full of blood. He placed his 
left hand deep into the pelvis and felt that 
the left cornu of the uterus had burst. He 
siozed this, which was the bleeding point, 
betvjeen his finger and thumb and held firm to 
control any further bleeding. The bleeding 
was in fact stopped within 30 seconds or so. 
Blood was then sucked out of the abdominal 
cavity and placed in specially prepared bot-
tles for the purpose of auto-transfusion. 
There were some four pints removed in this 
manner. There was still a quantity of blood 
in the abdomen. This was removed by Mr.Nevill 
and Dr. Wilson by using mopping packs. Two or 
thx-ee pints were removed in this manner. No 
clips were attached to these mopping packs. 
Mr. Nevill is positive that he did not release 
hold of any mopping pack that he used because 
this would not be the normal practice. He could 
not-say for certain whether Dr. Wilson did or 
not, but it would be most unlikely. The suc-
king and mopping took from five to eight 
minutes. For the purpose of sewing the 
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ruptured part•and in order to keep the field 
of work cloar,-Mr. Nevill packed hack all 
the intestines, using two or throe packs. 
Those had "both tapes and Spencer-Wells for-
ceps. He then sewed up tho uterus. The 
foetus which had caused the trouble was lying 
free in the pelvic cavity and beside it was 
the plastic tube which had boon used in order 
to achieve pregnancy. He then checked the 
pelvic cavity to see that it was free of blood 10 
clots, and that there was no other bleeding 
from the ruptured uterus, which he had stitched. 
The stage was then reached when he was ready 
to terminate the operation. Mr. Nevill's ac-
count of his actions at this point is as fol-
lows: 

' having checked that the pelvic cavity was 
clear I then removed the packing swabs 
which I had placed, checking carefully 
the area involved; removing at the same 20 
time considerable quantities of blood 
which were oozing down from the upper 
parts of the abdomen. When I was sure 
that I had done all that I should do in 
the way of routine checking for packs, I 
was ready to sew up. While I was checking 
inside, the theatre staff, under the direc-
tion of Sister Banks, was checking up out-
side, in our routine procedure to ensure 
against leaving swabs behind. I was assured 30 
that tho swab count was correct. Sister 
Banks assured me. You do not sew up until 
you are informed and until you iiavo com-
pleted your own check.' 

later on ho says: 
' My absolute routine is that I personally 
always remove the packs which I know that 
I have placed in the abdomen or my assis-
tant had placed. It is my responsibility. 
I then always check the operation area to 40 
make sure that no others or any foreign 
body could have crept in by mistake.' 

Neither Mr. Nevill or Sister Banks•could re-
member in this particular1 instance, whether 
she volunteered the information that the count 
was correct or whether Mr. Nevill first asked 
the question. Both she and Mr. Nevill are 
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positive that tho information was giv< 
h?.ve no hesitation in accopting that. 
crot • examination 

and I 
In 

Nevill said that he knew 
where ho had put the two or throe packs. They 
were in an obvious position and ho would not 
have noodod any guidance to them. Ho went 
on to say: 

' In this ease I did carry out my routine 
chock. We did the best we could.1 

He then explained his routine check in rather 
more detail. 
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1 I remove the swabs that I know I have 
placed in position. I•look to see, within 
reasonable limitations, that there are no 
other swabs visible. I feel with my hand 
into all reasonable places where a swab 
might hide itself and when I am absolutely 
contain that there are no foreign bodies 
inside the abdomen, I question Sister about 

20 her swab count, unless it may be that she • 
has already told me her swabs are correct, 
in which case the question would be super-
fluous . ' 

Mr. Nevill also said: 
1 I never do rely completely on the theatre 
Sister's count. I rely on my own count in 
addition.1 

He emphasised that he carried out this routine 
in the present case and that this was not a 

30 case which made the routine check impossible. 
The operation was completely successful, in 

that it achieved its object, which was the 
saving of Mrs. Cooper's life. The operation 
wo.s described by Mr. Barber as 'extremely dif-
ficult and hazardous', and there is no doubt 
that it was a brilliant piece of surgery. Mr. 
Nevill himself described it as an-'incredibly 
difficult and delicate operation1, and he said 
that he had never been faced with conditions 

40 such as those in his whole career. Mr. Braim-
bridge said that he had only known one other 
case of an operation of this kind being per-
formed on a patient in the condition of Mrs. 
Cooper. Mr. Nevill readily agreed that the 
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credit was not his alone, but was to be shared 
by all who had dealt with Mrs. Cooper, both 
before and after her admission to hospital on 
the day in question." 

To complete the picture, I think two more passages 
from Mr. Nevill's evidence should bo quoted. 

"I could not give an assessment about each 
individual pack which I used for mopping. It 
would have been far too dangerous to check 
on that point. All packs at the European 
Hospital havo tapes - we don't have to con-
sider that point. It was inserted to get the 
blood out of the cavity as quickly as possible. 
I don't think there was anything to prevent me 
seeing a pack used for mopping if it had re-
mained there. There was still blood seeping 
about. I usod my hand to go into corners I 
could not see within reason. We were moving 
very swiftly all the time because our patient 
had been critically ill to start with and all 
operative manipulations, however gentle, cause 
an increase in surgical shock, and we knew 
that the slightest increase in this shock 
would kill our patient." 

10 

20 

"The state of the patient before I start to 
sew up is something which concerns me. Whether 
Mrs. Cooper was better at the start of the 
sewing up would be something that concerned me 
at the time. My note reads 'patient much bet-
ter at this time.' No mention of 'coming 
round.' I specifically remember carrying out 
the steps that I have detailed in this parti-
cular operation. You have an incision of 
about 5 inches in the lower part of the abdomen. 
We had packed away the intestines as described 
upwards. I checked the pelvic cavity very 
carefully. There one is coming out of the 
abdomen and checking up as it were 'behind 
you.1 The pelvis is cloar. You then remove 
the restraining packs and as you do that you 
observe that there is nothing behind in the 
same area and as you do it the intestines 
tend to fall downwards. Wo had by this time 
removed all the packs that we were aware of 
but there was a certain amount of blood coming 
down from the corners and very gently one col-
lects that blood under vision. 'Then we thought 
all was safe I felt around in that same area, 

30 

40 



149. 

i.e. the area immediately adjacent to the 
wound in which I had been working and slightly 
out into either flank. The 'fooling around' 
would not take more than 30 seconds. 'Y/e' 
moons 'I'." 
Against that background, I would set the words 

of Scott L.J. in Mahon v. Osborne, (1939) 1 A.E.R. 
535, at p.548, in describing "the well-established 
legal measure of a professional nan's duty." He 

10 said, 
"If ho professes on art, ho must be reason-

ably skilled in it. There is no doubt that 
the defendant surgeon was that. He must also 
bo careful, but the standard of care which the 
lav; requires is not insurance against acciden-
tal slips. It is such a degree of care as a 
normally skilful member of the profession may 
reasonably be expected to exercise in the 
actual circumstances of the case in question. 

20 It is not every slip or mistake which imports 
negligence, and, in applying the duty of care 
to the case of a surgeon, it is peculiarly 
necessary to have regard to the different 
kinds of circumstances that may present them-
selves for urgent attention. I will mention 
a few, applicable to a major abdominal opera-
tion, (i) the multiform difficulties presented 
by the particular circumstances of the opera-
tion, (ii) the condition of the patient, and 

30 the whole set of problems arising out of the 
risks to which he is being exposed, (iii) the 
difficulty of the surgeon's choice between 
risks, (iv) the paramount need of his dis-
cretion being unfettered, if he thinks it 
right, to take one risk to avoid a greater, 
(v) at the penultimate stage (swab removal), 
he may, particularly where the patient has 
been taking the anaesthetic badly, and is 
suffering from shock, be so anxious on sur-

40 gical grounds to bring-the operation to an end 
as rapidly as possible, that, in the exercise 
of his discretion, perhaps unconsciously exer-
cised, as soon as he has completed the removal 
of all swabs of which he is at that moment 
aware, he asks the sister for.the count, and 
forthwith starts to close the wound." 
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The facts in Mahon v. Osborne were in many ways 
similar to the facts in this case, and much of the 
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expert evidence was on similar lines. I have paid 
due heed to the warnings given by Scott and Mac-
Kinnon L.JJ. against treating decisions on fact 
as if they laid down rules of law; but the evidence 
in this case makes it clear that each of the five 
special circumstances to which Scott L.J. referred 
was of material importance in this case. It seems 
to have been Scrutton L.J. (in James v Dunlop, 
(1931) British Medical Journal, Apr. 25,) who first-
remarked •that it is the duty of the surgeon to put 
in swabs, and it is his duty to take them out. This 
was repeated in Mahon v Osborne by Mackinnon L.J., 
at p.556, and by Goddard L.J., as he then was, at 
p.559, but it must be remembered in what sense the 
words were used. MacKinnon L.J. amplifies the 
matter by pointing out (p.554) that in James v 
Dunlop the plaintiff had led expert evidence that 
the surgeon's search'for swabs had been inadequate 
in the circumstances, and that the dictum of 
Scrutton L.J. laid down no rule of law, but re-
ferred only to the facts of the case before him. 
MacKinnon L.J. further held that it was a misdirec-
tion to treat the dictum as a rule of law in the 
absence of such expert evidence. Having described 
the evidence, the•difficulties encountered, and the 
precautions taken, he said, at p.557, 

10 

20 

"... it might well be thought that there was 
no evidence upon which a reasonable jury 
could find that the defendant had been negli-
gent ." 30 

But that was subject to the further question whether 
there should have been, and had not been, a search 
by touch, on which he considered there had been 
evidence to go to a jury. Goddard L.J. in his 
minority judgment said, (p.561) 

"There can be no possible question but that 
neither swabs nor instruments are ordinarily 
left in the patient's body,-and no one would 
venture to say it is proper, though in par-
ticular circumstances it may be excusable, 40 
so to leave them. If, therefore, a swab is 
left in the patient's body, it seems to me 
clear that the surgeon is called upon for an 
explanation. That is, he is called upon to 
show, not necessarily why he missed it, but 
that he exercised due care to prevent its 
being left there." 
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Scott L.J. Any 
have arisen 
3. I treat 
representing 

Both those approaches soem to no entirely consonant 
as regards the law, with that of 
difficulty or disagreement appears to 
only from different views of the facts, 
the passage cited from Goddard L.J. as 
the law applicable to this case, and I emphasize 
the point that it is not always neccssary to show 
why or how the swab was missed. As regards the need 
for such scarch as is in the circumstances proper, 

10 I think it is unnecessary to consider whether com-
mon sense has brought into being a new rule of law, 
or whether, if expert evidence were absent, the 
Court would bo entitled to form its own view. Here 
the attention of the parties was fully applied to 
the question, the exports gave detailed evidence on 
it, and I think-it will appear that, as regards the 
first appellant, the really essential question is 
simply this. On the evidence and in the circum-
stances was the search for packs made by the first 

20 appellant a proper search or not? Obviously Mr. 
Nevill cannot show satisfactorily how or why the 
pack was inserted and not removed. If he had had 
any direct knowledge on the point it would have 
boon removed. The question here is whether it was 
excusable both to be ignorant of its presence and 
to fail to find and remove it. 
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I think a good deal may turn in this case on 
the question whether the pack was a restraining 
pack or a mopping pack. The learned trial Judge 

30 dealt with the matter as follows, 
"There is no direct evidence as to whether 

the pack in question, which was found in the 
body, was one of the two or three 'restraining' 
packs, or whether it was one of those used for 
mopping. The total number of packs used in 
the whole operation was stated to be in the 
region of twenty. This is a large number, but 
was necessitated by the very great amount of 
blood which had to be removed from the abdomi-

40 nal cavity. To my mind the probabilities are 
that it was one of the restraining packs, be-
cause it is not the normal, and in fact would 
be improper procedure, for a surgeon to release 
hold of a mopping pack. Mr. Nevill is con-
fident that he did no such thing. 'In the mop-
ping he was assisted by Br. Wilson, and al-
though' he kept a close observation on Dr. 
Wilson, he is unable to say with any certainty, 
whether Dr. Wilson left a mopping pack in the 
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body. If he did so, that would undoubtedly 
be negligence and it is conceded that Mr. 
Nevill is responsible for negligence, if 
there was any, on the part of Dr. Wilson. If 
it was a restraining pack, it must follow 
that the forceps somehow or other became 
detached without anybody noticing it." 

Speculation is often unprofitable, but I think it 
is useful in this case to consider some of the ways 
whether more or less improbable, in which the mis-
take may have arisen. There a,re in this case two 
matters to be explained, each unusual and except-
ional in itself, the surgeon's failure to find the 
pack, and the nursing sister's wrong count. The 
odds against each of these occurrences at any oper-
ation are long, and the odds against both occurring 
at the same operation through unrelated causes must 
be mathematically so great that one is tempted to 
seek an explanation on the basis of a single cause 
producing both results. If such an explanation can 
be found, the hypothesis would appear to be inher-
ently more probable than any based on unrelated 
causes. The learned Judge's view of the probabili-
ties seems to me on this basis to be open to criti-

three restraining packs were 
small number normal in any 

ordinary abdominal case, and they were used with 
forceps attached. It must be assumed, on the 
learned Judge's hypothesis, (a) that a forceps 
fell off unnoticed, (b) that Mr. Nevill miscounted 
the two or three restraining packs, which it was 
second nature to him to memorize, and which he said 
were all in clear view and (c) that the miscount by 
the sister was due to some other unrelated cause. 
On the other hand about twenty mopping packs were 
used, some of them perhaps more than once, in an 
abdomen full of blood. No Spencer-Wells clips 
were used on the mopping packs, and this was proved 
to be good surgical practice, although some sur-
geons use them for some operations. The surgeon 
did not keep a mental count of the mopping packs, 

it was proved that it was not his duty to do so 
mopping was done at the highest possible speed, 
it was essential to clear the operational area 
sew up the ruptured uterus as soon as possible, 
learned Judge states that it would have been 

cism; Only two or 
used, that is, the 

and 
The 
for 
and 
The 
improper procedure for 
release his hold on a 

Mr. 
moppm& and Mr. Braimbridge's evidence 

not have been a rule of univer 

Nevill or 
pack. 

Br. Wilson to 
Mr. Ormerod's 

shows that this may 
"sral -application; but 
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10 

that may for tho moment "be disregarded. The learned 
Judge concludes that; if a mopping pack was left in 
tho body, Mr. Nevill, either personally or vicari-
ously through Nr. V/ilson, must have boon negligent 
by releasing his hold on it. I think this was on 
incorrcct assumption on which the whole case against 
the first appelimit may "burn, but before explaining 
my reasons for this I find it necessary to diverge 
to another subject. 

The system in force at the European Hospital 
for chocking and counting packs was described by 
the learned Judge in these terms, 
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"The packs are made in the work-room at the 
hospital and tapes sewn on there. Soiled 
packs are washed in the hospital premises. 
After washing, boiling and drying, they are 
put into a special drawer to await the sister, 
or whoever is going to check them into the 
store cupboard. This is done by one of the 

20 theatre staff. Before being put into the 
cupboard, packs are tested to make sure that 
they each have a tape and that this is secure-
ly sewn on. The packs are then rolled into 
bundles of three and placed in a storage 
cupboard. At a later stage they are taken 
out of the cupboard and put into drums for the 
purpose of sterilisation. At this stage they 
are again checked to make sure that there is 
a tape on each of them and that they are in 

30 bundles of three. Before an operation the 
sister who is laying out the trolley takes 
what is known as a laparotomy bundle out of 
the drum with forceps and lays it on a trolley. 
The bundle consists of four dressing towels 
for towelling up the patient and a large ab--
dominal sheet which goes on after the towels, 
two bundles each of twelve gauze swabs, one 
roll of three packs and one roll of wool for-
dressing. The sister who is taking the case, 

40 first of all breaks one bundle of twelve swabs 
and checks to see if the number is correct, 
separating each one. She places six on the 
top of the trolley. If it•is anticipated that 
packs are going to be used, the bundle of three 
is taken from the bottom of the trolley (the 
trolley consists of two shelves) and placed on 
the top. The pack is then unrolled and the 
packs are checked one by one. If it is known 
at this stage that more than one bundle of 
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packs is likely to "be used, extra "bundles are 
taken out of another drum, labelled 'abdominal 
packs.1 When the trolley is being laid, they 
would be put at the side of the laparotomy 
bundle, but when the sister who is taking the 
case is scrubbed up she puts the extra packs 
on the bottom of the trolley and only leaves 
on the top those actually in use. If the 
three packs in use are exhausted, another 
bundle is taken from the bottom of the trolley 10 
and checked in the same way. At no stage in 
the operation is more than one bundle of three 
packs on the top of the trolley. If a pack is 
going to he used for 'restraining purposes', 
the Spencer-Wells clip may be attached, either 
by the surgeon or the theatre sister in charge. 
When the surgeon has finished using a 'rest-
raining pack' he hands it hack to the sister 
who takes off the forcep and either puts the 
pack into the bowl of hot saline solution which 20 
is by her or discards it. If she discards it, 
she puts it into what is known as a 'run-
around bowl' on the floor. When the surgeon 
has finished with a mopping pack, he may dis-
card it by putting it into another 'run-around 
bowl1 by his feet. The sister may then either 
put it into the saline bowl, or discard it. 
When packs are discarded they are picked up by 
the 'dirty nurse' with forceps as they are 
discarded and placed on a mackintosh sheet on 30 
the floor, where the sister in charge can keep 
an eye on them. The packs are invariably laid 
out in threes, side by side. When there are 
three packs on the sheet, the 'dirty nurse' 
reports 'I have three packs sister' and the 
sister looks over and checks. "When the packs 
have been checked, the 'dirty nurse' puts them 
together in threes on the mackintosh. If more 
than three are used the 'dirty nurse' counts 
them in threes, leaving the three in the bun- 40 
die. The second bundle gees at the side of 
the first and so on. At the end of the opera-
tion the sister in charge looks over to the 
mackintosh and asks the 'dirty nurse' how many 
swabs she has. On receiving the number, the 
sister checks herself and checks with the clean 
swabs on her trolley, to make sure that the 
total amounts to twelve. Similarly in the case 
of the packs, the 'dirty nurse' tells her how 
many completed bundles of three she has and 50 
gives the number of any odd ones over. This 
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is then checked "by the sister with those on 
tho trolley. Prior to sewing up the wound, 
tho surgeon either asks the sister in charge 
whether tho swabs, including of course, the 
packs, arc corroet, or it may "bo that the 
siotor herself volunteers the information. 
Ho doos not sew up until he has received an 
assurance that the count is correct. None 
of the experienced surgeons who gave evidence 

10 in this case had any fault to find with this 
system and I see no reason to dissent from 
this view. It is not in fact the case for 
the plaintiffs that the system was an improper 
one. All such systems, however, are in the 
last resort dependent on the human element 
and as such liable to human fallibility." 

I respectfully agree, and in this case the count 
of packs was wrong. No small gauze swabs were used, 
and nothing turns on them. In considering how the 

20 count came to bo wrong, a number of points must be 
borne in mind, (i) the packs and swabs removed and 
those still held unused at the end of the operation 
wore countod twice - an exceptional precaution -
and were twice found to agree with the sister's 
count of packs and swabs made available for the 
operation; (ii) the second count was made at 
leisure after the patient had been removed from 
the theatre, and after a warning by Sister Banks 
to the "dirty nurse" to be careful; (iii) only a 

30 single count was made by Sister Banks of the "in-
coming" packs; (iv) that count was in part made 
in the pressure of the operation in progress; 
(v) it was made piecemeal, since not enough packs 
were on the trolley at the beginning of the opera-
tion and more bundles were brought in and counted 
from time to time; (On these points see the evi-
dence of Sister Banks) (vi) these packs were made 
of Turkish towelling, were used and laundered re-
peatedly, and presumably would grow thin with long 

4-0 use. Prom this I think it may be said that it is 
more likely that the incoming count was wrong than 
the outgoing, and that the only probable source of 
error disclosed on the evidence is that one of the 
bundles contained not three, but four, packs. The 
nursing staff witnesses were cross-examined as to 
this possibility. They were only able to say that 
they had not known such a thing to happen, but if 
it did it would be a very serious matter. It would 
of course reflect on those who prepared the packs 

50 and put thorn in the sterilizing drum, as well as 
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on the theatre sister, if she failed to discover 
the mistake. It appears to me that two old and 
thin packs, with the tape of one between them, 
might easily feel and look like one fairly new and 
thick one, and might be miscounted in haste. This 
possibility was considered in Mahon v Osborne (pp. 
547, 556 and 565 )} but there were there special reasons, not applicable to this case, for rejecting 
it, in particular the way the pack was folded when 
found. I think the learned Judges may have been 10 
impressed, as I am, by the point of a single pos-
sible cause leading to both errors. If the sister 
counting in the packs could bo misled into thinking 
two packs were one, it seems not improbable that 
she might hand those two together to the surgeon 
(or his assistant) and that he might be similarly 
misled. If the surgeon had removed the two packs 
separately, there would later have been a surplus 
pack on counting out, which might have caused much 
embarrassment to the nursing staff. But that did 20 
not occur. 

I return to the question whether a mopping 
pack or a restraining pack was left in the body. 
The incision was about five inches long. During 
the initial removal of blood from the abdomen Mr. 
Nevill's left hand was occupying part of the in-
cision and holding the ruptured portion of the 
uterus. Pumping out and later mopping had to be 
done through the remainder. It would seem probable 
that mopping packs would be pushed in and pulled 30 
out again when soaked with-blood and would not be 
in clear view all the time, except, perhaps, as to 
the part held. If two packs were handed together 
to Mr. Nevill or Dr. Wilson, and if a corner of one 
as well as its tape was folded inwards, and if the 
surgeon's grip was only 011 the corner of one, it 
would seem possible that the other might detach 
itself unseen as it became wet in the body and 
might never be seen again. The amount of blood in 
the abdomen was a quite unusual circumstance. If 40 
what I have outlined in fact occurred, the lost 
pack, once out of sight, may have been remote from 
the immediate area of the operation. The process 
of packing back the organs to expose .the uterus for 
sewing, the natural movement of the intestines, and 
the seepage of blood from the upper part of the 
body, which could not be controlled by tilting be-
cause the patient was on a bed, may all have served 
to render it invisible and beyond the range of the 
tactile search which Mr. Nevill made. I appreciate 50 
that much of this is speculation; but on the evi-
dence I think it could have occurred and, if the 
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inherent improbability of the coincidence of in-
dependent causes is borne in mind, I think it is 
a more probable, or less improbable, hypothesis 
than that put forward by the learned Judge, or any 
other I can think of. The learned Judge did not 
consider this possibility at all. If he had, he 
might not have found, as he did, that, if this was 
a mopping pack, negligence by one of the surgeons 
was established beyond doubt. I give ray own opi-
nion at once that, if tho two mi-stakes arose in the 
way I have indicated, it is doubtful whether Sister 
Banks personally was guilty of negligence, and the 
surgeon who roccived and lost tho pack, whichever 
of them it was, was definitely not guilty of negli-
gence in losing control of it. I defer considera-
tion of the scarch. 
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In dealing with the final stages of the opera-
tion the learned Judge said, 

"It is, of coursc, not an uncommon occurrence 
20 in abdominal operations that the movement of 

the intestines is so great that this may cause 
the pack to be displaced, but Mr. Nevill says 
that the movement in this case was compara-
tively slight and was not more than an inch or 
so. Furthermore, he was particularly insistent 
that he remembered where he had put the packs 
and that they were in an obvious position. It 
is not suggested that the final stages of the 
operation had to be accelerated in this case 

30 because tho patient was-showing signs of col-
lapse. On the contrary, the evidence•indicates 
that towards the end of the operation, which 
lasted about half an hour, the condition of the 
patient had very slightly improved, no doubt 
owing to the stopping of the bleeding and the 
transfusion. There was, therefore, no need 
for special haste at this stage apart from the 
general overriding necessity for speed in an 
operation of this kind. It cannot be said 

40 either that Mr. Nevill did not have the assis-
tance of an ample staff. It seems to me that 
all the conditions which might reasonably 
excuse a surgeon overlooking a pack were ex-
cluded by Mr. Nevill in his evidence. Making 
all allowances for the very great difficulties 
of this particular operation, and I have en-
deavoured not to minimise them, I cannot see 
that there was any causal connection between 
these difficulties and Mr. Nevill's failure to 

50 remove the packs. He said over and over again 
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in his ovidonce that he carried out his nor-
mal routine. In my opinion, the evidence 
points to the fact that Mr. Nevill did not 
make such a search as was reasonable and 
necessary and that he 

practice in 
He had only 
they had not 
position in 

in the circumstances, 
failed to carry out his routine 
this case with his usual care.' 
two or three packs to remember, 
moved appreciably free from the 
which they were originally placed, and they 10 
were after all, not inconspicuous objects. 
It seems to me' that Mr. Nevill is in fact 
convicted of negligence out of his own mouth." 

With respect, I think this passage i?idicates a mis-
understanding of the true effect of the evidence. 
The first two sentences refer, of course, to the 
circumstances relative to the restraining packs, 
and in that sense are correct. As to the need for 
speed in terminating the operation, I think the 
learned Judge has failed to appreciate several 20 
material points. He speaks of the "general over-
riding necessity for speed in an operation of this 
kind", but suggests that the patient was so far 
recovered that a search for packs could have been 
made at some length and more or less at leisure. 
The evidence is entirely to the contrary. The 
plaintiffs' expert, Mr. Barber, said, 

"I keep the mental count in my mind and I 
expect to find the same number when I remove 
them at the end of the operation. I think if 30 
one knows in a big operation that one has 
used a number of packs I do subconsciously 
feel round the area in which I have been wor-
king but I can't say that this is a conscious 
search. I do this because I might be afraid 
I might leave one behind. This feeling takes 
a second or two. I do not make a general 
search of the whole abdomen for packs. It 
might take half a minute to do that. Packs 
always move in the c ourse of an operation 40 
further from the original manipulations and 
partly as the result of movements of the in-
testine brought about by the patient's brea-
thing. This happens in every case. The count 
carried out by the sister is fallible. This 
is well known to surgeons. A Spencer-Wells 
has disappeared inside the abdominal cavity 
too. I think that every surgeon knows that 
there have been cases on record of an instru-
ment being left in the abdominal cavity. I 50 
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can't rocall a clip being detached from the 
tape.11 

"I don't think that if the surgeon and staff 
followed tho system I have described they 
could do any more." 

But the most important evidence was, I think, that 
of Mr. Ormerod, whoso status as an independent ex-
pert is beyond argument. I must quoto him at some 
length. Ho said, 

"I have had a description of the operation 
by Mr. Novill given to me. I am familiar with 
Mrs. Cooper's condition at the time. I don't 
think it exists oxcept as an emergency opera-
tion. As a surgeon I would describe it as an 
operation of extreme difficulty. I would say 
it is one of the most difficult emergencies 
of surgery. The patient is quite often in a 
moribund condition and literally loses a very 
high fraction of her total blood volume." 

* * * 

"Tho nursing staff if they carried out their 
part of the routine check of the swabs and re-
ported to the surgeon that the check was cor-
rect and the surgeon had made a rapid examina-
tion of the site in which he had been working 
and in-which he knew he had deliberately placed 
a swab, I would say that under those conditions 
the surgeon could not be held responsible for 
any degree of carelessness." 

I note the word "rapid". Again, 
"This operation is one which requires a high 

degree of combination of dexterity and speed. 
With a moribund patient the life of the patient 
depends on those qualities in the surgeon. If 
the patient was 'much better' before the ab-
domen was closed,. I would say that that in-
dicated that the surgeon had in fact achieved 
the object ho set out to achieve. He had 
succeeded in stopping the source of bleeding 
but that would not give the surgeon any right 
to take any liberties which might extend the 
time of the operation because such appearances 
of improvement are often only temporary ap-
pearnaces, i.e. having known the condition of 
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the patient a few minutes before the improve-
ment, no surgeon of experience would trade on 
that improvement. Definitely he would not be 
justified in slowing the operation up. Speed 
is of paramount importance. I think in the 
hands of an inexperienced and slow surgeon 
such a patient might die on the table." 

* * * * * 

"He would make an inspection by eye and he 
would feel with one hand the area in which he 
had been working. Under ordinary cold con-
ditions it would be possible to make a search 
which would be thorough. I would say that it 
would take the best part of a minute if the 
area of operation is easily visible. In emer-
gency conditions there would be a very con-
siderable difference. I would expect an or-
dinary careful surgeon in those particular 
conditions and under the conditions of this 
operation where the abdomen has recently been 
full of blood and doubtless is still obscured 
by blood clots which have a habit of reappear-
ing right up to the last minute, I would ex-
pect him to feel in the position where he 
thought or remembered he had put a pack. I 
would then expect him to turn to the sister 
in charge and ask her if she was satisfied. 
I think he would always ask. If she volun-
teered the information that would render the 
question unnecessary. I would then expect him 
to close the abdomen as rapidly as possible. 
I think Mr. Nevill went as far as he possibly 
could." 

* * * 

"I think you have to take into account the 
whole context. You are working under condi-
tions of stress. You are very much in the 
position of a captain at sea in a storm. Your 
routine tends to be a bit displaced. I did 
not say it would not be negligence on the part 
of the surgeon if a swab were overlooked in 
the body of Mrs. Cooper. I said it might not. 
It is possible that in attempting to get a 
clear view of the area he would pack a swab 
down and forget where he put it under those 
conditions of stress. He might even fail to 
remember that he had put it there. That would 
be a packing swab. I think he would only be 
excused under conditions of extreme stress in 
failing to remember that he had in fact put it 
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there. I can conccive another sot of circum-
stances. I can imagine that a swab might be 
placed in a ccrtain position and during the 
manipulations which are necessary in this par-
ticular operation that swab could be displaced 
and it could bocome surrounded by coils of the 
gut. That would be any form of swab or pack. 
While ho is mopping a mop would not and should 
not leave the surgeon's hand. I can conceive 
that suddenly he might decide to use it in 
another form, for packing. In a woman who is 
so dangerously ill it would be very meddlesome 
surgery to rummage among those coils because 
that would be attended by further shock. There 
is nothing else." 

* 

"You cannot conceive the difficulties in an 
operation of this kind in which the surgeon has 
one objective and to insist on the routine 
'cold' checks being carried out and to insist 
that no accident shall take place under those 
conditions is a tremendous lot to ask. If a 
pack was left in in the circumstances described 
by Mr. Nevill it was an accident." 

* * * * * 
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"Having an assistant surgeon might in some 
respects lower the time factor of such an oper-
ation. It might enable the surgeon to proceed 
more quickly although the responsibility for 
carrying out all procedures is still the res-
ponsibility of the surgeon doing the operation; 
with the aid of a good assistant he might be 
able to go a little bit faster. It would 
never be a question of his going a little bit 
'easier.' His responsibility remains the same. 
When I refer to a swab being 'displaced' it 
would be I think one placed as a pack. The 
time of doing a check will depend on the ef-
ficient way the swabs have been laid out on 
the floor. I think the check might be more 
difficult in an emergency particularly of this 
nature than in a cold operation. I think there 
is more chance of accidental error on the part 
of the theatre sister rather than the surgeon 
or a combination of both. Under the conditions 
of this operation the atmosphere for the theatre 
sister and her difficulties are parallel with 
the surgeon's difficulties. She is in a haras-
sed position. She is very often harassed by 
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the surgeon himself. There would be a temp-
tation for the surgeon to perform his check 
more quickly for the sake of the patient in 
an emergency. Under these circumstances if 
a surgeon has a mental note of the number and 
is assured by the 
count is correct, 
quired to do more 
be at rest, 
instance it-

theatre sister 
I would.s 
than that 

I would 
compared 

ordinary practice of 
in addition he makes 
something with his hand he 
could do. I do not think 

that the 
?„y he is not re-

His mind would 
say in this particular 
very favourably with the 
a. careful surgeon. If 
a visual check and does 

has done all he 
, reasonably careful 

surgeon could have done anything else. In the 
difficult circumstances he achieved consider-
able success." 

10 

Er. Braimbridge1s and Mr. Nevill's evidence is to 
the same effect. I think the learned Judge has 
failed entirely to appreciate that the patient was 
in a condition of collapse, not merely towards the 
end, but during the whole of the operation. So 

a sudden need arising to get her to bed 
she had never been well enough to be moved 
bed. The improvement in her condition was 

simply this, that she was no longer actually dying, 
but might possibly survive. The need for "special 
haste" was present throughout and never diminished. 

far from 
quickly, 
from her 

As regards the extent of Mr. Nevill's search 
for packs, his own evidence has already been quoted, 
and was accepted as true. The essential points, as 
I see them are four. First, he made both a visual 
and a tactile search.• Secondly, it would have been 
bad surgical practice, and probably fatal to the 
patient, to carry out a general search of the ab-
dominal cavity. Thirdly, he made and relied on 
his own mental count of restraining packs, and he 
was under no duty to memorize the mopping packs. 
Fourthly, he relied on the Sister's count, and the 
sister in question was one of whose efficiency he 
had good reason- to be confident. See Mahon v. 
Osborne at p.553. The learned Judge's references 
to "normal routine" ignore that normal routine is 
something which must depend 011 the circumstances 
of the individual operation. What might be normal 
in one case might be dangerous and wrong in another. 
I think also that the learned Judge has assumed 
wrongly that a "normal routine search" must in this 
case inevitably have resulted in the discovery of 

20 

30 

40 
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all restraining packs at least. I am not satis-
fied on the expert evidence that that is correct. 
In any event, it overlooks the point that a mopping 
pack might have been lost without negligcnce, and 
might not have been recovered by the most extensive 
search which could properly be made. 

I think the last sentence of the passage quoted 
show3 that the learned Judge, though he set out 
correctly the law applicable to the case, did not 

10 in the event apply that law to the evidence. The 
"conditions which night reasonably excuse a surgeon 
overlooking a pack" were not excluded, but were 
shown by the expert evidence to be present and num-
erous. To say that there was "no causal connection" 
between the difficulties of the operation and the 
failure to remove the pack is, I think, to disregard 
the essential point that it is not always, if ever, 
necessary for the surgeon to show how he came to 
overlook the pack: it is enough if he shows that 

20 he took all proper precautions, and used due care 
and attention to prevent a pack being overlooked. 
In that sense, and having regard to the expert and 
factual evidence, I am clearly of opinion that, so 
far from being convicted out of his own mouth, Mr. 
Nevill gave a proper account-of the circumstances 
and conduct of the operation, which was accepted 
as true, and which showed that the mishap was not 
due to negligcnce on his part. 

The learned Judge cites a passage from the 
30 judgment of Scrutton L.J. in Dunlop v James and says 

that the observations there made "are all particu-
larly relevant to tho present case." This may be 
partly true, but it ignores the special circum-
stances which arose in the present case and did not 
arise in that one. The Court of Appeal in Dunlop 
v James was concerned only with the question whether 
a jury's verdict was supportable. Even so, the al-
most contemptuous dismissal of the theory of a 
"perambulating swab" seems strange in view of the 

40 expert evidence in every swab case which I have 
read. 

The learned Judge summarizes his findings on 
the issue of negligence in the surgeons in these 
words, 
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"To sum up, if the pack was a mopping pack 
it was negligence on the part of the person 
who used it, whether it was Mr. Nevill or Dr, 
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Wilson, to lose control of it and leave it in 
the body. If it was a restraining pack, 
having regard to the small number used and 
their obvious position, the absence of move-
ment and the lack of any particular need for 
haste at the conclusion of the operation im-
mediately prior to sewing up, it was negli-
gence on the part of Mr. Nevill, not to remove 
it, the responsibility being, as he admits, 
upon him to do so, and there "being no justi-
fication for departure from the normal routine, 
In my view the whole circumstances of this 
operation are more consistent with negligence 
on the part of Mr, Nevill than the absence of 
it." 

10 

I would summarize my own views by saying that, if 
this was a mopping pack, its loss may have occurred 
without negligence and is not proved to have been 
due to negligence. If it was a restraining pack, 
it may still in the special circumstances of this 20 
operation have been lost without raising any strong 
inference of negligence, and the evidence shows that 
Mr. Nevill used due care and attention to avoid the 
mistake which occurred, and in particular that his 
search was as extensive as was proper in the cir-
cumstances. It is somewhat ironic to consider that 
Mrs. Cooper was not-a patient of Mr. Nevill before 
the emergency arose, that if he had declined to 
operate, or delayed doing so in the hope that.con-
ditions might become easier, she would probably 30 
have died, and that if she had died before, during 
or shortly after the operation no word of criticism 
of his conduct would ever have been uttered. I would 
allow the appeal by the first appellant, set aside 
the judgment and decree as against him, and order 
that the respondents do pay his costs in both Courts. 
1 would certify for costs of two counsel, one of• 
them being Queen's Counsel, in the Supreme Court, 
and for costs of two counsel in this Court. Any 
costs paid by him under the decree set aside should 40 
be refunded. 

I turn now to the case of the second appellants. 
For the reasons given, I respectfully agree with the 
learned Judge's finding that the count of the sister 
in charge, or of the "dirty nurse", or of both, was 
wrong, and that this is a circumstance which calls 
for explanation on the part of the second appellants. 
It is, I think, possible that Sister Banks was not 
personally negligent, if an extra pack was included 
in one bundle and not observed. The "dirty nurse" 50 
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was certainly not negligent, if that occurred. But 
if it did, the second appellants are in no better 
position, for both the person who made up the 
bundle and the person who checked it into the 
sterilizing drum were under a duty to see that' an 
extra pack was not so included in a bundle, and 
there were no circumstances of stress affecting 
them which might have excused error. For the neg-
ligence of both those persons the second appellants 
would be liable. 
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If, however, the theatre sister or the "dirty 
nurse" was alone responsible for the error, it is 
necessary to consider whether the error-could in 
the circumstances be excused. This was, of course, 
an emergency operation in the technical sense, but 
such operations are of daily occurrence in a hos-
pital, and theatre routine is designed to deal with 
them as calmly and as efficiently as with a "cold" 
operation. There was an ample and fully-trained 

20 staff. The particular problems which face a surgeon 
in an exceptionally difficult and critical operation 
like this do not necessarily in any way disturb the 
ordinary routine of the theatre staff. It is true 
that Mr. Ormerod says that in an operation such as 
this the sister may be "harassed", the count is 
more difficult, and error may be excused. But Sis-
ter Banks did not suggest that she was in any way 
unable to carry out her usual routine, except as 
regards the inconvenience of not having the Mayo 

30 tray over the bed and differences in wrapping up 
the patient. She had to work fast, but there is 
nothing unusual in this. All the evidence is that 
during the operation she was working calmly and 
apparently efficiently. The count is a purely 
mechanical matter. It calls for no special skill 
or judgment, and where a large number of packs is 
used it must always be done with exceptional care 
to ensure accuracy. I am far from saying that a 
miscount could never occur without negligence. It 

40 might be explainable in all sorts of special ways. 
But no such explanation•at all is put forward here 
or, so far as I can see, can be suggested on the 
evidence. I respectfully agree with the conclusion 
of the learned trial Judge that the miscount can 
only be attributed to negligence on the part of one 
or more of the staff for whose acts and omissions 
the second appellants are responsible in law. They 
have not, in my opinion, satisfied the test applied 
by Singleton L.J.,-in Southport Corporation v Esso 

50 Petroleum Co. Ltd., (1954) 2 A.E.R. 561, at p7569, 
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where he said, "If the defendants have produced a 
reasonable explanation, equally consistent with 
negligence or no negligence, the burden of proving 
that the defendants were negligent and that their 
negligence caused the damage rests upon the plain-
tiff." On the further point whether the negli-
gence caused the damage in this case, there was 
evidence that, if the sister's count had been right 
and she had said that one pack was missing, a fur-
ther search would have been made by Mr. Nevill and 
continued until the missing pack was found. It is 
true that in that case the patient might have died, 
but in spite of this I think the miscount was in 
law a cause of the damage. 

The next question is that of the general dam-
ages awarded to Mrs. Cooper. The amount, as I have 
stated, was Sh.50,000/-. The learned trial Judge 
dealt with the matter thus, 

10 

"So far as the second plaintiff is concerned, 
as a result of the leaving in of this pack she 20 
has undoubtedly gone through considerable pain 
and suffering. I have already mentioned the 
abdominal pains and vomiting which led up to 
her admission to the Maia Carberry Nursing 
Home. After her discharge the pains and vomi-
ting became recurrent and the period up to her 
admission to hospital in October, 1956, was 
described by her as 'a nightmare.' She mentions 
one occasion after her admission to hospital 
and before the operation, when the pain be- 30 
came so intense that she got out of bed, put 
on her coat and shoes and decided to run out 
and throw herself under a car. She was, in 
fact, stopped by a nurse in time. Apart from 
the physical suffering, there is always in the 
case of abdominal'pains, a considerable psy-
chological effect, particularly when the cause 
of the pain has not been diagnosed. Mrs.Cooper 
says that after a time she came to suspect • 
that she had a cancer. After the operation, 40 
when in hospital, she underwent a good deal 
of physical discomfort from a machine which 
was used for the purpose of draining the wound. 
She also suffered from a fistula. This closed 
itself before she left hospital but she had a 
discharging sinus from where the drainage tube 
had been left in. This eventually cleared up. 

The effects of the removal of seven feet of 
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intestine, approximately one-third of the 
whole, arc not easy to assess. Mr. Barber 
expressed the view that she has probably still 
got sufficient for normal digestive purposes, 
but that the amount lost is about the border-
line and that tho loss of any further portion 
might have some effect on her digestive abi-
lity. Ho said that a patient might manage with 
half the normal length of small intestine, with 
little or no digestive disturbance, but that 
there would be the probability of more frequent 
bowel action than normally. Mrs. Cooper said 
that she still experienced periodical abdominal 
pains and this has been confirmed by Dr. Thomp-
son. He says than an X-ray of the stomach 
and intestines after the operation was satis-
factory and that these pains are probably due 
to adhesions and that they might continue for 
the rest of her life. 
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20 

30 

There was some discussion during the course 
of the case as to whether Mrs. Cooper's child-
bearing capacity had been affected as the re-
sult of the leaving in of this pack. Dr. 
Thompson said that it would be impossible to 
determine whether Mrs. Cooper could now have a 
child without an examination under anaesthetic 
and he is of the opinion, having regard to all 
the operations which she had undergone, that 
this would be inadvisable. He added, however, 
that he would have advised her not to attempt 
to have a child, even before this last opera-
tion. 'I think, therefore, that any question 
of Mrs. Cooper's prospects as a mother must 
be left out of account in assessing the dam-
ages." 

It may thus be said that the only proved permanent 
injury which can be said to have resulted from the 
second or third operation, or from both of them, is 
occasional pains caused by adhesions, and there is 

40 no reason to think that these are severe. It was 
not suggested before us that Mrs. Cooper's inability 
safely to bear a child was in any way attributable 
to the matters in issue in this suit. As regards 
the removal of seven feet of the smaller intestine, 
there was some slight difference of expert opinion. 
Mr. Barber thought she could compensate satisfac-
torily with the remaining two-thirds, but that if 
she had to have any more removed she might have 
digestive trouble. Dr. Thompson said she had re-

50 covered from the third operation, but had some 
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residual symptoms of occasional loose stools and 
abdominal pains. The latter probably result from 
adhesions and the former do not appear to be of 
any gravity. Mr. Braimbridge was clearly of op-
inion that the loss of seven feet of intestine was 
quite immaterial to health. Mrs. Kean argued that 
Mrs. Cooper had been obliged to alter her diet and 
her way of life. The learned Judge does not appear 
to have been impressed by this, since he does not 
mention it. I am not impressed either. I think 
that any potential consequences of the possible re-
moval of more of the intestine are an altogether 
too remote head of damage, and I regard the actual 
consequences to future health of the removal of 
seven feet as comparatively trivial. The damages 
fell to be assessed, as I see the matter, on the 
basis of past pain and suffering, with some allow-
ance for future pain from adhesions and for incon-
venience from loose stools. 

10 

On this basis, I find myself obliged to regard 20 
the assessment of the learned trial Judge as a 
"wholly erroneous estimate", and one so dispropor-
tionate to the general level of damages awarded in 
such cases that it ought to be reduced. See 
Rushton v National Coal Board, (1952) 1 Q.B. 495. 
While admittedly no arithmetical calculation is 
possible, I think that for the pain and suffering 
and the minor permanent consequences involved a 
sum of Sh.15,000/- would be sufficient compensation. 
I would only add that the case of Urry v Bierer, 30 
The Times, 16th March, 1955, where £3,000 general 
damages were given, stands on a wholly different 
footing from this. In that case a third operation 
had yet-to be -undergone, and the inability to have 
a child, though psychological in origin, was a 
direct result of the operation in question. 

I would allow the appeal of thu second appel-
lants so far only as it relates to the general 
damages awarded to Mrs. Cooper. I would vary the 
judgment and decree of the Supreme Court byreduc- 40 
lag those damages from Sh.50,000/- to Sh.15,000/-. 

The question of cost is somewhat complicated 
owing to the different positions of the two plain-
Jiff s/respondents and the two defendants/appeHants. 
In the Supreme Court the plaintiffs must be deemed, 
in the absence of any agreement made prior to the 
commencement of the action, to be liable each for 
one-half of the amount of their own advocate's 
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coots. Thoir party and party costs have apparent-
ly boon taxed at Sh.10,817/- as against both the 
defendants, who were separately represented. Those 
costs must be retaxed, first, in order to excise 
any amounts separately charged in respect of mat-
ters relating only to the first defendant, e.g. 
letters to and attendances on his advocates, and 
secondly, in order to allow the taxing-offioer to 
review the exercise of his discretion as to any 

10 discretionary o.r variable items, e.g. the instruc-
tions fee, having regard to the much reduced sum 
recovered. Those costs will be paid by the second 
appellants. For purposes of set-off they will be 
payable as to one-half to each of the plaintiffs. 
In this Court the first respondent has been succes-
sful as against the second appellants. Accordingly 
the respondents' costs must be taxed, as if they 
had both succeeded, and the second appellants must 
pay to the first respondent one-half of the amount 

20 so taxed. On the other hand the second appellants 
have succeeded as against the second respondent 
and she must pay their costs of the appeal. In their 
case I would not certify for costs of two counsel. 
If costs of leading counsel in this Court were 
shared between the appellants they must be appor-
tioned. As regards the second respondent the 
amounts due for costs in the two Courts may be set 
off against one another and against the damages 
payable to tho second respondent, i.e. the sum of 

30 Sh.15,000/- plus half the amount of the special 
damages. I would order accordingly. 

I am in full agreement with the reasoning and 
conclusions expressed in the judgment of the learned 
Vice-President and consider that there is nothing I 
can usefully add. 

It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 35 
Judgment, 
24-th November 
1958 -
continued. 

F.A. BRIGGS, 
VICE-PRESIDENT. 

JUDGMENT OF GOULD J.A. 

40 
T.J. GOULD, 
JUSTICE OF APPEAL. 

JUDGMENT OF CORRIE AG. J.A. 
I also agree. 

O.C.K. CORRIE, 
AG. JUSTICE OF APPEAL. 

NAIROBI. 
24th November, 1958. 

I certify that this is a true 
copy of the original. 
(Sgd)S. HARLAND 

REGISTRAR. 12-12-1958. 50 
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It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 36 
Order, 
24th November 
1958. 

No. 36 
O R D E R 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI 

CIVIL APPEAL NO.38 of 1958 
BETWEEN 

1. GERALD NEVILIi 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION APPELLANTS 

AND 
1. LEONARD QUENTIN TYRRELL COOPER 
2. ROSETTA COOPER RESPONDENTS (Appeal from a Decree of II.M. Supreme Court of 
Kenya at-Nairobi (Mr. Justice Miles) dated 17th 
February, 1958, in 

Civil Case N0.8O8 of 1957 
Between 

1. Leonard Quentin Tyrrell Cooper 
2. Rosetta Cooper 

and 
Plaintiffs 

1. Gerald Nevill 
2. Kenya European Hospital Association Defendants) 
In Court this 24th day of November 1958. 
Before the Honourable the Vice-President (Mr. 

Justice Briggs) 
the Honourable Mr. Justice Gould, a Justice 

of Appeal 
and the Honourable Sir Owen Corrie, Acting 
Justice of Appeal. 

O R D E R 
THIS APPEAL coming on for hearing on the 3rd, 

4th and 5th November 1958 in the presence of Olive 
Salter Esquire of Her Majesty's Counsel and A.E. 
IB-liter Esquire of Counsel for the 1st Appellant and 
the said Olive Salter Esquire and R.D. Croft Wilcock 
Require of Counsel for the 2nd Appellant and Mrs.L. 
Eean of Counsel for the 1st and 2nd Respondents when 
it was ordered that this appeal do stand for judg-
ment AND the same coming this day for judgment IT 
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IS ORDERED that the Appeal of the Pirst Appellant 
ho allowed and that the Appeal of the Second Appel-
lant "be allowed so far only as it relates to the 
general damages awarded to the Second Respondent 
the said general damages being reduced from 
Shs.50,000/- to Shs.15,000/-. 

AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the first Ap-
pellant do have his costs against both Respondents 
in this Court and in the Court below, Certified for 
two counscl in this Court and for Queen's Counsel 
and Junior Counsel in the Court below AND the Second 
Appellant do pay to the Respondents the costs in 
Court below such costs to be retaxed, and in this 
Court the Respondents will have their costs as taxed 
against tho Second Appellant save that the Second 
Appellant will only pay to the First Respondent one-
half of the amount so taxed AND the Second Appellant 
will have their costs as taxed against the Respon-
dents save that tho Second Respondent will pay such 
costs to the Second Appellant. 

Given under my hand and the Seal of the Court 
at Nairobi this 24th day of November 1958. 

F. HARLAND, 
REGISTRAR, 

ISSUED this 13th day of January 1959-

It: the Court (i) 
of Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No. 36 
Order, 
24th November 
1958 -
continued. 

No. 37 
ORDER ON APPLICATION FOR FINAL LEAVE TO APPEAL 

IN HER MAJESTY'S COURT OF APPEAL FOR EASTERN AFRICA 
AT NAIROBI. . . 

CIVIL APPLICATION NO.2 OE 1959 
(In the matter of an Intended Appeal to 

Her Majesty in Council) 
BETWEEN 

No. 37 
Order on 
Application 
for final- leave 
to appeal, 
29th September 
1959. 

ROSETTA COOPER APPLICANT 
AND 

1. GERALD NEVILL 
2. KENYA EUROPEAN HOSPITAL ASSOCIATION RESPONDENTS 

(Intended Appeal from a Judgment and Order of 
H.M. Court of Appeal for Eastern Africa at 
Nairobi dated the 24th of November, 1958, in 
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I.ii the Court 
of. Appeal for 
Eastern Africa 

No.37; 

Order on 
Application 
for final leave 
to appeal, 
29th September 
1959 -
continued. 

Civil Appeal No.38 of 1958 
Between 

Gerald Nevill 
Kenya European Hospital Association Appellants 

And 
Edward Quentin Tyrrell Cooper 
Rosetta Cooper 
In Chambers 

Respondents 
this 22nd day of September 1959. 

Before the Honourable Mr. Justice Windham, 
• a Justice of Appeal. 
UPON the application presented to this Court 10 

on the 7th day of September, 1959 by the above named 
applicant for final leave to appeal"to Her Majesty 
in Council AND UPON READING the affidavit of Michael 
Kean sworn on the 7th September, 1959 in support 
thereof AND UPON HEARING COUNSEL for the applicant 
and for the Respondents IT IS ORDERED that the 
application for final leave to appeal to Her Majesty 
in Council be and is hereby granted AND IT IS DIREC-
TED that the record including this Order, be des-
patched to England within a fortnight from today 20 
AND IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the costs of this 
application do abide the result of the appeal. 

DATED at Nairobi this 29th day of September, 
1959. 

REGISTRAR. 
Issued this 29th day of September, 1959. 
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E X H I B I T S Exhibits 

EXHIBIT HO.2 - LETTER, L.Q.T. COOPER 
TO G.E. NEVILLE 

CIVIL CASE NO.808 OP 1957 
EXHIBIT NO. 2: 

P.O. Box 6542, 
NAIROBI. 
4th December, 1956. 

Dear Mr. Neville, 
10 I am writing this personal letter to you since 

I feel that you would prefer that its contents 
should, at this stage at any rate be dealt with in 
this way. 

As you may perhaps be aware, in the months 
which followed the emergency operation which you 
performed upon my wife on 1st Eebruary of this year, 
she suffered considerable pain. She was at one 
stage'admitted to the Maia Carberry Nursing Home for 
observation and was also examined by Dr. Thompson, 

20 but without any cause of the pain being discovered. 
On the 29th October the pain became extremely 

severe. She was admitted to the New European Hos-
pital, and, after being kept under observation for 
a few days was operated on by Mr. Barber. 

I telephoned Mr. Barber after the operation and 
he asked me to oome and see him. I did so. And he 
told mo that his operation had revealed the trouble 
to be an abdominal obstruction, caused by the fact 
that a swab had been left in my wife after the last 

30 operation. Apparently he had informed you of this 
and you had agreed that I should be told. 

I would like to make it entirely clear at this 
stage that I have no wish to be vindictive over this 
or to cause you any embarrassment and that I am 
grateful to you for the otherwise successful outcome 
of your emergency operation. 

The position is, however, that as a result of 
what has happened my wife has had a great deal of 
suffering and I have been and will be put to a great 

40 deal of expense. I feel in the circumstances that 
I have no alternative but to look to you for recom-
pense . 

No. 2 
Letter - I.Q.D 
Cooper to G.E. 
Neville, 
4th Decemter 
1956. 
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Exhibit s 
No. 2 

Letter - L.Q.T. 
Cooper to G.E. 
Neville, 
4th Lecember 
1956 -
continued. 

I shall be grateful if you will let me know 
that you accept the position as I have set it out 
above and tell me in what way you prefer that I 
should deal with the matter. , I have deliberately 
not put it in-the hands of my Advocate so far, but 
am, of course, prepared to do so if. you feel you 
would rather have it dealt with formally from the 
start. 

I imagine that you are insured against occur-
rences of this nature but you will doubtless let me 
know this when you reply. 

Yours sincerely, 
Sgd. L.Q.T. Cooper. 

No. 3 
Letter - G.E. 
Neville to 
E .A.Thompson, 
17th March 
1956. 

EXHIBIT NO.3 - LETTER, G.E. NEVILLE 
TO F.A. THOMPSON 

CIVIL .CASE NO.808 OE 1957 
Exhibit No. 3: 

GERALD E. NEVILL. 
[.Ch. P.R.C.! 

P.O. Box 384, 
Nairobi, 
Kenya. 

Sirona House, 
Sadler Street, ' 
Telephone 2498. 

17th March, 1956. 
Dr. E.A. Thompson, 
Mutual Buildings, 
P.O. Box 2223, 
NAIROBI. 
Dear Dr. Thompson, 

Herewith a report on Mrs. Quentin Cooper who, 
I understand, is normally your patient. 

She was sent down on 1.2.56 by Dr.R.C.Spiers 
of Limuru, in a completely moribund condition, es-
corted by Dr. Spiers and Dr. Gillespie. 

She arrived, almost dead, pulseless, grey-blue 
in colour with a very occasional breath, having had 
a sudden onset of abdominal pain some 4 hours ear-
lier. 

She was, of course, a very obvious ectopic and 
seemed to be about to die. 
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Dr. Lawcs, luckily for everybody, was at the 
Hospital and started straight away with transfus-
ions, first with saline and immediately afterwards 
Dextrcui. By this time wo had been able to got hold 
of some Group 0 blood from the Bank and we gave her 
a total of 6vj- pints of this within an hour of her 
arriving in tho Hospital. By this time there was 
a degree of recovery of life and we got her along 
to the theatre in her own bed. 

10 There she was given the smallest general 
anaesthetic you could have imagined and we opened 
up her lower abdomen. She was still so dead that 
there was no.bleeding from the wound. 

However, tho belly cavity was absolutely full 
of blood. V/e sucked out four pints into bottles 
for autotransfusion but in fact we did not actually 
use these. We estimated that there were some two 
to three pints extra in clots piled into a dish and 
there was more inside her abdomen which we never 

20 got out; this was a pretty serious degree of ex-
sanguination. 

The cause of the whole trouble was a rupture 
of her uterus right across the top of the fundus, 
down through the left cornu and the left side of 
the uterus in a vertical manner; this split had 
been caused by a 3"a month foetus which must have 
been impregnated in the actual cornu itself. 

We removed the remains of the tube and stitched 
over the split leaving her with a relatively normal 

30 uterus as far as this side was concerned. 
The other side showed a very much forshortened 

tube in the middle of which there was a small piece 
of polythene tubing; this we discovered afterwards, 
had been inserted by Mr. P.G. Preston about a year 
previously in an effort to get her pregnant. 

The cause of all the trouble, a foetus of some 
3-g- months gestation, we found lying free complete 
in its sac low down in the Pouch of Douglas. Be-
side it was another piece of tubing some 3 inches 

40 long; this we took and put in a tin for further 
reference. 

By this time the patient was very much better 
and in fact was coming round, so we were quite 
happy about stitching up her wound, and that was 
all there was to it. 

She had a stormy passage for a few days, a 
mild degree of ileus and a mild degree of jaundice 

Exhibit s 
No. 3 

Letter - G.E. 
Neville to 
P.A.Thompson, 
17th March 
1956 -
continued. 
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Exhibit s 
No. 3 ' 

Letter - G-.E. 
Neville to 
E .A.Thompson, 
17th March 
1956 -
continued. 

showing that one of the bottles of blood had not 
agreed with her entirely. However it all eventu-
ally settled down and she was able to go home with-
in two and a half weeks. 

When I last saw her on 2.3.56 she was doing 
fine, her wound had completely healed very neatly . 
and she had no further trouble except for a small 
ulcer on her leg where something must have banged 
it in the heat of the moment. However, that" was 
almost healed and need not worry her any further. 

I have sent a copy of this report to Dr.Spiers 
and Mr. Preston has been informed so he is well 
aware of what has gone on. 

If it had not been for the speed of'action of 
Dr. Spiers and Dr. Gillespie from Limuru, Mrs. 
Cooper would not have lived to tell the tale. 

10 

Yours sincerely. 
Sgd. Gerald Nevill. 


